DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 178

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS
178

RITA TEEK

The genetic causes of early onset hearing loss in Estonian children



Department of Paediatrics, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation is accepted for commencement of the degree of Doctor of Medical Sciences on September 22, 2010 by the Council of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia.

Supervisors:	Professor Katrin Õunap, MD, PhD, Department of Paediatrics, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia	
	The Late Professor Mart Kull, MD, PhD, Department of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia (2005–2008)	
Reviewers:	Assistant Professor Gunnar Tasa, MD, PhD, Department of General and Molecular Pathology, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia	
	Assistant Professor Oivi Uibo, MD, PhD, Department of Paediatrics, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia	
Opponent:	Professor Lisbeth Tranebjærg, MD, PhD, Department of Audiology, H:S Bispebjerg Hospital, and Wilhelm Johannsen Centre of Functional Genomics Institute of Cellular and Molecular Medicine, ICMM, University of Copenhagen, The Panum Institute, Denmark	
Commencement:	November 24, 2010	

ISSN 1024–395x ISBN 978–9949–19–478–0 (trükis) ISBN 978–9949–19–479–7 (PDF)

Autoriõigus: Rita Teek, 2010

Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus www.tyk.ee Tellimuse nr. 570

To my patients and their families

CONTENTS

LIS	T OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	9
AB	BREVIATIONS OF HEARING LOSS STUDY GROUPS AND	
PA	ΓΙΕΝΤS	10
AB	BREVIATIONS	11
1. 1	INTRODUCTION	13
2 1	I ITERATURE REVIEW	15
2. 1	2.1 The enidemiology and frequency of HI	15
4	2.1. The epidemiology and nequency of The	17
4	2.2. Classification of ficaling loss	1 /
4	2.3. Hereunary impaired hearing impairment	10
	2.3.1. Rollsyndrolling hearing impairment	10
	2.5.1.1.0JD2 gene	10
	2.5.1.1.1.1.2.5 M24T mutation	19
	2.3.1.1.2. p.W1341 mutation	22
	2.3.1.1.3. Other mutations in $GJB2$ gene	23
	2.3.1.1.4. Genotype-phenotype correlations in GJB2	24
	mutations	24
	2.3.1.2. <i>GJB6</i> gene	25
	2.3.1.3. <i>SLC26A5</i> (prestin) gene	26
	2.3.1.4. <i>SLC26A4</i> (pendred) gene	26
	2.3.1.5. Mitochondrial mutations	27
	2.3.1.6. Other genes	28
	2.3.2. Syndromic hearing impairment	30
	2.3.2.1. Waardenburg syndrome (WS)	31
	2.3.2.2. Branchio-oto-renal (BOR) syndrome	31
	2.3.2.3. Stickler syndrome	32
	2.3.2.4. LEOPARD syndrome (LS)	32
	2.3.2.5. Usher syndrome (US)	33
	2.3.2.6. Pendred syndrome (PDS)	34
	2.3.2.7. Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome	34
	2.3.2.8. Alport syndrome (AS)	35
2	2.4. The identification of new rare loci of HL	35
2	2.5. Acquired HL	36
2	2.6. Newborn hearing screening	37
2	2.7. Genetic counseling of patient with HL	37
3. 4	AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY	40
4. 1	MATERIAL AND METHODS	41
4	4.1. Study subjects	41
	4.1.1. Study group of newborn children	41
	4.1.2. Study group of children with HL.	41

4.1.3. Patients with syndromic HL	42
4.2. Methods	42
4.2.1. APEX assay for SNHL	42
4.2.2. PCR analysis for c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in <i>GJB2</i>	43
423 Cytogenetic investigation	44
4 2 4 Illumina analysis	44
4.2.5. Real time PCR analysis	44
4.2.6. CMV PCR analysis	45
4.2.7. Statistical analysis	45
4.2.8. Ethical considerations	45
5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	46
5.1. <i>GJB2</i> gene	46
5.1.1. Study group of newborn children (Publication I)	46
5.1.2. Study group of children with early onset HL (Publication I).	48
5.1.5. The genotype and phenotype contration in patients with $CIP2$ goes mutations (Dublications L and V)	52
5.2 GIB3 and GIB6 game. (Publications L and V)	52
5.2. OJD5 and OJD6 genes (12S rRN4 and tRN4-Ser) (Publication V)	56
$5.5.1$ wo intochondrial genes (125 / 10^{-5} and 10^{-5} / (1 doncation $)$	57
5.5 <i>SLC2644</i> (pendred) gene (Publication V)	62
5.6. Syndromic HL (Publication V)	63
5.6.1. LEOPARD syndrome – case report (Publication IV)	64
5.7. Chrosomal rearrangements	65
5.7.1. Results of regular karyotyping (Publication V)	65
5.7.2. Results of genome array analysis	66
5.7.2.1. Case 1	67
5.7.2.2. Case 2	70
5.7.2.3. Case 3	72
5.7.2.4. Case 4 (Publication III)	73
5.8. Cytomegalovirus PCR analysis (Publication V)	73
6. CONCLUSIONS	75
7. REFERENCES	77
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	94
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	100
PUBLICATIONS	101
CURRICULUM VITAE	147
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	149

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications referred to in the text by Roman numerals (I–V), and previously unpublished data:

- I. Teek R, Kruustük K, Zordania R, Joost K, Reimand T, Möls T, Oitmaa E, Kahre T, Tõnisson N, Õunap K. Prevalence of c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in the *GJB2* gene in Estonia. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2010, 74(9); 1007–12.
- II. Teek R, Oitmaa E, Kruustük K, Zordania R, Joost K, Raukas E, Tõnisson N, Gardner P, Schrijver I, Kull M, Õunap K. Splice variant IVS2–2A>G in the *SLC26A5* (Prestin) gene in five Estonian families with hearing loss. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2009; 73(1):103–7.
- III. Puusepp H, Zilina O, Teek R, Männik K, Parkel S, Kruustük K, Kuuse K, Kurg K, Õunap K. 59 Mb microdeletion in chromosome band 17q22–q23.2 associated with tracheo-esophageal fistula and conductive hearing loss. Eur J Med Genet 2009; 52(1):71–4.
- IV. Kalev I, Muru K, Teek R, Zordania R, Reimand T, Köbas K, Õunap K. LEOPARD syndrome with recurrent PTPN11 mutation Y279C and different cutaneous manifestations: two case reports and a review of the literature. Eur J Pediatr 2010; 169(4):469–73.
- V. Teek R, Kruustük K, Zordania R, Joost K, Reimand T, Oitmaa E, Nelis M, Žilina O, Kahre T, Tõnisson N, Õunap K. Kuulmislanguse geneetilised põhjused Eesti lastel ning nendel leitud genotüübi ja fenotüübi omavaheline võrdlus. Eesti Arst 2010, accepted (in Estonian).

My contributions to the original articles are:

- Publication I: I designed the study and led the clinical investigation of the patients; I conducted the collection of the data, the analysis and interpretation of the results and wrote / co-wrote the manuscript;
- Publication II: I led the clinical investigation of patients and the clinical investigation of family members; I conducted / led the collection of the data; I conducted / led the analysis and interpretation of the results and wrote / co-wrote the manuscript;
- Publication III: I conducted the specification of the phenotype; I conducted the analysis of the causes of hearing loss of the proband; I critically reviewed the manuscript;
- Publication IV: I conducted the clinical investigation of the patient 1; I collected the samples and data; I critically reviewed the manuscript as one of the co-authors;
- Publication V: I conducted the retrospective analysis of all clinical data and the investigation of the entire study group and wrote / co-wrote the manuscript;

ABBREVIATIONS of HEARING LOSS STUDY GROUPS AND PATIENTS

(used in this cover text and not the original publications)

Group NB	Refers to the Study Group of Newborns born in Estonia in January 2005		
Group HL ^{194/08}	Refers to a Study Group of 194 children with the <i>SLC26A5</i> gene and hearing loss		
Group HL ²³³	Refers to the overall Study Group of 233 children with early onset hearing loss		
Group HL ¹¹⁵	Refers to a subset of Group HL^{233} of 115 children with <i>GJB2</i> mutations		
Group HL ⁹⁶	Refers to a subset of Group HL ²³³ of 96 children with unknown etiologies of HL chosen for DNA analysis of congenital cytomegalovirus		
Group HL ⁷³	Refers to a subset of Group HL^{233} of 73 children with c.35delG homozygosity		
Group HL ^{96/5}	Refers to a subset of Group HL ⁹⁶ of 5 children with congenital cytomegalovirus		
Group HL ⁵⁵	Refers to a subset of Group HL ²³³ of 55 children for whom chromosomal analysis was conducted		
Group HL ²⁴	Refers to a subset of Group HL ²³³ of 24 children with unknown etiology of hearing loss who did not fit to any known dysmorphic syndrome		
Group HL ⁷	Refers to a subset of Group HL ²³³ of 7 children p.M34T homozygosity		
Group HL ^s	Refers to a subset of Group HL ²³³ of 7 children with clinically confirmed syndromic HL		
Patient ^{M1}	Refers to a 10 year-old patient with the mutation m.1555A>G in the mitochondrial $I2S r-RNA$ gene		
Patient ^{M2}	Refers to a patient with the mutation 7472insC in the mitochondrial <i>tRNA-Ser</i> gene, but also carries the mutation 35delG in the <i>GJB2</i> gene		

ABBREVIATIONS

А	Adenine
ABR	Auditory brainstem response
ADNSHL	Autosomal dominant non-syndromic sensorineural hearing loss
APEX	Arrayed primer extension assay
ARNSHL	Autosomal recessive non-syndromic sensorineural hearing loss
AS	Alport syndrome
ATG	Translational starting point
BOR	Branchio-oto-renal syndrome
bp	Base pair
Ĉ	Cysteine
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
CHL	Conductive hearing loss
CI	Confidence interval
CLS	<i>Café-au-lait</i> spots
СМА	Chromosomal microarray analysis
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
СТ	Computed tomography
Ct	Cycle threshold
ĊVS	Chorionic villus sampling
dB	Decibel
DBS	Dried blood spots
DFN	DFN stands for deafness and 1 (2, 3) designates the first
	(second, third etc) X-chromosomal locus identified in human
DFNA1	DFN stands for deafness and A1 (A2, A3) designates the first
	(second, third etc) autosomal dominant locus identified in
	human
DFNB1	DFN stands for deafness and B1 (B2, B3) designates the first
	(second, third etc) autosomal recessive locus identified in
	human
DVA	Dilated vestibular aqueduct
G	Guanine
GTG	G bands by Trypsin using Giemsa
HCM	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy
HI	Hearing impairment
HIH	Hereditary impaired hearing
HL	Hearing loss
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium
Hz	Hertz
Ι	Inactivating
kb	Kilobases
kHz	Kilohertz
LS	LEOPARD syndrome
ML	Multiple lentigines

Magnetic resonance imaging
Mature ribonucleic acid
Mitochondrial desoxyribonucleic acid
Newborn hearing screening
Normal or no mutation
Non-inactivating
Otoacoustic emissions
Outer hair cells
Short arm of a chromosome
Polymerase chain reaction
Pendred syndrome
Pure tone average
Protein tyrosine phosphatase
Long arm of a chromosome
Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
Sudden infant death syndrome
Sensorineural hearing loss
Solute carrier
Single nucleotide polymorphisms
Single-stranded conformation polymorphism
Transfer ribonucleic acid
Universal newborn hearing screening program
Usher syndrome
Waardenburg syndrome
Other specified mutation in GJB2 gene
Delta

I. INTRODUCTION

Hearing loss (HL) is a sensory disability affecting millions of people worldwide, and although not life-threatening can become a major drawback in social and professional life (Kemperman *et al.*, 2002).

References to hereditary HL date from the early 17th century "The deaf and dumb ought to abstain from marriage... for the good of commonwealth, because there is evidence they beget children like themselves..." (Cranefield and Federn, 1970; Toriello et al., 2004). Autosomal recessive HL was apparently first noted in the sixteenth century by Schenck, who described multiple affected siblings with profound congenital HL who had normal parents (Toriello et al., 2004). The relationship between HL and genetics has been recognized since the beginning of the 19th century (Ruben, 1991; Toriello et al., 2004). In the second half of the 19th century. Sir William Wilde initiated systematic studies of hereditary impaired hearing (HIH). His research on congenital deafness was published in 1853 and included the observation that parental consanguinity increases recurrence risk for deafness, an insight that predated Mendel's laws of inheritance by 12 years. The research of Politzer (1882) supports Wilde's conclusions (Hone and Smith, 2001). Albrecht von Graefe in describing retinitis pigmentosa in three deaf-blind brothers (Toriello et al., 2004), was the first to note the syndrome which later became broadly known as Usher's syndrome.

During the first decades of the 20th century, numerous detailed descriptions occurred of syndromic hearing impairment (HI), a designation applied to conditions in which HL co-segregates with other physical findings, whereas nonsyndromic refers to HI in isolation (Hone and Smith, 2001). For the first half of the 20th century, geneticists argued about whether two, three, or perhaps four genes could explain the inheritance of deafness, and whether these genes were dominant or recessive (Nance, 2003). Localization and identification of genes for HIH started in the early 1990s (Tekin et al., 2001b; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). The first locus mapped was that of DFNA1 (DFNA – autosomal dominant deafness locus) in a large Costa Rican family with autosomal dominant, nonsyndromic HIH in 1992 (Leon et al., 1992; Bitner-Glindzicz, 2002; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). Astonishing progress was achieved during the last decade of the 20th century in identifying genes for deafness to the extant that any current account of this research must be regarded as a "work in progress" (Nance, 2003). Current research estimates that 1% of the 30,000–50,000 human genes are necessary for hearing, of which more than 120 independent genes have been identified as causes of HL (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005).

The early detection of hearing impaired infants and children was emphasized in the late 1960s, which resulted in the implementation of hearing screening programs in the 1970s either as universal hearing screening or as targeted groups (Parving, 2007). Early detection of HL in newborns and infants by newborn hearing screening is necessary for early treatment. Undetected bilateral HL in a child causes delay in speech and cognitive development; normal speech and language, may not develop at all (Jakubikova *et al.*, 2009). A

newborn hearing screening program started in Estonia in 2004 and by 2009 88% of all newborns were included into the program.

Up to 2005, only the prevalence of HI in Estonia was studied. Uus and Davis (2000) conducted a retrospective study of permanent childhood HI in children born between 1985 and 1990 and resident in Estonia. Uus and David find the prevalence rate of all permanent HI for the birth cohort 1985–1990 was 172 per 100,000 live births (95 per cent (confidence interval (CI) 151–194) and that of congenital impairment was 152 per 100,000 (CI 134–170). The results of this investigation were comparable to other European studies, particularly the Trent study by Parker *et al.* (2000). The prevalence of congenital HI is in Estonia higher than the average in Europe (Uus and Davis, 2000).

The present study was initiated to establish the genetic causes of early onset HL among Estonian children using new molecular testing possibilities, to study genotype and phenotype correlations of our patients, to establish the prevalence of c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in *GJB2* gene among Estonian newborn population and to characterize rare genetic syndromic HL.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. The epidemiology and frequency of HL

The global prevalence rate of children born with HL is approximately one to two per 1000 (Marazita et al., 1993; Cryns et al., 2004; Snoeckx et al., 2005; Hilgert et al., 2009b). The majority of deaf children are born to normal hearing parents (90-95%) and in most of these families there is no history of HL (Green et al., 1999; Smith and Hone, 2003; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005; Bayazit and Yilmaz, 2006). The incidence of severe to profound sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL) in young adults of 18 years is estimated to be six per 1000 (Billings and Kenna, 1999). About 4-6% of the global population is affected by HI (Estivill et al., 1998; Gardner et al., 2006) and genetic factors are likely to be important in all age groups (Bitner-Glindzicz, 2002). The prevalence of HL varies between countries and ethnic groups (Fortnum and Davis, 1997; Streppel et al., 2000; Dietz et al., 2009). Due to the high frequency and clinical impact of congenital HL, early detection has become an important public health issue (Cohn et al., 1999). Since the beginning of the 2000s, universal newborn hearing screening programs have been developed and implemented in many developed countries (Hilgert et al., 2009b). The rationale for these initiatives is based on the premise that early detection and intervention for children with HL maximizes opportunities for language and speech development, thereby facilitating the acquisition of normal social, cognitive and motor skills (Hilgert et al., 2009b).

The etiology of HL is extremely heterogeneous. Identification of the etiology of SNHL in children facilitates management and provides important prognostic information (Morzaria et al., 2004). While environmental factors such as congenital cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection, prenatal rubella infection, prematurity and meningitis are thought to be the cause of 40-50% of SNHL cases, the remainder are genetic and result from mutations involving any one of numerous loci (Marazita et al., 1993; Norris et al., 2006). The incidence of genetic HL is increasing because acquired impaired hearing from meningitis is decreasing as a consequence of improved prenatal and neonatal care, antibiotic therapy and vaccination programs (Marazita et al., 1993; Smith and Hone, 2003; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005; Yaeger et al., 2006). Hilgert et al. (2009b) estimate genetic factors cause at least two-thirds of prelingual HL cases in developed countries and that environmental factors and unidentified genetic factors cause the remaining third. The most common environmental (nongenetic) cause of HL is congenital CMV infection (Kenneson and Cannon, 2007; Dietz et al., 2009; Hilgert et al., 2009b; Ludwig and Hengel, 2009). The overall birth prevalence is $\sim 0.64\%$, but only about 10% of infected infants have non-specific symptoms at birth (Kenneson and Cannon, 2007; Hilgert et al., 2009b). Congenital CMV infection is one of the most important causes of HL in young children after genetic mutations in connexin genes (Grosse et al., 2008).

Genetic deafness is divided into syndromic and non-syndromic forms. The syndromic forms of deafness account for 30% of HL cases with genetic etiology and include several hundred deafness syndromes (Van Camp et al., 1997; Pampanos et al., 2002; Petersen and Willems, 2006; Hilgert et al., 2009b). In most cases, genetic HL is monogenic and can be inherited in various ways. Localization and identification of genes for HIH started in early 1990s, when first locus was mapped for DFNA1 (Bitner-Glindzicz, 2002). Monogenic HL is an extremely heterogeneous trait, and over 100 mapped loci and 46 causally implicated genes have been identified up to now^1 (Van Camp and Smith, 2008). Most of genes are causative in only a small percentage of patients (Hilgert et al., 2009a; Hilgert et al., 2009b). Prelingual HL is transmitted via an autosomal recessive trait (75-80%), an autosomal dominant trait (10-20%), is X-linked (1-5%), or mitochondrial (0-20%) (Tekin et al., 2001b; Petersen, 2002; Smith and Hone, 2003; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). The autosomal-recessive forms of HL are most common and usually more severe than the other forms and give rise to sensorineural deafness (Petersen and Willems, 2006). Mutations in the GJB2 gene, which have been mapped to 13g11-g12 and encode the cap junction protein connexin 26 (MIM 121011), represent a major cause of pre-lingual, non-syndromic, recessive deafness, as they are responsible for as much as 50% of such cases in many populations (Guilford *et al.*, 1994; Pampanos *et al.*, 2002; Petersen and Willems, 2006). One specific mutation, c.35delG, accounts for the vast majority of the GJB2 mutations detected in Caucasian populations and represents one of the most frequent disease-associated mutations identified so far (Petersen and Willems, 2006). Mutation p.M34T in the GJB2 gene is reported to have a high frequency in the general Caucasian population, comparable to that of c.35delG (Green et al., 1999; Roux et al., 2004; Snoeckx et al., 2005). High frequencies of GJB2 mutations other than c.35delG have been reported in other ethnic groups: the c.167delT mutation is frequent in Ashkenazi Jews (Morell et al., 1998; Green et al., 1999; Kenneson et al., 2002; Kokotas et al., 2008; Hilgert et al., 2009b), the 235delC in Japanese (Ohtsuka et al., 2003; Kokotas et al., 2008; Hilgert et al., 2009b) and p.R143W in Africans (Brobby et al., 1998) The etiology of mild, moderate, and severe, as well as unilateral HL is less well known (Nance et al., 2006).

Genetic heterogeneity underlying syndromic and non-syndromic HL greatly complicates further genetic testing and diagnosis in small families and sporadic cases of HI (Bitner-Glindzicz, 2002). Although genetic testing provides better diagnostic methods, the proportion of children with SNHL of unknown origin is still high (Dietz *et al.*, 2009).

¹ http://hereditaryhearingloss.org

2.2. Classification of hearing loss

HL can be classified according to various criteria. Primarily HL is divided into acquired impaired hearing and HIH. Most frequently HIH is classified as syndromic and non-syndromic HL (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). Syndromic HL is associated with malformations of the external ear or other organs or with medical problems involving other organ systems. Non-syndromic HL does not have any associated visible anomalies of the external ear, nor are there any related medical problems; however, non-syndromic HL can be associated with abnormalities of either or both the middle ear and inner ear (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). HIH is classified also according to transmission via an autosomal dominant, autosomal recessive, X-chromosomal recessive, or maternal trait (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). In order to differentiate between the multiple nonsyndromic deafness loci, autosomal dominant loci are designated as DFNA, autosomal recessive loci as DFNB, and X-chromosomal loci as DFN (Tekin *et al.*, 2001b).

A secondary classification system divides HL according to onset before (prelingual) or after acquisition of speech (postlingual). Most prelingual cases with HIH follow a recessive segregation, whereas most cases of postlingual HIH follow an autosomal dominant trait (Bitner-Glindzicz, 2002; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005; Petersen and Willems, 2006).

A third system classifies HL by location of defect - sensorineural, conductive, mixed HL and central audiotory dysfunction. Sensorineural HL (SNHL) results from malfunction of the inner ear structures, e.g. the cochlea (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Nearly all genes for both recessive and dominant nonsyndromic forms cause SNHL (Petersen and Willems, 2006). Conductive HL (CHL) results from the abnormalities of either or both the external ear and the ossicles of the middle ear (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Conditions associated with middle ear pathology, e.g. chronic otitis media, poor Eustachian tube function, perforated eardrum, otosclerosis, ossicular chain malformations; external ear obstructions, e.g. cerumen, tumor, foreign body, otitis externa and rare inner ear pathologies, e.g. superior canal dehiscence, enlarged vestibular aqueduct, frequently cause CHL (Kelly et al., 2008). Mixed HL is a combination of sensorineural and conductive HL. There are also many genetic syndromes associated with mixed SNHL and CHL, e.g. branchio-oto-renal syndrome (BOR), Goldenhar syndrome, Kallmann syndrome (Smith and Van Camp, 2007; Kelly et al., 2008). Central auditory dysfunction results from damage or dysfunction at the level of the eighth cranial nerve, auditory brain stem, or cerebral cortex (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

The frequency of HL is designated as low (<500 Hz), middle (501–2000 Hz) and high (>2000 Hz) (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

Hearing is measured in decibels (dB). The severity of HI is graded by the degree of HL in the better ear as mild (21–40 dB), moderate (41–70 dB), severe (71–95 dB) and profound (greater than 95 dB). Profound HI is termed as deafness. The individuals with deafness are frequently members of a Deaf community and use Sign Language. As in other cultures, members are cha-

racterized by unique social and societal attributes. They consider themselves deaf, furthermore their deafness is not considered to be either a pathology or disease to be treated or cured (Cryns *et al.*, 2004; Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

2.3. Hereditary impaired hearing

HL is an etiologically heterogeneous trait with many known genetic and environmental causes (Nance, 2003). The causes of HL are numerous and, in a particular population, the relative contribution of genetic and environmental causes may be determined by social factors such as population structure and consanguinity, infection control and immunization, and provision of neonatal medical care (Bitner-Glindzicz, 2002). HIH traditionally has been distinguished from acquired HL by history and physical examination and complemented by a variety of tests to identify specific syndromes. HIH can be distinguished from acquired HL by otologic, audiologic, and psychical examination, complemented by family history and ancillary tests like temporal bone computed tomography (CT), urinalysis, thyroid function studies, ophthalmoscopy, and electrocardiography. Syndromic HL implies the co-inheritance of abnormalities of other organ systems while non-syndromic HL segregates as the only abnormality. The majority of congenital HIH is non-syndromic (Smith and Robin, 2002). Since non-syndromic HIH is almost exclusively caused by cochlear defects, affected patients suffer from SNHL (Petersen and Willems, 2006). In most cases, HIH is monogenic. Monogenic HL is an extremely heterogenous trait, with over 100 mapped loci and 46 causally implicated genes (Van Camp and Smith, 2008; Hilgert et al., 2009b). In a majority of cases, 75-80%, prelingual HL is transmitted via an autosomal recessive trait; 10-20% via an autosomal dominant trait, 1-5% are X-linked (1-5%) and 0-20% are mitochondrial (Tekin et al., 2001b; Petersen, 2002; Smith and Hone, 2003; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005).

2.3.1. Nonsyndromic hearing impairment

2.3.1.1. GJB2 gene

Autosomal-recessive forms of HL are the most common and are usually more severe than the other forms and cause sensorineural deafness (Petersen and Willems, 2006). The most important locus for nonsyndromic, autosomal-recessive deafness (DFNB1) was originally assigned to chromosome 13q11 by linkage analysis in two large consanguineous Tunisian families with prelingual, profound deafness in 1997 (Guilford *et al.*, 1994; Petersen and Willems, 2006). Mutations in the *GJB2* gene, which had been mapped to 13q11-q12 (Mignon *et al.*, 1996), were subsequently identified in three consanguineous Pakistan families with profound deafness genetically linked to 13q11 (Kelsell *et al.*, 1997).

Mutations in the *GJB2* gene, which encode the cap junction protein connexin 26 (MIM 121011), represent a major cause of pre-lingual, non-syndromic, recessive deafness, as they are responsible for as much as 50% of such cases in many populations (Guilford *et al.*, 1994; Kenneson *et al.*, 2002; Pampanos *et al.*, 2002; Petersen and Willems, 2006; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

The *GJB2* gene has a single coding exon and the protein belongs to the family of connexins, which have been implicated in cap-junctional intercellular communication. Six connexin subunits bind together to form a hexamer (connexon) in the plasma membrane; each connexon associates with another connexon in an adjacent cell to form an intracellular channel. Multiple channels cluster in a specialized membrane region to form a gap junction (Kumar and Gilula, 1996; Petersen and Willems, 2006). Connexins are important for the recycling of potassium ions into the cochlear endolymph through the network of gap junctions. Ion homeostasis is essential for normal hearing, and mutations in several genes encoding connexins or ion channels lead to hereditary deafness. Mutations in the *GJB2* gene cause structural and functional defects in these gap junctions, leading to persistently high intracellular potassium concentration; this damages the mechanism that allows the quick response of ciliated cells to new auditory stimuli, consequently resulting in HL (Holt and Corey, 1999; Steel and Bussoli, 1999; Rabionet *et al.*, 2000a; Piatto *et al.*, 2005; Petersen and Willems, 2006).

Studies in mice with connexin ablations indicate that HI began at about the onset of inner ear function which corresponds to the 20^{th} week of gestation in humans (Pagarkar *et al.*, 2006).

According to the connexin deafness homepage, more than 100 different mutations for HL have been identified in GJB2 gene (Ballana *et al.*, 2009). Some of these mutations are very frequent, others are extremely rare. These mutations occur at different frequencies across populations (Kenneson *et al.*, 2002; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). Hilgert *et al.* (2009b) conducted an extensive literature search and estimate that over 220 mutations have been reported in GJB2 gene.

Given the high prevalence of DFNB1 deafness, molecular testing for *GJB2* mutations has become the standard of care for the diagnosis of patients with non-syndromic HI of unknown cause (del Castillo *et al.*, 2005).

Dominant mutations in *GJB2* have been reported predominantly in Caucasians and cause both autosomal dominant non-syndromic HL (ADNSHL) and syndromic HL associated with diverse skin disorders. Skin disorders are very heterogeneous and include diffuse palmoplantar keratodermahyper-keratosis, Vohwinkel syndrome and Keratitis–Ichthyosis/ Deafness syndrome (Richard *et al.*, 2002; de Zwart-Storm *et al.*, 2008). The particular phenotype appears to depend both on the type of mutation and its location (Hilgert et al., 2009a; Hilgert et al., 2009b).

2.3.1.1.1. c.35delG mutation

One specific mutation, the c.35delG mutation, accounts for the vast majority of the *GJB2* mutations detected in Caucasian populations and represents one of the

most frequent disease-associated mutations identified so far (Denoyelle *et al.*, 1997; Estivill *et al.*, 1998; Petersen and Willems, 2006). The c.35delG mutation consists of a deletion of a guanine (G) in a sequence of six Gs extending from position 30–35 leading to a frameshift and premature stop codon at nucleotide 38 (Denoyelle *et al.*, 1997; Zelante *et al.*, 1997; Petersen and Willems, 2006). A carrier frequency of the c.35delG mutation as high as 3.5-4.0% has been detected in Italian and Greek populations, implying that deafness due to homozygosity for this mutation could affect as many as one in 2500 newborns in these populations (Estivill *et al.*, 1998; Antoniadi *et al.*, 1999). The carrier frequency of the c.35delG mutation in southern Europe and in the Mediterranean region is thus higher than the carrier frequency of the major Δ F508 mutation of the *cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator* (*CFTR*) gene causing cystic fibrosis (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000; Petersen and Willems, 2006).

The prevalence of c.35delG mutation is now known to be high in the Mediterranean area. Lucotte shows in meta-analysis that of 5826 healthy subjects, the mean prevalence of c.35delG mutation is 1 in 49. The highest carrier rates were found in Napoli (1:25), Greece (1:28), Sardinia (1:29) and Corsica (1:30) (Lucotte, 2007). See Table 1 for the prevalence of c.35delG mutation in European populations.

Country	c.35delG	p.M34T
Austria (Janecke et al., 2002) (Frei et al., 2002)	1:60-1:110	_
Belgium (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:190	_
Belgium (Storm et al., 1999)	1:40	—
Bulgaria (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:157	—
Croatia (Sansovic et al., 2005)	1:68	-
Czech Republic (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:48.7	-
Denmark (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:47.5	-
Finland (Lopponen et al., 2003) (Pastinen et al., 2001)	1:43-1:63	1:26
France (Brittany) (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:96	_
France (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:200	_
France (Corsica) (Lucotte and Pinna, 2003)	1:30	_
France (Perpignan)(Mercier et al., 2005)	1:51	_
France (Montpellier) (Mercier et al., 2005)	1:65	_
France (Marseilles) (Mercier et al., 2005)	1:31	_
France (Toulon) (Mercier et al., 2005)	1:66	_
France (Grasse) (Mercier et al., 2005)	1:53	_
France (Roux et al., 2004)	1:66	1:43
Germany (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:50	_
Greece (Antoniadi et al., 1999)	1:28.2	_
Greece (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:33	_
Holland (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:44.5	_
Italy (Napoli) (Estivill et al., 1998)	1:25	_

Table 1: Carrier frequencies of c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in GJB2 gene in Europe

Country	c.35delG	p.M34T
Italy (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:32	-
Italy (Sardinia) (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:29.5	-
Italy (Genoa) (Lucotte, 2007)	1:129	-
Italy (Sicily) (Lucotte, 2007)	1:34	
Lebanon (Beirut) (Mustapha et al., 2001)	1:43	_
Malta (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:36	-
Norway (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:190	-
Portugal (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:45	-
Slovenia (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:182	_
Spain (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:40	_
Spain (Lucotte, 2007)	<1:149	_
Spain (Rabionet et al., 2000b)	1:43	_
Sweden (Hederstierna et al., 2005)	1:66	_
Turkey (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:37.5	_
Turkey (Ankara) (Tekin et al., 2001a)	1:78	_
UK and Ireland (Houseman et al., 2001)		1:25.2
United Kingdom (Gasparini et al., 2000)	1:119	_
Estonia (this study)	1:22	1:17

Research of Caucasian populations show the mutation c.35delG is responsible for an average of 70% of *GJB2* deafness alleles (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009a) and that the proportion of c.35delG among *GJB2* deafness alleles ranges from 58% to 95% (Zelante *et al.*, 1997; Denoyelle *et al.*, 1999; Janecke *et al.*, 2002; Pampanos *et al.*, 2002; Cryns *et al.*, 2004; Roux *et al.*, 2004; Kalay *et al.*, 2005; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009a) (Table 2).

Table 2: Proportion of c.35delG mutation among patients with nonsyndromic, prelingual, SNHL and *GJB2* mutations by population.

Country/ Reference	% of <i>GJB2</i> mutations among patients with HL	% of c.35delG homosygosity among <i>GJB2</i> genotypes
France (Denoyelle et al., 1999)	39.8	71.4
Italy (Murgia et al., 1999)	39.6	76.3
Italy/Spain (Estivill et al., 1998)	36.8	88.0
USA (Kelley et al., 1998)	34.5	69.8
Israel (Sobe et al., 2000)	33.3	44.1
Lebanon (Mustapha et al., 2001)	33.3	94.0
Greece (Pampanos et al., 2002)	33.3	90.1
Italy/Spain (Rabionet et al., 2000b)	31.6	82.0
Spain/Cuba (del Castillo et al., 2002)	30.6	
USA (Prasad et al., 2000)	27.3	54.2
Austria (Loffler et al., 2001)	18.8	53.7
USA (Kenna et al., 2001)	18.2	11.0

Country/ Reference	% of <i>GJB2</i> mutations among patients with HL	% of c.35delG homosygosity among <i>GJB2</i> genotypes
UK (Mueller et al., 1999)	14.8	80.4
Germany (Gabriel et al., 2001)	14.3	61.5
Australia (Wilcox et al., 2000b)	13.5	30.4
Japan (Fuse et al., 1999)	10.0	0.0
Korea (Park et al., 2000)	8.2	0.0
Oman (Simsek et al., 2001)	0.0	0.0
Estonia (this study)	31	75

The relative contribution of the *GJB2* gene to non-syndromic, pre-lingual deafness varies from 0%–39.8% (Table 2) in the populations studied, demonstrating genetic heterogeneity, but some of the studies were based on small numbers of patients, and also the ascertainment criteria and mutation screening methods differed between the studies (Petersen and Willems, 2006).

2.3.1.1.2. p.M34T mutation

The mutation p.M34T was one of the first connexin mutations to be associated with deafness (Kelsell *et al.*, 1997; Skerrett *et al.*, 2004), consistent with the study by White *et al.* (1998). Functional studies of *in vitro* expression systems support the hypothesis of dominant negative effect (White *et al.*, 1998; Skerrett *et al.*, 2004; Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005). Further genetic observations identified individuals with mild to moderate prelingual HL who were homozygous for p.M34T, suggesting it is a recessive *GJB2* allele (Cucci *et al.*, 2000; Houseman *et al.*, 2001; Skerrett *et al.*, 2004).

p.M34T is a missense, non-inactivating mutation, located in transmembrane domain (Rabionet *et al.*, 2000b; Picciotti *et al.*, 2009) but research has yet to provide a clear, unambiguous, effect of the mutation. Most research agree the p.M34T allele is an autosomal recessive pathogenic mutation in presence of other *GJB2* mutations or in homozygous condition (Cohn and Kelley, 1999; Cucci *et al.*, 2000; Houseman *et al.*, 2001; Janecke *et al.*, 2002; Lopponen *et al.*, 2003; Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Azaiez *et al.*, 2007), whereas other studies state that this variant is not pathogenic (Green *et al.*, 1999; Griffith *et al.*, 2000; Marlin *et al.*, 2001; Feldmann *et al.*, 2004; Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005). Snoeckx *et al.* (2005) hypothesize that the p.M34T allele is simply a normal variant and that the frequent presence of p.M34T in patients with impaired hearing may be coincidental to high carrier rate of the mutation in the population. If p.M34T is indeed a polymorphism, individuals with the c.35delG/p.M34T genotype are carriers of only one *GJB2* mutation (c.35delG), and their HL must be caused by other unidentified mutations in *GJB2* or by other genes (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005).

Snoeckx *et al.* (2005) studied 16 individuals with p.M34T homozygosity, of whom most had mild HI, only one patient had moderate and two patients severe HI, the median $PTA_{0.5,1,2kHz}$ was 30 dB. All individuals with c.35delG/p.M34T genotype had mild to moderate HL, with a median $PTA_{0.5,1,2kHz}$ of 34 dB (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005). Dietz *et al.* (2009) in a study of 42 children with HIH,

finds six children in four families with homozygous p.M34T mutation with mild SNHL and noticed the high rate of homozygous p.M34T mutation among children with HIH. The degree and type of SNHL in the patients of these two studies show quite specific features, suggesting that the p.M34T mutation is indeed pathogenic (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Dietz *et al.*, 2009). Most recent research also regards p.M34T as a pathological variant of connexin 26 associated with HL (Houseman *et al.*, 2001; Bicego *et al.*, 2006; Dietz *et al.*, 2009), however, there is an argument that the genotype-phenotype correlation of the p.M34T mutation needs further investigation (Lopponen *et al.*, 2003; Dietz *et al.*, 2009).

p.M34T represents high carrier rates across populations (see Table 1). p.M34T is even more frequent than c.35delG, but despite this high prevalence in the general population, deaf individuals homozygous for p.M34T mutation have seldom been described (Cucci *et al.*, 2000; Marlin *et al.*, 2001; Lopponen *et al.*, 2003; Roux *et al.*, 2004), and some studies were unable to identify either p.M34T homozygotes or p.M34T/c.35delG compound heterozygotes (Green *et al.*, 1999; Roux *et al.*, 2004). One possible explanation is the high fatality among p.M34T homozygous individuals; fewer p.M34T homozygous children than expected survive (Cohn and Kelley, 1999). The lower frequency of p.M34T, compared with c.35delG, in the patient sample may reflect reduced penetrance or possible ascertainment bias toward more-severe HL, since individuals with mild HL are less likely to see an otorhinolaryngologist for audiologic or genetic testing (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005).

2.3.1.1.3. Other mutations in *GJB2* gene

High frequencies of *GJB2* mutations other than c.35delG have been reported in other ethnic groups:

- c167delT mutation among Ashkenazi Jews (Morell *et al.*, 1998; Green *et al.*, 1999; Kenneson *et al.*, 2002; Kokotas *et al.*, 2008; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b);
- 235delC mutation among Asian populations (Fuse *et al.*, 1999; Liu *et al.*, 2002; Ohtsuka *et al.*, 2003; Apps *et al.*, 2007; Kokotas *et al.*, 2008; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b);
- p.R143W mutation among isolated African subgroups (Brobby *et al.*, 1998; Fuse *et al.*, 1999; Hamelmann *et al.*, 2001);
- W24X mutation among Spanish/Roman (gypsy) and Indian populations (Maheshwari *et al.*, 2003; Minarik *et al.*, 2003; Alvarez *et al.*, 2005; Apps *et al.*, 2007).

These mutations have been estimated to account for 70–91% of recessive HI amongst each of these ethnic groups.

According to the Connexin-deafness homepage², over 100 different *GJB2* mutations have been reported (Ballana et al., 2009). Some of those mutations are very frequent while others really rare (Kenneson *et al.*, 2002; Petersen and Willems, 2006; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

² http://davinci.crg.es/deafness/

2.3.1.1.4. Genotype-phenotype correlations in GJB2 mutations

The most common phenotype associated with autosomal recessive *GJB2* mutations in DFNB1, characterized by profound, prelingual SNHL, although interfamilial and intrafamilial variability in the degree and progression of HL has been recorded (Tekin *et al.*, 2001b; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). Children with homozygous *GJB2* mutations commonly have congenital HL detected by neonatal hearing screening tests.

Snoeckx *et al.* (2005) carried out the largest study to date involving a crosssectional analysis of *GJB2* genotype and audiometric data from 1531 individuals from 16 different countries with autosomal recessive, mild-to-profound, nonsyndromic deafness. The stufy identified 83 mutations, 47 were classified as non-inactivating (NI), e.g. missense mutations, and 36 as inactivating (I), e.g. premature stop codons. By classifying mutations this way, the authors defined three genotype classes:

- a) Biallelic inactivating (I/I) mutations: 1183 (77.3%) of the 1531 individuals studied segregated two inactivating mutations that represented 64 genotypes (36% of all genotypes found). The degree of HI in this cohort was profound in 59%-64% of individuals, severe in 25%-28%, moderate in 10%-12% and mild in 0%-3%;
- b) Biallelic non-inactivating (NI/NI) mutations: 95 (6.2%) of the 1531 individuals studied segregated two non-inactivating mutations that represented 42 different genotypes (24% of all genotypes found). The degree of HI was mild in 53% of individuals and severe to profound in 20% of individuals;
- c) Compound heterozygous inactivating/non-inactivating (I/NI) mutations: 253 (16.5%) of the 1531 individuals studied, segregated one inactivating and one non-inactivating mutation that represented 71 different genotypes (40% of all genotypes found). The degree of HI was profound in 24%–30% of individuals and severe in 10%-17% of individuals (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Smith and Van Camp, 2008).

Scatter diagrams were constructed to show the binaural mean pure tone average (PTA) at 0.5, 1, and 2 kHz ($PTA_{0.5,1,2kHz}$) for each person within each genotype class; using individuals homozygous for the c.35delG allele as a reference group:

a) **I/I genotypes**: Only two genotypes differed significantly from the c.35delG homozygote reference group:

- i) Individuals doubly heterozygous for *GJB2* c.35delG and del(*GJB6*-D13S1830) had significantly greater HI (median $PTA_{0.5,1,2 \text{ kHz}} = 108 \text{ dB}$; p<0.0001);
- ii) Individuals who are *GJB2* compound heterozygotes for c.35delG/ IVS1+1G \rightarrow A had significantly less HI (median PTA_{0.5,1,2kHz} = 64 dB; p<0.0001).

b) I/NI genotypes: Nine genotypes differed significantly from the c.35delG homozygote reference group:

- i) One *GJB2* compound heterozygous genotype, c.35delG/p.R143W, showed significantly greater HI;
- ii) Eight genotypes that had significantly less HI were *GJB2* compound heterozygotes, of which three are:
 - c.35delG/V37I (median $PTA_{0.5,1,2 \text{ kHz}} = 40 \text{ dB}$; p<0.0001);
 - c.35delG/p.M34T (median PTA_{0.5,1,2kHz} = 34 dB; p<0.0001);
 - double heterozygotes del(GJB6)-D13S1830/GJB2 p.M34T (median PTA_{0.5,1,2kHz} = 25 dB; p<0.0001).

Five other genotypes are not shown because they are represented by a small number of individuals (n<5) or a large variation in the threshold (SD>25 dB).

c) NI/NI genotypes: Three genotypes differed significantly from the c.35delG homozygote reference group in having less HI:

- p.M34T homozygotes (median $PTA_{0.5,1,2 \text{ kHz}} = 30 \text{ dB}, p < 0.0001$);
- V37I homozygotes (median $PTA_{0.5,1,2 \text{ kHz}} = 30 \text{ dB}, p < 0.0001$);
- p.M34T/V37I compound heterozygotes (median $PTA_{0.5,1,2 \text{ kHz}} = 23 \text{ dB}$, p < 0.0001) (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Smith and Van Camp, 2008).

Snoeckx *et al.* (2005) find that the inactivating mutations of *GJB2* are associated with HL to a greater degree of than non-inactivating mutations. Several of the common genotypes were associated with mild-to-moderate HL, which suggests that complete *GJB2* mutation screening, including IVS1+1G \rightarrow A and del(*GJB6-D13S1830*), should be offered to all children with non-syndromic HL, regardless of severity (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005).

2.3.1.2. GJB6 gene

The number of deaf people carrying a single *GJB2* mutation is higher than expected and a search for other mutations in or near *GJB2* has led to the identification of two large deletions: del(GJB6-D13S1830) and del(GJB6-D13S1854) (del Castillo *et al.*, 2002).

The *GJB6* gene (MIM 604418) was mapped to chromosome 13q12, in DFNB1 locus, and encodes connexin-30, another component of the gap junction networks of the cochlea (del Castillo *et al.*, 2005). Connexin-26 and connexin-30 are the major connexins expressed in the cochlea, where they co-localize, from heteromeric gap junctions (Ahmad *et al.*, 2003) and play a role in cochlear homeostasis (Zhao *et al.*, 2006; Rodriguez-Paris and Schrijver, 2009). *GJB6* is unique because of its chromosomal localization within 50 kb of *GJB2* (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005).

In a multicentre study, Del Castillo *et al.* (2003) show that the del(GJB6-D13S1830) mutation is most frequent in Spain, France, the United Kingdom, Israel, and Brazil (5.9–9.7% of all DFNB1 alleles); less frequent in the USA, Belgium, and Australia (1.3–4.5% of all DFNB1 alleles) and very rare in southern Italy (Del Castillo *et al.*, 2003). The deletion was also found in other

studies in the USA and Germany, but not in Austria, Turkey or China (del Castillo *et al.*, 2005). Although the finding of the del(GJB6-D13S1830) mutation provided an explanation for the HI in as many as 30–70% affected *GJB2* heterozygotes in some populations, it has become evident that other DFNB1 mutations remain to be identified in most countries (Del Castillo *et al.*, 2003; del Castillo *et al.*, 2005).

The $\Delta(GJB6-D13S1830)$ deletion is the second most frequent (after the c.35delG mutation in GJB2) genetic cause of nonsyndromic prelingual HI in the Spanish population (del Castillo *et al.*, 2002).

2.3.1.3. SLC26A5 (prestin) gene

The mammalian inner ear consists of the cochlea and vestibule (Liu et al., 2003). Cochlear hair cells are non-neuronal epithelial cells that transduce acoustic signals. The outer and inner hair cells of the mammalian cochlea perform different functions (Zheng et al., 2000). Outer hair cells (OHC) are sensory cells of the mammalian cochlea, which change their length in response to variations in membrane potential. The transmembrane protein prestin is highly and almost exclusively expressed in the OHC. Prestin is a member of the solute carrier (SLC) gene family 26, which encodes anion transporters and related proteins (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). The restricted expression of prestin in the OHC makes it a strong candidate for an association with human deafness. The human SLC26A5 gene (OMIM number +604943), which encodes prestin, contains 21 exons (GeneID 375611, genome build 36.3). The most abundant adult mRNA isoform of the gene in cochlea, isoform a, is spliced from 20 exons (Liu et al., 2003). In humans, a single nucleotide change - IVS2-2A>G (NM 198999.1:c.-53–2A>G) – in the second intron of the SLC26A5 gene, has been reported in association with HL (Liu et al., 2003; Tang et al., 2005). There are only two prior reports about IVS2-2A>G in humans (Liu et al., 2003; Tang et al., 2005). However, a relatively high frequency of heterozygosity for this sequence change was observed in affected subjects, suggesting the possibility of a semi-dominant influence of the mutation (Liu *et al.*, 2003).

2.3.1.4. SLC26A4 (pendred) gene

Pendred syndrome (PDS) as one of the most common types of autosomal recessive syndromic deafness is caused by mutations in *SLC26A4* (previously known as *PDS*) and characterized by sensorineural deafness and goiter. Classically, the deafness is congenital and the thyromegaly becomes apparent after the second decade (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Smith and Robin, 2002).

Mutations in *SLC26A4* also cause autosomal recessive nonsyndromic SNHL (ARNSHL) at the DFNB4 locus. By definition, individuals with DFNB4 do not have thyromegaly, since no other abnormal physical findings co-segre-

gates with their HL. The HL is associated with temporal bone abnormalities, which range from isolated enlargement of the vestibular aqueduct (dilated vestibular aqueduct, DVA) to Mondini dysplasia. Both abnormalities can be diagnosed by either CT or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Smith and Robin, 2002).

SLC26A4 encodes a transmembrane protein pendrin, which functions as a transporter of chloride and iodide and is expressed in the thyroid gland, inner ear, and the kidney (Scott *et al.*, 1999; Petersen and Willems, 2006). Functional studies show that mutations associated with PDS have complete loss of chloride and iodide transport, while mutant alleles in patients with DFNB4 are able to transport both iodide and chloride, although at a much lower level than wild-type pendrin (Scott *et al.*, 2000; Petersen and Willems, 2006). In order to explain the associated temporal bone abnormalities, a hypothesis is that *SLC26A4* controls fluid homeostasis in the membranous labyrinth, which in turn affects development of the bony labyrinth (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Petersen and Willems, 2006).

Recent data suggest that the major genetic cause of DVA and Mondini dysplasia is mutation in *SLC6A4*. Because simplex cases include both genetic and non-genetic causes of DVA and Mondini dysplasia, mutation screening of *SLC6A4* is clinically useful to establish a diagnosis of Pendred syndrome/DFNB4 and makes accurate genetic counseling possible. By identifying the subset of individuals carrying *SLC6A4* deafness-causing mutations, a more precise delineation of the clinical phenotype is also possible (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Smith and Robin, 2002).

2.3.1.5. Mitochondrial mutations

The first genetic defect causing non-syndromic SNHL was detected in 1993 and was a mitochondrial mutation. Various mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) mutations, causing progressive, nonsyndromic, symmetric bilateral HIH, have since been identified (Fischel-Ghodsian, 1999; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005).

Mitochondrial mutations are present in less than 1% of the children with pre-lingual deafness (Marazita *et al.*, 1993) but are more frequent at a later age. In Caucasian populations, at least 5% of post-lingual, non-syndromic HI is caused by known mtDNA mutations, representing the most frequent cause of HL after the c.35delG mutation in the *GJB2* gene encoding connexin 26 (Jacobs *et al.*, 2005). In oriental populations the frequency might even be higher (Kokotas *et al.*, 2007).

Mitochondrial genes encoding *12S ribosomal RNA* (rRNA) and the *transfer RNA (tRNA)* genes have been found to be particularly associated with non-syndromic HL (Kokotas *et al.*, 2007).

The A1555G and other mutations in the mitochondrial *12S r-RNA* gene are perhaps the best examples of preventable forms of genetic deafness. These mutations are associated with sensitivity to aminoglycosides, and lead to

deafness if gene carriers are exposed to these antibiotics (Nance *et al.*, 2006). HL associated with aminoglycoside ototoxicity is bilateral and severe to profound, occurring within a few days to weeks after administration of any amount (even a single dose) of an aminoglycoside antibiotic such as gentamycin, tobramycin, amikacin, kanamycin, or streptomycin (Bates, 2003; Pandya, 2007). Once HL appears, HL is irreversible but not progressive. HL associated with the 1555A>G mutation results from hair cell dysfunction and hence is cochlear in nature (Bravo *et al.*, 2006; Pandya, 2007). Although the expression of the mutation is variable, cochlear alterations are present in all carriers of mutation A1555G (Bravo *et al.*, 2006). Some carriers develop HL later in life without aminoglycoside exposure, possibly reflecting genetic modifiers. These mutations are common causes of deafness in Asia where aminoglycosides were used without restraint in the past (Nance *et al.*, 2006).

2.3.1.6. Other genes

The most frequent genes implicated in autosomal recessive non-syndromic HL are *GJB2*, which is responsible for more than half of cases, followed by *SLC26A4*, *MYO15A*, *OTOF*, *CDH23* and *TMC1*. For each of these genes, at least 20 mutations have been reported (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

a) Mutations in the *MYO15A* gene cause congenital severe-to-profound HL at the DFNB3 locus. All 28 identified mutations have been found by linkage analysis in consanguineous families, most of which originate from Pakistan (Nal *et al.*, 2007; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). It is likely the number of ARSNHL-causing *MYO15A* mutations is higher, as the gene is large (66 exons) and mutation analysis is rare if complementary linkage analysis has not been performed (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

b) *OTOF* gene mutations cause prelingual, profound ARSNHL, which initially may be accompanied by auditory neuropathy in about half of cases with biallelic *OTOF* mutations (Rodriguez-Ballesteros *et al.*, 2008; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). Auditory neuropathy is characterized by the presence of otoacoustic emission (OAE) responses in absence of auditory brainstem responses (ABR). However, as the HL progresses, OHC function is lost, and so is the OAE response. As *OTOF* mutations have been suggested as the major cause of auditory neuropathy, mutation screening of *OTOF* should be considered when OAE responses are present in the absence of ABR responses (Rodriguez-Ballesteros *et al.*, 2008; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

c) Mutations in *CDH23* gene cause both Usher syndrome (US) type 1D and moderate-to-profound progressive ARSNHL at the DFNB12 locus. Genotype-phenotype studies suggest that missense mutations or in-frame alterations cause ARSNHL, while truncating mutations cause USH1D. No single *CDH23* mutation predominates as a cause of either USH1d or ARSNHL (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

d) *TMC1* gene mutations are one of the more frequent causes of ARSNHL in consanguineous populations. Twenty-one different mutations have been reported in 33 consanguineous families, only one of which was Caucasian. All reported cases show a similar phenotype characterized by prelingual severe-to-profound HL (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

In contrast to ARSNHL, where mutations in two genes are frequently found, none of the genes causing autosomal dominant non-syndromic HL (ADNSHL) is a frequent cause of HL. Based on this summary, *WFS1, KCNQ4, COCH* and *GJB2* mutations are slightly more frequent in comparison to the other reported genes. In addition, *WFS1, COCH* and *TECTA* mutations cause HL with a recognizable phenotype (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

e) Mutations in WFS1 gene cause both autosomal dominant low-frequency SNHL at the DFNA6/14/38 locus and Wolfram syndrome, characterized by autosomal recessive HL, diabetes mellitus, diabetes insipidus and optic atrophy (Kumar, 2009). In addition, WFS1 may also play a role in the susceptibility to diabetes mellitus and possibly also psychiatric disorders, although its exact role in these disorders needs to be determined (Cryns *et al.*, 2003; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). HL caused by dominant WFS1 mutations is very characteristic, only affecting the low frequencies and rising to normal hearing in the high frequencies. With increasing age, hearing in the high frequencies is lost and the audioprofile flattens. In families segregating LFSNHL, WFS1 mutations are found in 30–80% of pedigrees, depending on whether the families are preselected by linkage analysis prior to WFS1 mutation analysis (Cryns *et al.*, 2002; Lesperance *et al.*, 2003; Fukuoka *et al.*, 2007).

f) KCNQ4 gene has been identified as a disease-causing gene at the DFNA2 locus. Twelve different mutations have been reported to date (10 missense mutations and 2 deletions), and a genotype-phenotype correlation has been proposed (Topsakal *et al.*, 2005; Kamada *et al.*, 2006; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). Missense mutations are believed to exert a dominant-negative effect by which the mutant protein interferes with the normal channel subunit. These mutations cause HL beginning at a young age and affecting all frequencies. Both deletions, which are proposed to exert a pathogenic effect through haploinsufficiency, cause a milder phenotype, have an older age of onset and affect only the high frequencies (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

g) Seven *COCH* gene mutations have been reported, all of which are missense mutations. This gene encodes for cochlin, a major constituent of the inner-ear extracellular matrix (Grabski *et al.*, 2003; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). Six of these mutations cause a phenotype characterized by progressive late-onset HL with vestibular impairment (Kemperman *et al.*, 2005). The late onset and the parallel auditory and vestibular decline make this phenotype very recognizable. One mutation, 1625G>T, causes earlier onset HL, vestibular dysfunction and abnormal ocular motor responses (Street *et al.*, 2005). The P51S mutation is a common cause of late onset cochleovestibular impairment in Belgian and Dutch populations through a founder effect (Fransen *et al.*, 2001; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

h) *TECTA* gene mutations cause both autosomal dominant mid-frequency HL and high-acid substitution. Mutations in the zona pellucida domain of atectorin cause mid-frequency HL, mutations in the zona frequency HL. A genotype–phenotype correlation has been established that is defined by the protein domain in which the mutation occurs and the nature of the amino adherens domain cause high-frequency HL and cysteine (C) replacing substitutions cause progressive HL (Pfister *et al.*, 2004; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

2.3.2. Syndromic hearing impairment

Over 400 genetic syndromes that include HL have been described. If 'deafness' is used a key search word of the London Dysmorphology Database, the result is a list of 633 genetic syndromes and conditions (Winter and Baraitser, 2007). Syndromic HI may account for up to 30% of prelingual deafness, but its relative contribution to all deafness is much smaller, reflecting the occurrence and diagnosis of postlingual HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Some discussion about hereditary syndromic deafness is valuable where an accompanying disorder is not clinically obvious or has a later onset. HL is often detected before the manifestations of other organ system pathology, and a young child with one of these syndromes might be incompletely diagnosed with non-syndromic HL (Friedman and Griffith, 2003).

Although genetic syndromes such as Waardenburg (WS), US, and Jervell and Lange-Nielsen are noted in textbooks to be relatively common in population with HL, in reality these syndromes represent a small proportion of this total population. Nowadays many children with HL and deafness are mainstreamed with hearing children, thought this make more difficult to investigate of children with HL and deafness. In clinical practice this means that many children with HL never have a diagnostic assessment beyond audiometric testing (Billings and Kenna, 1999; Kenna *et al.*, 2001).

Performing a syndrome diagnosis of every individual with HI is significant, as Bitner-Glindzicz (2002) explains:

- The individual and family need to be monitored for known complications and associations of the syndrome, such as heart, renal or eye disease;
- Inheritance may be clearly defined for many syndromic causes of deafness even the gene is unknown;
- Molecular testing, which may confirm the diagnosis, may be available for many of the more common syndromes.

Syndromic HL is the most frequently categorized by the mode of inheritance (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

2.3.2.1. Waardenburg syndrome (WS)

WS is the most common type of autosomal dominant syndromic HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). The syndrome described so precisely by Waardenburg in 1951 (Waardenburg, 1951), was reported by earlier researchers, e.g. van der Hoeve in 1916, Mende in 1926 and Klein in 1947 (Pantke and Cohen, 1971; Gorlin et al., 2001). WS consists of variable degrees of SNHL and pigmentary abnormalities of the skin, hair (white forelock), and eyes (heterochromia iridis). Because affected individuals may dve their hair, the presence of a white forelock should be specifically sought in the history and physical examination. Four types are recognized - WS I, WS II, WS III, and WS IV - based on the presence of other abnormalities. WS I (OMIM 193500) and WS II (OMIM 193510, 600193, 606662, 608890, 611584) share many features but have an important phenotypic difference: WS I is characterized by the presence of dystopia canthorum (i.e., lateral displacement of the inner canthus of the eye) while WS II is characterized by its absence. In WS III, upper-limb abnormalities are present, and in WS IV, Hirschsprung disease is present. Recent reports have suggested that the frequency of HL in WS I is 58-75% and in WS II, 78-91% (Newton, 1990; Liu et al., 1995; Ovsu et al., 2000; Toriello et al., 2004). The extent of HL is quite variable, ranging from no measurable clinical loss to severe congenital unilateral or bilateral SNHL (Hageman, 1977; Hildesheimer et al., 1989; Newton, 1990; Toriello et al., 2004). Bilateral HL is more common (Newton, 1990; Toriello et al., 2004). Mutations in PAX3 gene cause WS I and WS III. Mutations in MITF gene cause some cases of WS II. Mutations in EDNRB, EDN3, and SOX10 genes cause WS IV (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

2.3.2.2. Branchio-oto-renal (BOR) syndrome

BOR syndrome (OMIM 113650) is the second most common type of autosomal dominant syndromic HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). The term BOR was first used in 1975 by Melnick et al. (1975) to refer to patients with branchial cleft, fistulas, or cysts; otologic anomalies, including malformed pinnae, preauricular pits or sinuses, and HL; and renal anomalies of various types. Many other features have subsequently been noted. BOR syndrome prevalence is about 1:40,000 and it is thought to occur in about 2% of profoundly affected children (Fraser et al., 1980; Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Penetrance of BOR syndrome is high, but expressivity is extremely variable (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). HL has been reported in about 75% of cases. CHL is found in 30%, SNHL in 20%, and mixed HL in 50% of patients with BOR syndrome. Age of onset of HL varies from early childhood to young adulthood. HL may also be progressive (Toriello et al., 2004). In approximately 40% of families segregating a BOR phenotype, mutations in the EYA1 gene can be identified; in a few other families mutations have been found in SIX1 (Ruf et al., 2004), consistent with the known interaction of EYA1 and SIX1 proteins in transcription regulation (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

2.3.2.3. Stickler syndrome

Stickler syndrome is a quite common type of autosomal dominant syndromic HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Printzlau and Andersen (2004) estimate that the incidence of Stickler syndrome among neonates is approximately 1:7,500-1:9,000. The syndrome of flat midface, ceft palate, high myopia with retinal detachment and cataracts, HL, and arthropathy with generally mild spondyloepiphyseal dysplasia was described by Stickler and coworkers in 1965–1967 (Stickler et al., 1965; Toriello et al., 2004). The syndrome is now known as Stickler syndrome I type (OMIM 108300), and constitutes 75% of Stickler syndromes (Gorlin et al., 2001; Toriello et al., 2004). A combination of eye findings, HL, cleft palate, marfanoid build, and bone changes are characteristic features of the I type syndrome (Toriello et al., 2004). Stickler syndrome II type (OMIM 604841), representing another 25%, is characterized by midface hypoplasia, anteverted nostrils, small mandible, SNHL (40%) or mixed HL (30%), and joint pain (50%). Height is not reduced and there is mild myopia (Gorlin et al., 2001; Toriello et al., 2004). Progressive SNHL has been noted in 60% of Stickler syndrome type I patients and in 90% of Stickler syndrome type II (Toriello et al., 2004). Mutations affecting one of four genes (COL2A1, COL9A1, COL11A1, and COL11A2) have been associated with Stickler syndrome; because a few families with features of Stickler syndrome are not linked to any of these four loci, mutations in other genes may also cause the disorder (Robin et al., 2009). About 70% of cases of Stickler syndrome type 1 are due to mutations in the COL2A1 gene (Gorlin et al., 2001). Mutations of the COL11A1 gene lead to either or both Stickler syndrome II type and Marshall syndrome (Snead and Yates, 1999; Gorlin et al., 2001). Non-ocular 'Sticklerlike' syndromes were mapped near the COL11A2 gene (Brunner et al., 1994; Gorlin et al., 2001). These syndromes have been collectively called otospondylo-megepiphyseal dysplasia and while the symptoms resemble Stickler syndrome, midface hypoplasia is more expressed and patients are small, have large epiphyses and lack eye involvement (Gorlin et al., 2001).

2.3.2.4. LEOPARD syndrome (LS)

LS (OMIM 151100) is a rare autosomal dominant multisystemic disorder with full penetrance and variable expressivity (Gorlin *et al.*, 1969). Nevertheless, LS diagnostic clues are cutaneous manifestations, including multiple lentigines (ML) and *café-au-lait* spots (CLS), hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) and deafness (Digilio *et al.*, 2006). Although LS seems to be under diagnosed or misdiagnosed due to its mild features and the absence of lentiginosis, about 200 patients have so far been reported worldwide (Sarkozy *et al.*, 2008). SNHL has been observed in 15–25% of patients with LS. There is marked degree of HL in affected individuals, but mostly the HL is mild. HL is usually of childhood onset, but can develop during adulthood (Toriello *et al.*, 2004). LS is mainly

caused by missense mutations in the *PTPN11* gene, encoding SHP-2, a cytoplasmic protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP), which regulates intracellular signalling for several growth factors, cytokine and hormone receptors that control distinct developmental processes (Tartaglia *et al.*, 2001). However, mutations in the *RAF1* (Pandit *et al.*, 2007) and *BRAF* (Koudova *et al.*, 2009; Sarkozy *et al.*, 2009) genes have recently been described as being associated with a LS phenotype. In more than 85% of LS cases, a heterozygous missense mutation is detected in *PTPN11* exons 7, 12 or 13. So far only 11 heterozygous *PTPN11* mutations have been reported in LS patients (Y279C, Y279S, A461T, G464A, T468M, T468P, R498W, R498L, Q506P, Q510E, Q510P) (Sarkozy *et al.*, 2008).

2.3.2.5. Usher syndrome (US)

US is the most common type of autosomal recessive syndromic HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). US is characterized by retinitis pigmentosa and SNHL (Toriello et al., 2004). The German ophthalmologist Albrecht von Graefe described the association of congenital HL and progressive pigmentary dystrophy of retina in 1858, and Charles Usher, a British ophthalmologist, provided extensive clinical documentation of affected individuals. In particular, Usher emphasized the autosomal recessive pattern of inheritance in 1914 (Keats and Corey, 1999). The epidemiological studies indicate that the average prevalence of US among the deaf population is 10%. Three types of US are recognized based on the degree of HI and result of vestibular function testing: US I type (OMIM 276900, 276904, 601067, 612632, 602083, 602097, 606943, 605242) is characterized by congenital severe-to-profound HL with development of retinitis pigmentosa by age 10 years and absent vestibular responses. In US II type (OMIM 605472, 276901, 611383) there is usually stable congenital moderate HL in the low frequencies sloping to severe or profound HL in the higher frequencies with onset of retinitis pigmentosa from the mid-teens to early 20's and normal vestibular responses. US type III (OMIM 276902) patients have progressive HL with progressive vestibular involvement and variable severity of retinitis pigmentosa (Smith et al., 1994; Kimberling and Moller, 1995; Keats and Corey, 1999; Toriello et al., 2004). The recognition of US is difficult in infants and young children. Nevertheless, five of the nine Usher genes also cause non-syndromic HL (Hilgert et al., 2009b). The DNA analysis for 614 mutations in the 9 genes linked to US (CDH23, MYO7A, PCDH15, Harmonin, SANS, Usherin, VLGR1, USH3A and Whirlin) is available in Estonia by Asper Biotech³ (Cremers *et al.*, 2007).

³ http://www.asperbio.com

2.3.2.6. Pendred syndrome (PDS)

PDS (OMIM 274600) is the second most common type of autosomal recessive syndromic HL (Toriello et al., 2004). Although the first recorded case may well be that of Mondini in 1791, the syndrome is eponymously named for Pendred's report in 1896 of a pair of sisters with goiter and profound congenital HL (Toriello et al., 2004). The syndrome is characterized by congenital severe-toprofound SNHL and euthyroid goiter. Goiter is not present at birth and develops in early puberty (40%) or adulthood (60%). Delayed organification of iodine by the thyroid can be documented by a perchlorate discharge test. The deafness is associated with an abnormality of the bony labyrinth (Mondini dysplasia or dilated vestibular aqueduct) that can be diagnosed by CT examination of the temporal bones. Vestibular function is abnormal in the majority of affected individuals (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). HL is severe in more than 50% of patients. Speech development is generally poor because of the early severe HL (Toriello et al., 2004). Mutations in SLC26A4 are identified in about 50% of multiplex families. Such genetic testing is appropriate for individuals with Mondini dysplasia or an enlarged vestibular aqueduct and progressive HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Early studies reported that PDS accounted for up to 7.5% of congenital deafness (Fraser, 1965), but contemporary studies suggest that the prevalence of PDS is lower (Park et al., 2003); mutations of the SLC26A4 gene are also a cause of nonsyndromic HL (DFNB4) (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

2.3.2.7. Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome

Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome (OMIM 220400, 612347) is the third most common type of autosomal recessive syndromic HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). In 1957, Jervell and Lange-Nielsen described profound congenital SNHL, electrocardiographic abnormalities characterized by a long QT interval, repeated syncopal episodes, and sudden unexplained death in Norwegian children (Jervell and Lange-Nielsen, 1957; Toriello et al., 2004). The syndrome consists of congenital deafness and prolongation of the OT interval as detected by electrocardiography [the abnormal QTc (c=corrected) is greater than 440 msec]. Affected individuals have syncopal episodes and may have sudden death. Although a screening electrocardiogram is not highly sensitive, it may be suitable for screening deaf children. High-risk children (i.e., those with a family history that is positive for sudden infant death (SIDS), syncopal episodes, or long OT syndrome) should have a thorough cardiac evaluation. Mutations in two genes have been described in affected individuals: KCNQ1 and KCNE1 gene (Sakagami et al., 1991; Neyroud et al., 1997; Steel and Bussoli, 1999).

2.3.2.8. Alport syndrome (AS)

AS is characterized by progressive SNHL of varying severity, progressive glomerulonephritis leading to end-stage renal disease, and variable ophthalmologic findings (i.e., anterior lenticonus) (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). The syndrome was first described by Alport in 1927 (Alport, 1927). Classic AS represents a defect in type IV collagen. AS is now known to represent a genetically heterogeneous group of at least six different disorders that exhibit unique ultrastructural and antigenic abnormalities in basement membranes due to defective type IV collagen (Toriello *et al.*, 2004). Autosomal dominant (OMIM 104200), autosomal recessive (OMIM 203780), and X-linked (OMIM 301050) forms are described. X-linked inheritance accounts for about 85% of cases (*COL4A5, COL4A6, FACL4, AMMERC1* genes), and autosomal recessive inheritance accounts for about 15% of cases (*COL4A3* and *COL4A4* genes) (Toriello *et al.*, 2004). Autosomal dominant inheritance has been reported occasionally. HL usually does not manifest before the age of ten years (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

2.4. The identification of new rare loci of HL

During the last fifteen years, major achievements have been made in detecting new deafness genes. These achievements have far outpaced translation of this knowledge to improved clinical care. The cap created reflects the fact that diagnostic tests are still performed using the classical sequencing technology. These automatic DNA sequencers are very useful but are limited by slow throughput, which makes extensive sequencing of all known deafness-causing genes very expensive and time consuming. For this reason, only a very small set of genes is routinely screened for mutation with result that in a large percentage of individuals with HL, no genetic cause is identified (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

An additional problem for extended diagnostic screening is that most genes for ARSNHL lead to congenital severe-to-profound HI that is indistinguishable between different genes. The similarity of phenotype makes it impossible to predict the genetic cause based on audioprofiling for almost all cases. This situation highlights the urgent need for new DNA sequencing technologies which allow complete screening of all deafness genes in a quick and costeffective way (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

Another option is chromosomal microarray analysis (CMA), which is increasingly utilized for genetic testing of individuals with unexplained developmental delay/intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorders, or multiple congenital anomalies (Hochstenbach *et al.*, 2009; Miller *et al.*, 2010). CMAbased cytogenetics affords the capacity to examine the whole human genome on a single chip with a resolution as high as a few hundred base pairs (Pinkel *et al.*, 1998).

2.5. Acquired HL

Congenital acquired or later acquired SNHL may be caused by prenatal, perinatal or postnatal environmental factors. Prenatal etiology includes rubella, cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection, measles, toxoplasmosis, herpes zoster, varicella zoster, syphilis, diabetes mellitus, alcohol, drugs. Perinatal etiologies include prematurity, asphyxia, anoxia, meconium aspiration, hyperbilirubinaemia, prolonged neonatal intensive care treatment, drugs. Postnatal etiology includes meningitis, sepsis, aminoglycosides, trauma, chemotherapy, measles, varicella zoster, herpes zoster (Morzaria *et al.*, 2004; Dietz *et al.*, 2009).

The most common environmental (non-genetic) cause of HL is congenital CMV infection (Hilgert et al., 2009b). Although the overall birth prevalence is 0.64%, only 11% of infected infants have non-specific symptoms at birth, and the definition of symptomatic varies between studies (Kenneson and Cannon, 2007). Neonatal signs of congenital CMV infection include jaundice, hepatosplenomegaly, petechiae, microcephaly, and chorioretinitis. There are also many less common non-specific symptoms of congenital CMV infection. CMV is the most common potentially disabling perinatal infectious disease. In 10-15% of infants with congenital CMV infection, who are asymptomatic at birth, and all neonates with symptoms of congenital CMV, infection causes persistent problems to develop, of which the most common are neurologic impairment, SNHL and decreased vision (van der Knaap et al., 2004). HL is a common sequel to congenital CMV infection. Grosse et al. (2008) found that HL occurs in 30-40% of children symptomatic at birth with congenital CMV and in 5-10% of children with asymptomatic infections. More than 67% of cases of HL among children who were congenitally infected with CMV develop HL months or years after birth and may therefore be missed by a hearing screening at birth (Fowler et al., 1999; Ludwig and Hengel, 2009). Fowler et al. (1999) estimate that universal screening of hearing in neonates will detect less than half of all SNHL caused by congenital CMV infection. Congenital CMV is an important but underestimated cause of HL (Grosse et al., 2008). Several authors found that children with congenital CMV have a risk of up to 22% of developing SNHL (Barbi et al., 2006b; Foulon et al., 2008a, b). HL can be either unilateral or bilateral and vary from mild to profound. Children with symptomatic infection have HL at an earlier age and with greater severity than children with asymptomatic infection (Fowler et al., 1999). Grosse et al. (2008) estimate that congenital CMV infection is one of the most important causes of HL in young children after genetic mutations in connexin genes.

The gold-standard to detect congenital CMV infection at birth is viral culture or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) from urine or saliva within the first two weeks of life (Ludwig and Hengel, 2009). Retrospective diagnosis of congenital infection is possible by PCR detection of the CMV DNA in dried blood spots (DBS) stored on perinatal Guthrie cards (Barbi *et al.*, 1996; Barbi *et al.*, 2006a; Vauloup-Fellous *et al.*, 2007). The DBS test is simpler, faster and less costly than viral isolation; in addition the samples can be safety stored for
long periods, so diagnosis can be made even after several years (Barbi *et al.*, 2000; Barbi *et al.*, 2006a).

2.6. Newborn hearing screening

Early diagnosis of bilateral SNHL prevents poor language skills and the development of speech delay (Morzaria *et al.*, 2004). Researchers estimate that more than 80% of HL in children is either congenital or acquired in the neonatal period (Johnson *et al.*, 2005; Jakubikova *et al.*, 2009). The first step for early detection of HL in newborns in any country is universal newborn hearing screening program (UNHS) (Jakubikova *et al.*, 2009). UNHS has lowered the age of detection of HL. The early detection of hearing impaired infants and children was initially emphasized in the late 1960s, which resulted in the implementation of hearing screening programs in the 1970s either as universal hearing screening or as targeted groups (Parving, 2007).

Two methods are used in newborn hearing screening: OAE and automated ABR. In most European countries UNHS uses a two-stage OAE program (Johnson *et al.*, 2005; Jakubikova *et al.*, 2009). In Estonia, a three-stage UNHS is used: Stage 1 – OAE at the age of 3–4 days in a maternity hospital; Stage 2 after a negative result, OAE is repeated at the age of one month in a maternity hospital, and Stage 3, after a second negative result either OAE or automated ABR occurs at the age of 3 months in the Otorhinolaryngology Department.

In babies who are diagnosed with severe-to-profound HL in the absence of other abnormal findings on physical examination, the single best next diagnostic test is mutation screening for deafness at DFNB1 locus. This screening should include DNA sequencing of *GJB2* and mutation testing for the two large *GJB6*-containing deletions, as *GJB2* mutations cause about half of all genetic HL cases (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

2.7. Genetic counseling of patient with HL

An understanding of the attitudes of normally hearing parents (90–95% of the cases) of deaf children is necessary for optimal counseling strategies. The majority of these parents approves of genetic testing and believes that the test should be offered prenatally (Brunger *et al.*, 2000). The vast majority of these parents have inaccurate beliefs about their own and children's recurrence risk, irrespective of whether or not they have undergone genetic testing. One-third of these parents believe that the absence of a *GJB2* mutation generally excludes heredity of their children's deafness. They do not understand that HIH has a complex, heterogeneous background. Consequently both pre-test and post-test genetic counseling should be provided (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005).

Genetic diagnosis, carrier detection, and reproductive risk counseling can be provided only for a limited number of affected individuals, since mutation screening is available for only limited number of genes. The identification of further genes will not only improve early diagnosis but may also offer future opportunities for a rational therapy. With the discovery of new technologies, genetic testing for HIH may become a routine service of otolaryngologists (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005).

Establishing a genetic diagnosis has been shown to be beneficial to parents as it alleviates parental guilt and anxiety, makes accurate recurrence change counseling possible, and provides prognostic information. For example, the parents of a child with *GJB2*-related deafness have a 25% recurrence risk to have another child with the same *GJB2* genotype. Furthermore, if their first child has mild-to-moderate HL and they do have a second hearing-impaired child, there is a 66% chance that the second child will have mild-to-moderate HL and a 34% change that the HL will be more severe. If their child has severeto-profound HL and receives a cochlear implant, several studies have shown that the parents can expect their child to have an excellent outcome (Connell *et al.*, 2007; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

The deaf population can be broadly divided into those individuals who identify themselves with the Deaf community and those who do not, making the provision of genetic counseling to this population particularly challenging. Individuals in the Deaf community identify themselves with the Deaf culture. As with other cultures, members are characterized by unique social and societal attributes and a unique language, Sign Language. They do not consider themselves to be hearing "impaired", nor do they feel that they have a hearing "loss". Rather, they consider themselves deaf. Their deafness is neither a pathology nor a disease to be treated or cured. If a Deaf individual seeks genetic counseling, sessions will be hampered without the aid of a skilled interpreter. The objectives of the Deaf individual may seem foreign, since they view deafness as a distinguishing characteristic and not as a handicap, impairment, or medical condition requiring "treatment," "cure," or "prevention." For example, just as a normal-hearing couple might "prefer" to have a normal-hearing child, a Deaf couple might "prefer" to have a deaf child. This preference does not preclude Deaf individuals from having an interest in learning about the cause of their deafness and obtaining information on medical, educational, and social services, rather than information about prevention, reproduction, or family planning. As in all genetic counseling, it is important for the counselor to identify, acknowledge, and respect each family's questions, concerns, and fears (Smith and Robin, 2002).

Prenatal diagnosis for some forms of HIH is technically possible by analysis of DNA extracted from foetal cells obtained by amniocentesis usually performed at about 15–18 weeks' gestation or chorionic villus sampling (CVS) at about ten to 12 weeks' gestation. The deafness-causing allele(s) of a deaf family member must be identified before prenatal testing can be performed. Requests for prenatal testing for conditions such as HL are not common. Accurate interpretation of a positive prenatal test result is difficult, because in some cases the presence of the mutation does not predict the severity of HL. Differences in perspective may exist among medical professionals and within families regarding the use of prenatal testing, particularly if the testing is being considered for the purpose of pregnancy termination rather than early diagnosis. Although most centers would consider decisions about prenatal testing to be the choice of the parents, careful discussion of these issues is appropriate (Pandya, 2007; Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

3. AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The aims of the present study were:

- 1. To establish the prevalence of the c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in the *GJB2* gene among the Estonian newborn population.
- 2. To determine the prevalence of mutations in *GJB2*, *GJB3*, *GJB6*, *SLC26A4* and two the mitochondrial genes (*12S rRNA* and *tRNA-Ser*) in Estonian children with hearing loss.
- 3. To study the genotype and phenotype correlations in patients with *GJB2* gene mutations.
- 4. To identify the IVS2–2A>G sequence change in the *SLC26A5* (Prestin) gene in Estonian individuals with hearing loss and in their family members.
- 5. To characterize rare genetic syndromic hearing loss.
- 6. To evaluate the occurrence of small submicroscopic chromosomal rearrangements in children, when hearing loss is one of the main complaints.
- 7. To evaluate the incidence of CMV infection in Estonian children with hearing loss using molecular analysis.

4. MATERIAL AND METHODS

4.1. Study subjects

4.1.1. Study group of newborn children

We screened a cohort of 998 samples from anonymous newborns which were partially dissociated (Group NB). These neonates were born consecutively in January 2005, throughout Estonia. We screened these samples for the presence of the two *GJB2* mutations, c.35delG and p.M34T. DNA was obtained from anonymous samples of DBS on Guthrie cards, which Estonia's newborn screening program for detecting cases of phenylketonuria and congenital hypothyreosis had collected. In order to facilitate interpretation of geographical gradients, we separated the birthplaces of the selected newborns into three distinct regions of Estonia: northern, western and south-eastern (see Figures 1 and 2).

4.1.2. Study group of children with HL

The overall study group consisted of 233 probands (children ranging in age from 0–18 years) who were referred to genetic counselling from January 2000 to March 2009 from the whole of Estonia, with early or childhood onset HL as a main complaint (Group HL^{233}). The diagnosis of HL was confirmed by audiologists in the hearing centres of Estonia. All the probands in Group HL^{233} were selected from children who were referred to an oto-rhino-laryngologist due to a suspicion of HL or were selected from the newborn hearing screening (NBHS) program.

The NBHS program started in Estonia in 2004 and by 2009 88% of all newborns were included in the program. In Estonia we have three-stage UNHS (see section 2.6 for details). All children whose HI with a $PTA_{0.5-4kHz}$ is less than 40 dB in the better ear should be identified by UNHS. The definition of the degree and type of HI was based on the most recent audiogram available. The severity of HI was graded by the degree of HL in the better ear as mild (21–40 dB), moderate (41–70 dB), severe (71–95 dB) and profound (greater than 95 dB).

All children in Group HL²³³ were evaluated in one of two tertiary education hospitals, Tallinn Children's Hospital for northern and western Estonia and Tartu University Hospital for south eastern Estonia. In all cases of HL, family histories were collected, focusing particularly on the potential occurrence of HL in multiple generations. The clinical examination was performed with particular attention to dysmorphic features including growth parameters, facial phenotype, external ears, neck, skin, hair, eyes and digits, to exclude syndromic causes of

HL. In the case of 55 children (Group HL⁵⁵), a geneticist decided that regular chromosomal analysis should be performed from peripheral blood lymphocytes. All probands in Group HL²³³ were tested between 2005 and 2009 with an

All probands in Group HL²⁵⁵ were tested between 2005 and 2009 with an arrayed primer extension (APEX) assay (Asper Biotech, Tartu, Estonia) (Gardner *et al.*, 2006) in the Department of Genetics of the United Laboratories of Tartu University Hospital. Thirty-two patients were analyzed before 2005 for c.35delG mutation in *GBJ2* gene by PCR analysis; if the patients were homozygous for mutation c.35delG, APEX array analysis was not performed.

From 126 probands whose etiology of HL remained unknown after DNA testing with the APEX method, 96 patients were chosen for the DNA analysis of CMV infection from neonatal screening cards - blood stored on Guthrie cards – (Group HL^{96}). Since the neonatal screening program for the whole of Estonia for phenylketonuria started in 1993, neonatal screening cards were available for 85 (88.5%) of Group HL^{96} .

From 121 probands with HL of unknown etiology (normal results in APEX array and CMV testing) we selected 24 children who, in addition to HL, had subtle facial dysmorphism, and either or both a failure to thrive and developmental or behavioral problems and who did not fit to any known dysmorphic syndrome (Group HL^{24}). For exclusion of syndromic etiology we used the London Dysmorphology Database (Robin M. Winter, 2007).

4.1.3. Patients with syndromic HL

We selected, from another research study entitled "The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia" (Puusepp, 2009), one case with dysmorphic phenotype and early onset HL from the non-specific mental retardation group of 11 patients. This patient was investigated further to discover the exact aetiology of their hearing phenotype.

One patient with clinical suspicion of LS and HL was later excluded from our patients' group (see 4.1.2.), as their HL was not confirmed by automated ABR investigation. However, this patient was studied further for the *PTPN11* gene mutation, which causes LS. This patient is described as a part of this study (Section 5.6.1).

4.2. Methods

4.2.1. APEX assay for SNHL

An EDTA blood sample (2-5 ml) was taken for DNA analysis for all children in Group HL²³³. DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using the standard salting-out method.

DNA samples were tested with an APEX assay (Asper Biotech, Tartu, Estonia) (Gardner *et al.*, 2006). This microarray is capable of simultaneous

evaluation of 199 mutations: several connexin genes (*GJB2*, *GJB6*, *GJB3*), mutations in two SLC26 anion transport genes (*SLC26A4* and *SLC26A5*), and mutations in two mitochondrial genes (*12S rRNA* and *tRNA-Ser*). The APEX assay is based on a versatile platform technology and is a robust, cost-effective, sensitive and easily modifiable assay. This assay validated patients' genomic DNA samples with confirmed mutations and also with 45-mer synthetic DNA templates. A complete description of this APEX assay including a list of the 198 mutations covered is published by Gardner *et al.* (2006). All the c.35delG and p.M34T mutations we found were confirmed by PCR analysis, as described below. All other APEX detected mutations are given in Supplementary Table 1, Publication I.

4.2.2. PCR analysis for c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in GJB2 gene

Group NB was tested for GJB2 gene c.35delG and c.101T>C (p.M34T) mutations using PCR amplification and restriction fragment length analysis. Genomic DNA was extracted from whole blood using the standard salting-out method. c.35delG mutation analysis was adapted from Wilcox et al. (Wilcox et al., 2000a; Wilcox et al., 2000b). GJB2 c.35delG mutation was detected with 5'-GCTGGTGGAGTGTTTGTTCACACCCGC-3' forward and 5'-TCTTTTC CAGAGCAAACCGC-3', the forward primer containing a mismatch base and creating an MvaI restriction site for the c.35G allele amplification product. c.101T>C (p.M34T) mutation was detected with 5'-CCCTGTTCTGTCC TAGCTAGTGATT-3' forward and 5'-CTCCTTTGCAGCCACAACGAT GAT-3' reverse primers, the reverse primer containing a mismatch base and creating a BcII restriction site for the p.M34 allele amplification product. The GJB2 gene two mutation sites were amplified in separate reactions in a BioRad PTC200thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories⁴) as follows: 3 minutes 30 seconds initial denaturation, 36 cycles of 35 seconds at 95°C, 40 seconds at 62°C, 40 seconds at 72°C followed by 7 minutes final elongation at 72°C. 30µl PCR amplification reactions consisted of 3µl 10x PCR buffer, 2.5mM MgCl₂, 12pmoles of both amplification primers, 3µl of 2mM dNTPmix, 5 units of Hot Start Taq DNA polymerase (Fermentas, Inc., Vilnius, Lithuania) and 100ng genomic DNA. The amplification products were digested with MvaI (c.35delG) and BclI (p.M34T) (Fermentas, Inc.) and analysed in agarose gel electrophoresis.

⁴ http://www.bio-rad.com/

4.2.3. Cytogenetic investigation

Cytogenetic investigation was carried out using peripheral blood lymphocyte culture analysis. The chromosomes were prepared from 72-hour cultures and banded by using standard GTG (G bands by Trypsin using Giemsa) banding technique. The chromosomes were classified according to the International System for Human Cytogenetic Nomenclature (ISCN, 1995).

4.2.4. Illumina analysis

In order to detect the copy number changes in the selected patients of Group HL²³³, whole-genome genotyping was performed, using the Illumina HumanCytoSNP-12 version 1.0 BeadChip or Human370CNV-Duo BeadChips (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA⁵).

- 1) Illumina HumanCytoSNP-12 version 1.0 BeadChip includes 301,232 markers that cover the whole genome with median spacing of 6.2 kb, and includes SNPs targeting all regions of known cytogenetic importance.
- 2) HumanCNV370-Duo has coverage of 52,167 markers from 14,000 CNV regions of the genome, with coverage of 90 Mb of DNA. More than 318,000 tag SNP markers have been selected using the International HapMap Project Phase I and II data, so that each HumanCNV370-Duo BeadChip genotypes more than 370,000 loci. The median SNP spacing is 5.0 kb (7.9 kb mean).

The signal intensity (log R ratio) and allelic composition (allelic frequency) of genotyped markers were analyzed with Illumina GenomeStudio version 2009.1 and Illumina KaryoStudio version 1.0.3 software (Illumina, Inc.). In addition, QuantiSNP version 1.0 (Colella *et al.*, 2007) was used to confirm the copy number variations found with Illumina software packages, and also to find new copy number changes.

The found regions were compared with the reference sample-set (1000 population-based samples from Estonia (Nelis *et al.*, 2009) to exclude population specific variations.

4.2.5. Real time PCR analysis

Quantitative PCR (qPCR) study was applied to confirm the detected aberrations and to verify if these are inherited or not. Analysis was performed on a 7900HT Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) using SYBR-Green based detection. Primers were designed using web-based service qRTDesigner 1.2⁶. For confirmation of each aberration, a total of eight primer pairs were designed: four outside the deletion and four within the deleted area. To eliminate non-

⁵ http://www.illumina.com/

⁶ http://bioinfo.ut.ee/gwRTqPCR/

specific variations, such as differences in DNA input amounts or presence of PCR inhibitors, C_t values were normalized using the C_t values of a reference region (from chromosome 1) with a known copy number. Analysis was performed as a relative quantification using the Pfaffl method (Pfaffl, 2001) for calculation.

4.2.6. CMV PCR analysis

DNA was extracted from a Guthrie test card specimen using QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (50) (Cat. No. 51304) using the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen). The CMV copy number was established by Real-Time PCR method using artus CMV Kit CE (Qiagen)⁷.

4.2.7. Statistical analysis

We used the FREQ procedure and Fisher's Exact test of the SAS system, Release 8.2 (Sas Institute, 1999) to analyze the distribution of genotypes among Groups NB and HL^{233} and for the distribution of genotypes in the three regions of Estonia. We used the Maximum Likelihood (ML) to estimate the probability of p.M34T and c.35delG alleles under the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) assumption. On this basis, we calculated the probabilities of different genotypes. Based on the HWE assumption, the observed and expected frequencies of genotypes among Groups NB and HL^{233} with specific symptoms were evaluated. P-values (probability) were calculated using multinomial probability distribution with the ML estimates for allele probabilities in Group HL^{233} and in Group NB's sample.

4.2.8. Ethical considerations

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee on Human Research at the University of Tartu. Informed consent was obtained from the parents or legal guardians of the children, none of whom refused to participate in this study.

⁷ http://www.qiagen.com/

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1. GJB2 gene

5.1.1. Study group of newborn children (Publication I)

We tested blood samples from 998 anonymous Estonian neonates from general population (Group NB). We detected 58 heterozygotes for the p.M34T mutation, and zero p.M34T homozygotes, indicating a carrier frequency of 1:17 (Table 3). We also found 45 heterozygotes and two homozygotes for the c.35delG mutation, giving a carrier frequency 1:22 (Table 3). Two of Group NB were found to be compound heterozygotes for the c.35delG and p.M34T mutations. Using this data, the theoretical prevalence of c.35delG homozygotes by HWE should be 1:1936, and the prevalence of p.M34T homozygotes should be 1:1156. In Group NB, we identified four individuals having pathogenic genotypes (two c.35delG homozygotes and two c.35delG/p.M34T compound heterozygotes). Phenotypically, one of the c.35delG homozygotes had moderate SNHL and the other had severe SNHL. One of the c.35delG/p.M34T compound heterozygotes had mild SNHL; the other did not pass the OAE testing in one ear, but later testing revealed no HI.



Figure 1: The carrier frequency of c.35delG mutation among Estonian children born in the Northern, Western and Southeastern Regions of Estonia in January 2005

Region	Newborns	c.35delG	p.M34T
	screened	heterozygotes	heterozygotes
Northern	608	26	36
Western	111	4	10
South-eastern	279	15	12
Estonia	998	45	58
Heterozygote frequency		1:22	1:17

Table 3: Data of the screening of *GJB2* mutations c.35delG and p.M34T of newborns throughout Estonia in January 2005.

We analyzed the distribution of c.35delG and p.M34T mutation carriers in the three regions of Estonia (Northern, Western, and Southeastern). The highest proportion of c.35delG mutation carriers occurred in Southeastern Estonia (1:19) and the lowest in Western Estonia (1:28), but this difference was not statistically significant (P = 0.98) (Figure 1). The frequency of p.M34T mutation carriers was highest in Western Estonia (1:11) and lowest in Southeastern Estonia (1:23), but this difference was also not significant (P = 0.19) (Figure 2). We also tested for HWE of the genotypes within the general Estonian population. There was no evidence to suggest that the Estonian baby population violates HWE (P > 0.25 and P > 0.4, for c.35delG and p.M34T alleles, respectively).



Figure 2: The carrier frequency of p.M34T mutation among Estonian children born in the Northern, Western and Southeastern Regions of Estonia in January 2005

In our study, the carrier frequency of c.35delG among Group NB was 1:22 (4.5%). This result is in accordance with a previous study by Gasparini *et al.* (2000) (see Table 1) who studied the c.35delG mutation in a total of 3270 unrelated, random subjects from 17 European populations, including Estonians (n=113). The carrier frequency for c.35delG in central and northern Europe varied between 1:200 for France and 1:22.5 for Estonia (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000), which is the highest prevalence found in European populations (Mahdieh and Rabbani, 2009).

The high frequency of the mutant allele c.35delG can be explained by genetic drift. Historically, Estonia has experienced periods with significantly reduced inhabitants, the most recent being at the beginning of the 18^{th} century. There are only limited data available about the carrier rates of c.35delG in countries neighboring Estonia. Nevertheless, (Pastinen *et al.*, 2001) analyzed 2147 people in different regions of Finland, and found the carrier frequency of the c.35delG mutation to be between 1:43 and 1:63. Anichkina *et al.* (2001) investigated 569 individuals from five ethnic groups in Russia for the c.35delG mutation, and found the average carrier frequency to be 1:46.7. There is no published data of the c.35delG carrier frequency for the whole of Russia or Latvia.

The prevalence of the p.M34T mutation in Estonia has not previously been studied. We have found the carrier frequency for p.M34T mutation to be 1:17 (5.9%), which is even higher than the frequency of c.35delG mutation (4.5%). The frequency of the p.M34T allele in Estonia is the highest among European countries (Houseman *et al.*, 2001; Lopponen *et al.*, 2003; Roux *et al.*, 2004) (see also Table 1).

5.1.2. Study group of children with early onset HL (Publication I)

We screened 233 probands with early onset HL (Group HL^{233}) and found 115 patients (49%) with *GJB2* gene mutation on at least one allele (Group HL^{115}). The genotypes of Group HL^{233} are listed in Table 4, and include 73 (31%) who were homozygous for c.35delG mutation, 7 (3%) who were homozygous for the p.M34T mutation, and 5 (2%) who had c.35delG/p.M34T compound heterozygosity. There were 22 c.35delG heterozygous patients, of whom 12 had a mutation other than p.M34T and in 10 the mutation in the other allele remained unidentified (Table 4). Thus, c.35delG may be a coincidental finding as APEX array covers over 99% of mutations which are described in *GJB2* gene (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005), see also Supplementary Table 1, in Publication I.

Genotype	No. of	% of	c.35delG/X	No. of	p.M34T/X	No. of
	cases	cases	genotype	cases	genotype	cases
c.35delG/c.35delG	73	31	p.R143W	4	p.R143W	1
p.M34T/p.M34T	7	3	c3201G>A	4	c3201G>A	1
c.35delG/p.M34T	5	2	c.167delT	1	p.L90P	1
c.35delG/X	22	9.5	c.312del14	2		
p.M34T/X	8	3.5	p.E47X	1		
N/N	118	51	unknown	10	unknown	5
Total	233	100	Total	22	Total	8

Table 4: GJB2 genotypes of 233 Estonian patients (Group HL²³³) with early onset HL

X = other specified mutation in *GJB2* gene, N = normal or no mutation in *GJB2* gene found. "Unknown" denotes either possible mutant alleles other than those explicitly shown in Table 1 or a normal allele.

The mutation found most frequently among patients with early onset HL is c.35delG, which was detected in 173 chromosomes (or 75% of all *GJB2* deafness alleles) (Table 5). The second most common alteration, p.M34T, is significantly less frequent among patients with early onset HL (found in 12% of all *GJB2* deafness alleles). All other *GJB2* mutations were found rarely (0.5–2%) (Table 5).

We screened Group HL^{233} for 107 different mutations in the *GJB2* gene. In 115 of these children, we identified a *GJB2* mutation on at least one allele (Group HL^{115}). The most common mutation, c.35delG, was identified in at least one allele in 100 children. The c.35delG mutation is the main cause of early childhood onset HL in Estonian children, and accounts for 75% of *GJB2* alleles. This proportion is similar to that reported in studies of other Caucasian populations as ranging between 58% and 95% (Zelante *et al.*, 1997; Denoyelle *et al.*, 1999; Janecke *et al.*, 2002; Cryns *et al.*, 2004; Roux *et al.*, 2004; Kalay *et al.*, 2005; Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Putcha *et al.*, 2007; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009a), see also Table 2.

Amongst Group HL^{233} , we found seven children (Group HL^7) who were homozygous for p.M34T (3%), who all had mild HL (Figure 3). The overall incidence of the p.M34T allele among the investigated chromosomes was 5.8%. In our study, we observed that all of Group HL^7 had at least mild HL in the better ear (Figure 3), which supports the first hypothesis that p.M34T mutation is pathogenic. The comparison of frequencies of p.M34T homozygous phenotype between Group HL^7 and the general population confirm this hypothesis as well. Other than c.35delG and p.M34T, we identified six other *GJB2* mutations. We detected p.R143W in five alleles, c.-3201G>A in five alleles, c.312del14 in two alleles, c.167delT in one allele, p.E47X in one allele, and p.L90P in one allele (Tables 4 and 5). In European populations, *GJB2* mutations other than c.35delG are relatively rare (Petersen and Willems, 2006). Whereas the p.R143W mutation is frequent in African populations, it is rare in Caucasian populations (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005). Snoeckx *et al.* (2005) also report that compound heterozygosity for c.35delG/p.R143W results in more severe HL, and that c.35delG/c.-3201G>A results in less severe HL than c.35delG homozygosity. The c.-3201G>A mutation is rarely found (0.75% of all *GJB2* deafness alleles) in Caucasian populations (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005), and was also rare in our study population (2%). Only a few research studies have reported cases of the c.312del14 mutation (Denoyelle *et al.*, 1999; Pandya *et al.*, 2003; Mani *et al.*, 2009).

Table 5: The percentage of mutations in the *GJB2* gene in Estonians with early onset HL (Group HL¹¹⁵); the percentage among *GJB2* deafness alleles among the study group of patients (Group HL²³³)

Mutation	No. of	% of GJB2 deafness	% of allele in Group
	chromosomes	alleles in Group HL ¹¹⁵	HL^{233}
		(230 chromosomes)*	(466 chromosomes)**
c.35delG	173	75	37.1
p.M34T	27	12	5.8
p.R143W	5	2	1.1
c3201G>A	5	2	1.1
c.312del14	2	1	0.4
c.167delT	1	0.5	0.2
p.E47X	1	0.5	0.2
p.L90P	1	0.5	0.2
Unknown	15*/251**	6.5	53.9



Figure 3: Audiograms from seven Estonian children (Group HL^7) with early onset HL found to be homozygous for the p.M34T mutation in the *GJB2* gene.

5.1.3. The genotype and phenotype correlation in patients with GJB2 gene mutations (Publications I and V)

In order to perform a distribution of degree of HL in different biallelic *GJB2* genotypes the severity of HI was defined by the degree of HL in the better ear: average thresholds between 21–40 dB were considered as a mild HI, 41–70 dB as moderate HI, 71–95 dB as severe HI, and greater than 95 dB as profound deafness, see GENDEAF, the European Thematic Network on Genetic Deafness⁸ (Cryns *et al.*, 2004).

The most common phenotype associated with c.35delG homozygosity showed significantly more severe HI with respect to other *GJB2* genotypes (Cryns *et al.*, 2004). A patients group with c.35delG homozygosity is often used as a reference or 'standard' group, because the group is well defined and is present, in most of the reported studies of *GJB2* mutations, as the cause of HI (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005). Therefore in our results the other genotypes of *GJB2* mutations are compared with respect to c.35delG/c.35delG genotype.

Table 6 shows the distribution of the degree of HL in different *GJB2* genotypes in our study, including *GJB2* heterozygotes, where the mutation in second allele was not found. Whereas the APEX assay covers 99.1% of known *GJB2* mutations, we can assume that this finding in children with the *GJB2* heterozygosity was occasional and their HL is caused by other reasons. In one of these children, the 7472insC mutation in mitochondrial *tRNA-Ser* gene was identified, which is responsible for early onset HL (Hutchin *et al.*, 2001).

The most prevalent genotype c.35delG/c.35delG was detected in 73 probands for whom the most frequent degrees of HI were profound (50.7%) of patients, followed by severe HI (27.4%) and moderate (20.6%). We did not find any children with c.35delG homozygosity and mild HL in Group HL^{233} . Our results are in accordance with previous studies, where the majority patients with c.35delG homozygosity have severe and profound HL, some c.35delG homozygotes have only moderate HL, and in a few patients the HL is only mild (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). The absence of mild HL in Estonian children with c.35delG homozygosity may be due to small size of the study group.

⁸ http://www.gendeaf.org

Genotype	No of	No (%)	No (%) of	No (%) of	No (%) of	No (%) of
Genotype	cases (%)	of cases	cases with	cases with	cases with	cases with
	euses (, e)	with	moderate	severe HL	profound	unspecified
		mild HL	HL	severe me	HL	HL
c.35delG/c.35delG	73 (31.3)	_	15 (21.9)	20 (27.4)	37 (50.7)	_
p.M34T/p.M34T	7 (3.0)	7 (100)	-	_	_	_
c.35delG/p.M34T	5 (2.2)	1(20)	2 (40)	_	1(20)	1(20)
c.35delG/p.R143W	4 (1.7)	_	_	_	4 (100)	_
c.35delG/c	4 (1.7)	1 (25)	_	2 (50)	_	1 (25)
3201G>A						
c.35delG/c.312_	2	-	-	2 (100)	_	_
325del14						
c.35delG/c.167delT	1	-	-	1(100)	-	-
c.35delG/p.E47X	1	-	1(100)	-	-	-
c.35delG/ -	9 (3.9)	2 (22.2)	1(11.1)	1(11.1)	3 (33.3)	2 (22.2)
c.35delG/ - *	1	_	-	—	—	1(100)
p.M34T/p.R143W	1	_	1(100)	—	—	-
p.M34T/ c3201G>A	1	-	-	1(100)	-	_
p.M34T/p.L90P	1	1(100)	_	_	_	_
p.M34T/ -	4 (1.7)	_	2(50)	_	1(25)	1(25)
p.M34T/ - **	1	1(100)	_	_	_	_

Table 6: Degree of HL for patients with *GJB2* mutations (n=233)

*HL is due to mitochondrial mutation 7472insC in *tRNA-Ser* gene **HL is due to congenital CMV

While the effect of the p.M34T mutation continues to be debated, we found seven children with HL and p.M34T homozygosity (Group HL⁷). Most patients with p.M34T/p.M34T genotype have mild HL (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005) and indeed all the children in Group HL⁷ had mild HL. Figure 3 shows the audiogram profiles of Group HL⁷, the shapes of which, despite the entire group having mild HL, are significantly different. The detailed description of their phenotype appears in Table 7.

The compound heterozygotes for c.35delG and p.M34T showed different degrees of HL among five patients (see Figure 4). One patient had mild HL, two had moderate and one had profound HL; the degree of HL in one patient with c.35delG/p.M34T genotype was not specified. Patients with p.M34T/p.M34T genotype have milder HL compared to individuals with c.35delG/p.M34T genotype (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005), but in our study there were only small group of children with these genotypes. We found three more compound heterozygotes for p.M34T – mutations p.R143W (c.427C>T), c.-3201G>A (IVS1+G>A) and p.L90P (c.269T>C) in the second allele.

Table 7: Degree and type of HL and audiogram profiles for seven patients (Group HL^7) with p.M34T/p.M34T genotype

No	Degree of HL	Type of HL	Profile of audiogram
1	Normal hearing through 3 kHz with a	Sensorineuralis	High-frequency
	moderate to severe high frequency HL		
2*	Mild to moderate	Mixed	U-shaped
3	Mild	Sensorineuralis	Flat
4	Mild to moderate	Sensorineuralis	U-shaped
5	Mild	Sensorineuralis	High frequencies gently
			sloping
6	Right: mild HL through 4 kHz with a	Sensorineuralis	Descending
	moderate at the high frequencies		
	Left: mild HL through 1 kHz with a		
	moderate at the high frequencies		
7	Right: severe to profound	Sensorineuralis	Right: U-shaped
	Left: mild HL through 3 kHz with high		Left: high frequency
	frequency sensorineuralis deficit		

* mixed HL is not characteristic to *GJB2* related HL; in this case the conductive component is due to recurrent purulent otitis complications.

The c.35delG/p.R143W genotype is one of few genotypes giving significantly greater HI than the c.35delG/c.35delG reference group, based on data of 10 patients from a group of 1531 (0.65%) (Snoeckx et al., 2005). In our study group we found four children (1.7%) with compound heterozygosity for c.35delG and p.R143W, all of whom had profound HL similar to the patients in Snoeckx et al's study. We found also four children with c.35delG/c.-3201G>A genotype, who had less HL compared to c.35delG/c.35delG genotype. Among the c.35delG heterozygotes, we found three more GJB2 mutations in the second allele: c.312 325del14 (312del14), c.167delT (p.L56fs) and p.E47X (c.139G> T). The mutation c.167delT has been reported among Ashkenazi Jews (Morell et al., 1998). The p.E47X is mutation occurs in Caucasian populations in 1.4% of all GJB2 deafness alleles, (Snoeckx et al., 2005), but in Group HL²³³ only one patient (0.4%) had p.E47X. The 312del14 mutation is rarely reported, and there are only a few cases in research reports (Denoyelle et al., 1999; Pandya et al., 2003; Mani et al., 2008). Nevertheless, we did find two probands with compound heterozygosity for c.35delG and c.312 325del14.



Figure 4: Audiograms from four children with early onset HL found to be compound heterozygous for c.35delG and p.M34T mutations in the *GJB2* gene.

5.2. GJB3 and GJB6 gene (Publications I and V)

Two large deletions in the *GJB6* gene, del(GJB6-D13S1830) and del(GJB6-D13S1854), are usually found in compound heterozygosity with a *GJB2* coding mutation and cause HL that is significantly worse than most other *GJB2* mutations, possibly because expression of both copies of *GJB2* and one copy of *GJB6* is abolished (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). The del(*GJB6*-D13S1830) deletion is the second most frequent genetic cause of nonsyndromic prelingual HL, after the 35delG mutation in *GJB2*, in Spain's population (del Castillo et al., 2002). We did not found any children with *GJB6* mutations in Group HL²³³. However, the del(GJB6-D13S1830) mutation is the most frequent in Spain, France, the United Kingdom, Israel, and Brazil (5.0–9.7% of all DFNB1 alleles); occurs less frequently in the USA, Belgium, and Australia (1.3–4.5% of all DFNB1 alleles) (Del Castillo *et al.*, 2003; Marlin *et al.*, 2005), and has not yet been found in Austria, Turkey, or China (del Castillo *et al.*, 2005). Nevertheless, patients with HL should be tested for *GJB2* mutations.

Mutations in the *GJB3* gene have been pathologically linked to nonsyndromic autosomal dominant or recessive HL and erythrokeratoderma variabilis without HL (Richard *et al.*, 1998; Alexandrino *et al.*, 2004; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). We investigated Group HL²³³ for five mutations in the *GJB3* gene: two autosomal dominant (R180X, E183K) and three autosomal recessive mutations (141del Ile, I141V and P223T). We did not find any occurrences of *GJB3* mutations in our study among the patients with HL – it shows a low prevalence of mutations in the *GJB3* gene occurs in Estonia. Mutations in *GJB3* have originally been reported as the cause of autosomal dominant non-syndromic HL (DFNA2) in Chinese patients (Xia *et al.*, 1998) and also among patients with to autosomal recessive nonsyndromic HL (Liu *et al.*, 2000). Variations in the *GJB3* gene have also been linked to nonsyndromic HL in Brazilian patients (Alexandrino *et al.*, 2004). A previous study shows that whereas mutations in the *GJB3* gene are cause of HL in Chinese population, their prevalence is non-existent or extremely low in European populations and Caucasians in general (Liu *et al.*, 2009).

5.3. Two mitochondrial genes (12S rRNA and tRNA-Ser) (Publication V)

Among Group HL^{233} we found two patients (0.9%) whose HL is caused by a mutation in the mitochondrial DNA.

The first patient was 10 years old and had the mutation m.1555A>G in the mitochondrial *12S r-RNA* gene (Patient^{M1}). Patient^{M1} had had two weeks of treatment in the neonatal intensive care unit due to respiratory distress. Unfortunately data about the treatment were not made available. Patient^{M1}had moderate bilateral SNHL (Figure 5). The second patient referred to genetic consultation at the age of two years and had a family history for deafness in three generations (Patient^{M2}). Patient^{M2}'s HL was diagnosed at the age of one year by using subjective investigation visual reinforcement audiometry and the HL degree was mild-to-moderate. Patient^{M2}'s HL was caused by the mutation 7472insC in the mitochondrial serine *tRNA-Ser* gene, but Patient^{M2} had profound HL; the mother had 7472insC mutation in mitochondrial serine *tRNA-Ser* gene, and the father was c.35delG homozygote in *GJB2* gene.



Figure 5: Audiogram from Patient^{M1} with moderate bilateral SNHL and the mutation m.1555A>G in mitochondrial *12S r-RNA* gene

The mutation m.1555A>G is the most common mitochondrial mutation associated with HL, found in many families worldwide (Prezant *et al.*, 1993; Usami *et al.*, 1997; Estivill *et al.*, 1998b; Li *et al.*, 2004; Jacobs *et al.*, 2005; Young *et al.*, 2005; Mkaouar-Rebai *et al.*, 2010). The mutation m.1555A>G can be found in 0.6–2.5% of the Caucasian clinical population with nonsyndromic SNHL (Xing *et al.*, 2007). SNHL for this mutation may be triggered by the use of aminoglycosides, and may also occur without exposure to these drugs (Van Camp and Smith, 2000; Xing *et al.*, 2007). The penetrance of mutation m.1555A>G differs between families; in the absence of aminoglycosides, the clinical phenotype may be variable even among family members (Prezant *et al.*, 1993; Estivill *et al.*, 1998b; Xing *et al.*, 2007). We found only one patient with the mutation m.1555A>G and the mutation's characteristically low HL among Group HL²³³. Nevertheless, there may be carriers of the m.1555A>G mutation among adults with late onset HL, but because genetic HL is thought to be early onset and severe or profound they are rarely referred to genetic consultation for their HL.

The mutation 7472insC in the *tRNA-Ser* gene occurs more frequently in European populations than others (Hutchin *et al.*, 2001). Most individuals carrying mutation 7472insC have progressive SNHL, accompanied occasionally by one of a variety of widespread neurological diseases including ataxia, dysarthria, and myoclonic seizures (Xing *et al.*, 2007). The 7472insC mutation alone is usually sufficient to cause HL, and when present in very high levels can also lead to neurological dysfunction (Hutchin *et al.*, 2001; Xing *et al.*, 2007). However, Jacobs *et al.* (2005) have found two cases in patients with 7472insC mutation and SNHL as the only feature. In Group HL²³³ we found one child with 7472insC mutation in *tRNA-Ser* gene. Neurological symptoms in a patient and their mother with profound HL and carrying the same mutation are not known, therefore we can not state whether or not the 7472insC mutation, without neurological signs, is the cause of HL in this family.

5.4. SLC26A5 (prestin) gene (Publication II)

The study group consisted of 194 Estonian children with HL (Group $HL^{194/08}$), as we summarized and published the data of the *SLC26A5* gene analyses in 2008.

We identified a heterozygous IVS2–2A>G change in the *SLC26A5* gene in four of Group HL^{194/08} (2.1%) with early onset HL and in five of 68 family members (Table 8). We did not find any homozygosity for this splice variant in the probands or in their family members. We described those nine individuals from five different families.

No	Family, patient	Age	Hearing status	Genotype
1	Family 1, I-2*	25 years	Normal hearing	Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
				<i>SLC26A5</i>
				Heterozygous IVS1+1G>A
				mutation in GJB2 gene
2	Family 2, mother	28 years	Severe HL	Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
			since 5 years of age	SLC26A5
3	Family 2,	3 years	Normal hearing	Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
	daughter			<i>SLC26A5</i>
4	Family 3, son	17 years	Early onset severe	Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
			HL	SLC26A5
5	Family 4, III-2**	4	Early onset severe	Homozygous mutation
		months	HL	c.35delG in GJB2 gene
				Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
				<i>SLC26A5</i>
6	Family 4, II-2**	32 years	Normal hearing	Heterozygous mutation
				c.35delG in GJB2 gene
				Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
				SLC26A5
7	Family 4, I-2**	53 years	Normal hearing	Heterozygous mutation
				c.35delG in GJB2 gene
				Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
				SLC26A5
8	Family 5, son	2 years	Early onset	Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
	with Down		moderate HL	<i>SLC26A5</i>
	syndrome			
9	Family 5, father	46 years	Normal hearing	Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G in
	1		1	SLC26A5

Table 8: Heterozygous IVS2–2A>G change in the *SLC26A5* gene in four probands and five family members

I.I. Family I

In this family there are two children with severe HL. A clinical geneticist evaluated and screened the two children with the APEX microarray. In both children, compound heterozygous mutations in the *GJB2* gene, which encodes connexin 26, were present. Their genotype was c.35delG/IVS1+1G>A. The parents were also tested and received an audiology evaluation as well. Mild HL and compound heterozygosity for mutations c.35delG and V37I in the *GJB2* gene was established in the mother. The 25-year-old father has normal hearing, and carried IVS1+G>A in the *GJB2* gene and IVS2–2A>G in the *SLC26A5* gene (Figure 6).



Figure 6: The pedigree for Family 1.

I.2. Family 2

The adult proband in this family is affected with severe HL. After acute tonsillitis at the age of five years the parents noticed that their child had HI. Hearing problems in earlier years had not been noticed. The HL has been progressive. This individual has a three-year-old daughter, who has normal hearing. Both mother and daughter are heterozygous for IVS2–2A>G in the *SLC26A5* gene.

I.3. Family 3

The proband in this family had severe, early onset SNHL, but was only evaluated by a clinical geneticist at the age of 17 years (Table 8). APEX screening identified only one heterozygous nucleotide change: IVS2-2A>G in the *SLC26A5* gene. The parents were not available for testing.

I.4. Family 4

The proband of this family did not pass the neonatal hearing screening tests by transient evoked OAE. HL was definitively diagnosed at the age of four months. Using the APEX microarray we determined that the patient was homozygous for mutation c.35delG in the *GJB2* gene. In addition, IVS2-2A>G in the *SLC26A5* gene was detected (Figure 7, III-2). In this case HL is clearly explained by homozygosity for the c.35delG mutation, which causes a frameshift and is one of the most common and unambiguously pathogenic

mutations in the *GJB2* gene (Estivill *et al.*, 1998). The proband's mother (II-3) was heterozygous for c.35delG and the father (II-2) was heterozygous for the mutations c.35delG in the *GJB2* gene and for IVS2–2A>G in *SLC26A5*. The father is 32 years old and has normal hearing. He has one brother with early onset HL. The brother was homozygous for c.35delG. As expected, the paternal grandparents each carried the c.35delG allele. The 53 year-old paternal grandmother (I-2) also carried the IVS2–2A>G change in *SLC26A5*. She had no clinical complaints about her hearing.



Figure 7: The pedigree for Family 4

1.5. Family 5

The proband in the fifth family was a two-year-old boy with Down syndrome and early-onset moderate HL. This patient's HL may be associated with Down syndrome. We identified the IVS2–2A>G change in the *SLC26A5* gene and tested the parents with the APEX array, as well. The 46-year-old father was also heterozygous for IVS2–2A>G and his hearing is, by history, normal.

In our study we applied the APEX microarray method to patients with HL. In four probands (2.1%) of Group HL^{194/08}, we identified a heterozygous IVS2– 2A>G change in the *SLC26A5* gene (Prestin gene). One of these probands, however, is also homozygous for the c.35delG mutation in the *GJB2* gene and a second patient has Down syndrome, which is also associated with HI. Therefore, in those two cases, the etiology of HL is probably not associated with the IVS2–2A>G sequence change in the *SLC26A5* gene. This change is likely to be coincidental. Based on patients and findings we can conclude that the mutation does not seem to be a dominant one. In other words, carrying one copy of this mutation does not cause HL. A more likely reason is that *SLC26A5* mutations are inherited in an autosomal recessive way and that two mutations are necessary for a phenotype to occur.

There are only two research papers about the IVS2–2A>G mutation in *SLC26A5* gene in humans (Liu *et al.*, 2003; Tang *et al.*, 2005). Liu *et al.* (2003) studied 220 probands and identified two who were homozygous for IVS2–2A>G and seven who were heterozygous (3.2%). The degree of HL was highly variable and the onset of HL is heterozygous for IVS2–2A>G in ages ranging from birth to 35 years (Liu *et al.*, 2003). In Group HL^{194/08}, we found five individuals aged 3, 25, 32, 46 and 53 years old with IVS2–2A>G mutation, all of whom presently have normal hearing.

Tang *et al.* (2005) identified the heterozygous IVS2–2A>G mutations in 4 of 74 HI subjects of Caucasian, Hispanic or uncertain ethnicity (5.4%) and 4 of 150 controls (2.7%); they did not identify any homozygous subjects. Only one of the four HI carriers reported a history of HL in a parent. These data suggest that heterozygosity may not, by itself, be sufficient to cause HL.

In addition to the IVS2–2A>G mutation, the c.449G>A (R150Q) missense mutation in the *SLC26A5* gene has been recently described to be potentially associated with mild to moderate non-syndromic HL (Toth *et al.*, 2007). These two mutations in *SLC26A5* are, so far, the only ones with potential clinical importance. Surprisingly, there are also no entries of the coding for single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) in the *SLC26A5* gene in the *Entrez Gene* database⁹.

We cannot fully exclude that due to the methodological limitations of previous studies, some alterations in the *SLC26A5* gene have been missed. In their initial study, (Liu *et al.*, 2003) used an indirect method, single-stranded conformation polymorphism (SSCP), to discover mutations. The second study focused only on the sequencing of the known splice acceptor site where the IVS2–2A>G mutation is located (Tang *et al.*, 2005). Thus full gene sequencing may provide more mutations and insights into the contribution of the SLC26A5 gene to the etiology of SNHL in humans.

In mice, research shows that the targeted deletion of the *SLC26A5* gene reduces cochlear sensitivity (Liberman *et al.*, 2002) and eliminates both frequency selectivity and OHC somatic electromotility (Cheatham *et al.*, 2004). Cheatham *et al.* (2005) also studied the cochlear function in mice with only one copy of the *SLC26A5* gene, but in contrast to Liberman *et al.* (2002) their results show near normal cochlear physiology and protein levels in adolescent heterozygous mice, which seems to imply that a single copy of the mutated prestin gene does not cause HL. Liu *et al.* (2003) have also studied alternative splicing of *SLC26A5* mRNA. Their results show the presence of at least four distinct isoforms, differing in the exons located in 3' region of the gene. In all the known isoforms, protein coding starts in exon 3. *In silico*, Tang *et al.* (2005)

⁹ http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

have predicted the presence of five additional splice acceptor sites in the second intron of the *SLC26A5* gene. None of the mRNA isoforms using these alternative splice sites have been described so far. Still, low-levels of mRNA from mutated alleles might partially explain the ambiguity of the results of the clinical importance of IVS2–2A>G mutation in previously published papers, as well as in our study.

A slightly similar discrepancy exists between the predicted and actual clinical severity of the known IVS1+1G>A splice donor site mutation of the *GJB2* gene. None of the functional mRNA should be present with both the truncating c.35delG mutation and the splice site IVS1+1G>A mutations. Despite this, the phenotype of c.35delG/IVS1+1G>A compound heterozygotes is significantly less severe, compared to c.35delG homozygotes (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005). In the *GJB2* gene, ATG is located in the exon 2 and the splice site mutation of the 5' noncoding exon appears to preserve low-level functioning of the gene.

In conclusion, we can say that in 2.1% of investigated individuals with early onset HL in Estonia, we found heterozygous IVS2–2A>G mutation in the *SLC26A5* gene. We did not identify any homozygous individuals for this sequence change among Group HL^{194/08}. Our data supports the hypothesis that heterozygosity for the IVS2–2A>G mutation in the *SLC26A5* gene may not be, by itself, sufficient to cause HL. Further studies are needed to clarify and refine the IVS2–2A>G allele frequencies in various ethnic groups and examine the role of the IVS2–2A>G nucleotide substitution, as well as other SLC26A5 changes, in HL.

5.5. SLC26A4 (pendred) gene (Publication V)

We found five patients from Group HL^{233} with heterozygous mutation in *SLC26A4* gene and their genotype and phenotype are shown in Table 9.

 Table 9: Patients with heterozygous mutations in SLC26A4 gene: their age, genotype and phenotype.

No.	Age	Mutation in SLC26A4 gene	Degree of HL	Localisation
1	10 years	L597S / -	profound	unilateral
2	2 years	L597S / -	severe	bilateral
3*	8 years	F335L / -	profound	bilateral
4	1 year	L597S / -	unspecified	bilateral
5**	1 year	R409H / -	unspecified	unspecified

* Patient also has heterozygous mutation p.M34T in *GJB2* gene

** Patient also has heterozygous mutation c.35delG in GJB2 gene

Mutations in *SLC26A4* gene are the second most frequent cause of autosomal recessive nonsyndromic HL (ARNSHL). The associated phenotypic spectrum ranges from PDS at one extreme to isolated nonsyndromic HL with enlarged vestibular aqueduct at the other (DFNB4 locus) (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). To date, more than 150 *SLC26A4* mutations have been identified in patients with PDS, DFNB4 or enlarged aqueduct (Kopp *et al.*, 2008; Anwar *et al.*, 2009). The most prevalent mutations tend to be specific to one or a few related ethnic groups (Park *et al.*, 2003; Tsukamoto *et al.*, 2003; Guo *et al.*, 2008). In northern Europe, four mutations (L236P, T416P, E384G and IVS8+1G>A) are found quite frequently (Coyle *et al.*, 1998; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). It can be challenging to distinguish between PDS and nonsyndromic HL with EVA because the goiter phenotype is usually not seen until adolescence and in some families, affected siblings can be discordant for thyroid disease (Reardon *et al.*, 2000; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b).

As the five children in HL^{233} have the heterozygous mutation in *SLC26A4* gene only in one allele and we cannot link those findings with the children's HL. Therefore we could not confirm any HL caused by mutations in *SLC26A4* gene.

5.6. Syndromic HL (Publication V)

The main aim of our study was to investigate the genetic causes of early onset non-syndromic HL. We selected individuals, preferably children, with non-syndromic HL, with the view of following testing with an APEX assay. However, after careful clinical investigation, syndromic HL was clinically suspected in seven (3%) of Group HL^{233} and in some syndromic HL was also confirmed. The genetic dysmorphic syndromes diagnosed in these seven children (Group HL^{S}) are shown in Table 10.

Syndromic HI may account for up to 30% of pre-lingual deafness, but its relative contribution to all deafness is much smaller, reflecting the occurrence and diagnosis of post-lingual HL (Smith and Van Camp, 2007). Though many syndromes such as WS, US, and Jervell and Lange-Nielsen are noted in textbooks as being quite common in the population with HL, in reality these syndromes represent a small proportion of this total population (Billings and Kenna, 1999; Kenna *et al.*, 2001). Billings and Kenna studied 301 children with HL, of whom known syndromes were identified in 12.3% patients (Billings and Kenna, 1999).

Syndrome	No. of	Degree of HL	Type of HL
	patients		
Waardenburg syndrome II type	1	severe	bilateralis sensorineuralis
Waardenburg syndrome II type	1	moderate	bilateralis sensorineuralis
Stickler syndrome II type	1	moderate	bilateralis sensorineuralis
Klippel-Feili syndrome	1	severe	bilateralis sensorineuralis
Kearns-Sayre syndrome	1	moderate	bilateralis sensorineuralis
Usher syndrome	1	moderate	bilateralis sensorineuralis
Goldenhar syndrome	1	mild	bilateralis conductive

Table 10: The syndromic HL among Estonian children (Group HL^S)

Genetic dysmorphic syndromes have a broad spectrum of symptoms, which can diagnosed by clinical evaluation but for which confirmation by DNA analysis is not possible. We were able, after extensive clinical examination and exclusion of all other common etiological factors for early onset HL, to diagnose the genetic syndromes of Group HL^S. We diagnosed two patients with WS II type and one patient each with Stickler syndrome II type and US, which are the most prevalent syndromes in patients with HL. WS has a broad spectrum of symptoms and is, therefore, clinically difficult to distinguish common familial pigmentary abnormalities without HL from the WS II type. We had a few more patients with suspicions of WS and BOR syndromes, but their clinical features were very mildly expressed, which made even a clinical diagnosis difficult. We found only one patient with US. The absence of US in Group HL²³³ is probably due to the relatively late development after the age of ten years of one of Usher's most important symptoms, pigmentretinitis. Patients in Group HL²³³ were referred for genetic consultations at earlier ages and therefore the etiology of their HL remained unknown.

We excluded from Group HL²³³ a patient who was referred for genetic consultation due to HL and a suspicion of LS. Although the HL diagnosis was not later confirmed, and at the moment the patient does not have HL, the LS diagnosis was confirmed by DNA analysis. This patient is described in section 5.6.1.

5.6.1. LEOPARD syndrome – case report (Publication IV)

Our patient was 4 year-old boy, who was referred to genetic consultation due to a suspicion of LS. At the age of 3 years HL was suspected, but the degree of HL was not determined. The patient was the only child in this family. Patient was born at term with a birth weight of 3220 g and birth length of 49 cm. Psychomotor development in the patient's first year was normal. At the age of 4 years, his height and weight were both in the 25th percentile and his head circumference was in the 50th percentile. His psychomotor development was according to his age. The mothers' main complaint was the child's hyperactive behaviour. The patient had a facial phenotype with a prominent forehead; he had a short

neck and a wide torso. Lentigines had been present at birth, but their intensive growth began at the age of 2–4 years. Multiple dark lentigines (>50) were located mainly on the face and the upper part of the torso; the oral mucosa was spared. Cardiac investigation showed mild mitral valve insufficiency. Molecular analysis revealed Y279C mutation in *PTPN11* gene. A secondary (repeat) investigation for identifying HL showed normal hearing. The suspicion of HL at the younger age was probably due to the hyperactive behaviour and faulty collaboration in investigations. As the patient did not have HL, we excluded him from our study group. This patient is described in detail in Publication IV.

This case is good example of the complicated diagnostics of syndromal HL when HL, on of the main symptoms, is missing. However, the patient will be followed for possible future HL. In this case, we had the opportunity to confirm the diagnosis of LS by DNA analysis. Had we had to rely on a clinical diagnosis, with the absence of HL, we would not have confirmed the LS diagnosis on clinical grounds only.

5.7. Chrosomal rearrangements

5.7.1. Results of regular karyotyping (Publication V)

Among Group HL^{233} , chromosomal analysis was conducted for 55 (23.6%) patients (Group HL^{55}). The indication for chromosomal analysis was decided during clinical evaluation by a clinical geneticist. The four chromosomal abnormalities diagnosed in Group HL^{55} by regular karyotyping are shown in Table 11.

Table 11	: The	chromo	somal a	bnormalities	found	in	regular	karyotyping	in	children
with HL (Group	o HL ⁵⁵) a	nd addi	tional medica	l proble	ems	s or sym	ptoms		

No.	Karyotype	Degree of HL	Type of HL
1	46,XY,t(2;7)(q21;q32)	unspecified	unspecified
2	46,XY,t(3;8)(q25;q24.1)	moderate	bilateral sensorineuralis
3	46,XY,t(6;7)(p21.1;q36)	moderate	bilateral sensorineuralis
4	47,XY,+21 Down syndrome	moderate	bilateral sensorineuralis

We had one patient with Down syndrome in Group HL^{55} . The parents were referred to genetic consultation in order to learn the recurrence risk for isolated HL for future children. We performed the APEX analysis and identified the IVS2–2A>G change in the *SLC26A5* gene. However, the patient's HL may be associated with Down syndrome. See Section 5.4, *Family 5* for more detail and Publication II (Family 5) for the exact detail.

In the three patients of Group HL⁵⁵ who had a balanced chromosomal aberration, we performed CMA using Human370CNV-Duo BeadChips to detect submicroscopic chromosomal rearrangements in the breakpoint region; we did not find any abnormalities. A search in the Hereditary Hearing Loss Homepage (Van Camp and Smith, 2008) showed some loci for autosomal dominant HL – DFNA, located to the broken chromosomal region in two patients.

The first patient in Table 11 had karyotype 46,XY,t(2;7)(q21;q32); and DFNA50 is located to region 7q32, the gene is unknown (Modamio-Hoybjor *et al.*, 2004). The third patient in Table 11 had karyotype 46,XY,t(6;7)(p21.1;q36); DFNA13 is located to 6p21 and the gene is *COL11A2* (Brown *et al.*, 1997; McGuirt *et al.*, 1999), DFNA21 to 6p21 (Kunst *et al.*, 2000) and DFNA31 to 6p21.3 (Snoeckx *et al.*, 2004) – in last two loci, the genes are not known. However, the patients may have some rearrangements in the breakpoints, but any relevant studies are not available for us at the present, therefore the possible changes are not detectable and not known to us. Further studies are needed for these three patients with chromosomal translocations.

5.7.2. Results of genome array analysis

Finally we selected out 24 patients who, in addition to early onset HL, had subtle facial dysmorphism, and either or both a failure to thrive and developmental or behavioral problems. In order to detect copy number changes in selected patients, we performed CMA. We found three potentially pathogenic regions in three separate patients with the loss of one allele. All the findings with potentially clinical significance were confirmed by qPCR analysis.

The data of one patient (Case 4) from a previous research study (Puusepp, 2009), was added to this section (see 5.7.2.2) as this patient was further investigated to find out the exact etiology of his phenotype as a part of this study.

5.7.2.1. Case 1

A 8.5-year-old girl (A-7364): she has mild SNHL and a peculiar facial phenotype – palpebral fissures slant up, hypertelorism, prominent glabella, broad nasal bridge, hypoplastic alae nasi, cupid bow shape mouth, high palate and dysmorphic ears (Figure 8a, b). She has moderate mental retardation. At the age of 2 years mild supravalvular pulmonary stenosis was diagnosed. Family history: there is no occurrence of HL or dysmorphism in the other members of this family. However, her three siblings have mild developmental problems; three other siblings are presently normal.



Figure 8: (**a**, **b**) a facial phenotype of Case 1 (A-7364); (**c**, **d**) a facial phenotype of Case 2 (A-4140); (**e**, **f**) a facial phenotype of Case 3 (A-3925).

CMA identified ~2.94-Mb size deletion in chromosomal region 12q13.3-q14.1 (55604593–58543784 bp), which probably occurred *de novo* (Figure 9a). The positions (bp) of primers for qPCR validation analysis of 12q deletion are given in Figure 10a. This deletion was not found in her mother. The father was not available for investigation.



Figure 9: (a) CMA results of Case 1 (A-7364) with 12q13.3-q14.1 microdeletion (\sim 2.94-Mb size); (b) CMA results of the case 2 (A-4140) with 3p26.2 microdeletion (\sim 0.74-Mb size); (c) CMA results of the case 3 (A-3925) with 1p33 microdeletion (\sim 0.54-Mb size).

Nonsyndromic autosomal dominant HL locus, DFNA48 is located to chromosome 12q13-q14 (D'Adamo *et al.*, 2003). The *MYO1A* gene, which is located within DFNA48 locus, is the first myosin I family member found to be involved in causing HL. Donaudy *et al.* (2003) identified one nonsense and six missense mutations in *MYO1A* gene in unrelated patients who were affected by SNHL of variable degree, usually ranging from moderate to severe but never profound. In some families the autosomal-dominant pattern of transmission with either or both variable penetrance and expression was documented. The *MYO1A* gene has a cochlear expression and is considered to play a major role in hair-cell function (Donaudy *et al.*, 2003). Therefore we can conclude that the haploinsufficiency of the *MYO1A* gene is responsible for the development of SNHL in our patient 1.



Figure 10: Positions (bp) of primers for qPCR validation analysis (**a**) Case 1 (A-7364), (**b**) Case 2 (a-4140) and (**c**) Case 3 (A-3925).

There are numerous genes located in the deleted area 12q13.3-q14.1, therefore, it is very complicated to say which of them could contribute to the development of MR and pulmonary stenosis in the patient 1. Menten *et al.* (2007) reported a new 12q14 microdeletion syndrome causing short stature, MR and osteopoikilosis. However, the causative microdeletion is located more distally and has no overlap with one found in our patient 1. However, there are two cases

reported in Decipher Database¹⁰, who had larger deletion in this region and in one case with deletion 12q13.3-q14.2 a similar heart anomaly – pulmonary stenosis is also reported.

5.7.2.2. Case 2

A 10-year-old girl (A-4140): she has mild SNHL, failure to thrive (-2 SD) and a mildly dysmorphic face – small eyes, upslanted palpebral fissures, high palate, protruding ears (Figures 8c, 8d). In addition mild thorax deformation, long fingers and long toes were also noted.



Figure 11: Audiograms from (a) Case 2 (A-4140) and (b) her mother; (c) Case 3 (A3925).

¹⁰ https://decipher.sanger.ac.uk/application/

SNHL was diagnosed at the age of 5 years. She had normal hearing sensitivity on the low and middle frequencies and severe HL at high frequency in the right ear; mild deficits at low and middle frequencies and severe-to-profound hearing deficits at high frequency in the left ear (Figure 11a). The patient initially went to a regular school, but after one year she left to attend a school for children with the special needs of hearing and speech.

Family history: Patient's mother also has a hearing deficit, which developed in adult age. She has bilateral steeply sloping (mild to severe) SNHL (Figure 11b). The hearing of the patient's father was normal.

CMA was identified ~0.74-Mb size deletion in 3p26.2 region (2861527– 3602205 bp), which she inherited from her father (Figure 9b). The positions (bp) of primers for qPCR validation analysis of 3p deletion are given in Figure 10b.

CMA identified ~0.74-Mb size deletion in 3p26.2 region (2.86-3.6 Mb) in patient 2, which she inherited from her father. To date, no genetic locus in the 3p25-pter region has been linked to dominant or recessive HL in humans (Van Camp and Smith, 2010). However, bilateral SNHL has been found in some but not all cases of 3p- syndrome, suggesting the possibility that it is due to loss of a critical gene in band 3p25 (McCullough et al., 2007). This critical area can be even 3p26.3-p25, as only one case among seven analyzed by McCullogh et al. (2007) had no deletion in area 3p26.3 by marker analysis. ATP2B2 gene (ATPase, Ca++ transporting, plasma membrane, 2) was located in 3p26-p25 region. Functional genomic analysis of the mouse homolog, Atp2b2, has demonstrated its possible role in hearing: mice heterozygous for a functional null Atp2b2 allele show moderate, bilateral SNHL - a hearing phenotype similar to that seen in 3p- patients (McCullough and Tempel, 2004). It has not been shown to cause human HL, but was shown to have modifier effect, increasing the severity of HL caused in the first instance by mutations in other genes such as autosomal-dominant MYO6 gene or autosomal-recessive CDH23 gene (Schultz et al., 2005; McCullough et al., 2007). The precise localization of ATP2B2 gene is not known, presently its location is assumed very near to the deleted area in our patient 2 at NCBI¹¹. Therefore, is possible that the autosomal-dominant HL in this patient and her mother is caused by the mutation in some other autosomal-dominant gene (for example MYO6 gene). but the haploinsufficiency of ATP2B2 gene causes more severe clinical phenotype in the patient 2 in comparison to her mother.

3p deletion syndrome is a rare contiguous-gene disorder and characterized by developmental delay, growth retardation, and dysmorphic features (Schinzel, 2001). The majority of distal 3p deltions are terminal deletions, only very few interstitial deletions are described (Shuib *et al.*, 2009). Our patient 2 had growth retardation, dysmorphic facial features and mild SNHL, but normal mental development. It has been suggested that loss of *CNTN4* and *CRBN* gene contributes to MR in 3p- syndrome cases (Dijkhuizen *et al.*, 2006). Fernandez *et al.* (2004) demonstrated disruption of a single copy of *CNTN4* is sufficient to

¹¹ http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

confer key aspects of the 3p deletions syndrome phenotype, including developmental delay. In our patient 2 both those gene are partially or totally deleted, but she has normal mental development. Moreover, her father who is also carrying this deletion, is normal too. Therefore, we assume that defects of some other genes in 3p25-p26 region should play a causative role in the etiology of MR. Our assumption is supported by Roohi *et al.* (2009) who showed that loss of *CNTN4* is not sufficient to cause a 3p deletion syndrome phenotype but, in combination with other autistic susceptibility alleles, could contribute to autistic spectrum disorders. Shuib *et al.* (2009) have recently suggested that *SRGAP3* gene may be the major determinant of MR on 3p deletion syndrome. Another explanation is variable penetrance of 3p deletions, which creates challenges in genetic counseling, as it was described by Pohjola *et al.* (2010) and as we saw in our case.

5.7.2.3. Case 3

A 10-year-old boy: in his first year, he was investigated in a children's neurology unit on several occasions due to delayed psychomotor development. Additionally, he had muscular hypotonia and paresis of *n. facialis* on the right side. At the age of 11 months bilateral profound SNHL was diagnosed (Figure 11c). At the age of 6 years our examination revealed a mildly dysmorphic face – downslanted palpebral fissures, widely spaced teeth, small mouth and thin upper lip (Figures 8e, 8f). Other dysmorphic features were lentigines, fifth finger clinodactyly, sandal gap, the clinodactyly of the toes, joints laxity and inverted nipples. Patient also had muscular hypotonia and vertigo. Family history: There are no other family members with hearing problems.

CMA analysis identified 0.54-Mb size deletion in 1p33 region (48649845–49208694 bp) (Figure 9c). The positions (bp) of primers for qPCR validation analysis of 1p33 deletion are given in Figure 10c. Analysis of DNA samples from A3925's father and his mother's sister revealed that the deletion in the patient appeared *de novo*.

The *SLC5A9* gene (solute carrier family 5, sodium/glucose cotransporter, member 9) is located in 1p33 region. The *SLC5A9* gene possibly acts as a Mannose/1,5-anhydro-D-glysitol/fructose transporter in the intestine and kidney and is required mainly for protein glycosylation (Tazawa *et al.*, 2005). It is known that some other anion exchangers (for example SLC26 gene family) are multifunctional and play intriguing roles in normal physiology and human pathophysiology including in pathophysciology of HL (Mount and Romero, 2004). Therefore, we assume that the haploinsufficiency of *SLC5A9* gene may play role in the development of profound SNHL in our patient. Three other genes are located in deleted area of patient 3 - *SPATA6* (spermatogenesis associated 6), *AGBL4* (ATP/GTP binding protein-like 4) and *BEND5* (BEN domain containing 5) gene, but by present knowledge we are not able to find a connection between the loss of one copy of those genes and patient 3 phenotype.
5.7.2.4. Case 4 (Publication III)

The patient was a 7-year-old boy with multiple congenital anomalies and developmental delay. He was born by normal vaginal delivery at term, with normal birth weight and length, but had microcephaly (-2 SD). He was the first child born in this family. The first evaluation by a clinical geneticist was performed at the age of 2 weeks in an intensive care unit. Chromosomal analysis showed an apparently balanced karyotype 46,XY,inv(9)(p12q13). At the age of two months he was placed in institutional care. At the age of 20 months Feingold syndrome (microcephaly-oculo-digital-esophageal-duodenal syndrome, OMIM 164280) or a still unidentified small chromosomal aberration were considered as differential diagnoses. At the age of 7 years, our clinical evaluation revealed normal stature, poor weight gain (-2.5 SD), severe microcephaly (-5 SD) and trigonocephaly. He had facial dysmorphism, symphalangism, contractures of large joints, hyperopia, strabismus, bilateral conductive HL, genital abnormality, psoriasis vulgaris and tracheo-esophageal fistula. He had profound mental retardation with stereotypic movements. The patient was initially investigated as a child with SNHL. Later investigations enabled the type of HL to be identified as conductive and this knowledge helped us to define the genotype-phenotype correlation.

Analysis with CMA detected a 5.9 Mb deletion in chromosome band 17q22– q23.2 with breakpoints between 48,200,000–48,300,000 bp and 54,200,000– 54,300,000 bp (according to NCBI 36). The aberration was confirmed by realtime quantitative PCR analysis. Only eight cases involving deletions of chromosome 17 in the region q22–q24 have been reported previously.

Haplo-insufficiency of the *NOG* gene has been implicated in the development of conductive HL, skeletal anomalies including symphalangism, contractures of joints, and hyperopia in this patient and may also contribute to the development of either or both tracheo-esophageal fistula and esophageal atresia. Detailed information (including Figures) is available in Publication III.

5.8. Cytomegalovirus PCR analysis (Publication V)

In Group HL⁹⁶, consisting of probands whose etiology of HL remained unknown after DNA testing with the APEX method, we conducted DNA analysis of CMV infection from neonatal screening cards (blood stored on Guthrie cards). The neonatal screening cards were available for 85 (88.5%) of Group HL⁹⁶. We found positive results in five patients (2%) - Group HL^{96/5} (see Table 12). Therefore HL in Group HL^{96/5} is due to congenital CMV infection.

The most common environmental (non-genetic) cause of HL is estimated to be congenital CMV infection (Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b) with overall birth prevalence at 0.64%. Diagnosis is difficult, as only 11% of infected infants have non-specific symptoms at birth, and the definition of symptomatic varies between studies (Kenneson and Cannon, 2007). HL is a common sequela of congenital CMV infection: (Grosse *et al.*, 2008) found that HL occurs in 30–40% of children symptomatic at birth with congenital CMV and in 5–10% of children with asymptomatic infections. More than two thirds of children congenitally infected with CMV develop HL only months or years after birth; HL may, therefore, be missed by a hearing screening at birth (Fowler *et al.*, 1999; Ludwig and Hengel, 2009). The patients in Group HL^{96/5} had, in addition to HL, further medical problems. One patient, for example, initially had a suspected metabolic disease due to white matter lesions, which made the diagnosis more complicated. We did not found decreased vision among the five patients with congenital CMV infection. However, it was significant that MRI investigations found white matter lesions in two patients of Group HL^{96/5}. In investigating the etiology of patients with non-progressive abnormal white matter lesions and HL, molecular analysis of CMV DNA using blood stored on Guthrie cards can be helpful.

No	Age	Degree of	Type of HL	Karyotype	Additional findings
		HL			
1	3.5 years	profound	bilateral sensorineuralis	46,XX	white matter lesions
2	9 years	moderate	bilateral sensorineuralis	_	_
3	13 years	profound	unilateral sensorineuralis	46,XY	white matter lesions
4	14 years	mild	unilateral sensorineuralis	46,XX	p.M34T heterozygosity in <i>GJB2</i> gene
5	9 months	moderate	bilateral sensorineuralis	_	-

 Table 12: Five patients with HL due to CMV infection

6. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. The prevalence of mutation c.35delG heterozygosity in the *GJB2* gene among the Study Group of Estonian newborns (Group NB) is 1:22 (4.5%). This result is in accordance with a previous study including 113 Estonian subjects by (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000). The prevalence of mutation p.M34T heterozygosity in *GJB2* gene in Group NB is 1:17 (5.9%), which is even higher than the carrier frequency of c.35delG mutation. The prevalence of the carrier frequencies of the mutations c.35delG and p.M34T in the *GJB2* gene in Estonia is the highest of results found in European populations.
- 2. In the subset Study Group HL¹¹⁵ (equating to 49% of the overall Study Group HL²³³ of patients with early onset HL), we found a mutation in at least one allele of the *GJB2* gene. Seventy-three (31% of Group HL²³³) were homozygous for the c.35delG mutation, seven (3% of Group HL²³³) were homozygous for the p.M34T mutation, and five (2% of Group HL²³³) had c35delG/p.M34T compound heterozygosity.
- 3. The most common *GJB2* gene mutations in Estonian children (both Group HL^{233} and Group HL^{115}) with early onset HL were c.35delG and p.M34T, with c.35delG accounting for 75% of *GJB2* alleles and p.M34T accounting for 12% of *GJB2* alleles. Another six identified mutations in *GJB2* gene occurred rarely (0.5–2%).
- 4. We did not find any children in Group HL^{233} with either *GJB3* or *GJB6* gene mutations. Mutations in the *GJB3* and *GJB6* genes (including del(*GJB6*-D13S1830) deletion) do not belong, as in other countries, to the frequent genetic causes of early onset HL in Estonian children.
- 5. We found five patients among the overall Study Group HL^{233} with heterozygous mutation in *SLC26A4* gene. As they have the heterozygous mutation in *SLC26A4* gene in only one allele, we cannot link this finding with children's HL.
- 6. The prevalence of HL due to mitochondrial mutations is low in Estonia, as it is in other European countries. We found only two children (Patient^{M1} and Patient^{M2}) with mitochondrial mutations (0.9%). Patient^{M1} had a mutation m.1555A>G in mitochondrial *12S r-RNA* gene and Patient^{M2} had a mutation 7472insC in mitochondrial serine *tRNA-Ser* gene.
- 7. The most prevalent genotype c.35delG/c.35delG was connected to profound HL (50.7%), followed by severe HL (27.4%) and moderate HL (20.6% of patients). We did not find any children with c.35delG homozygosity and mild HL. Our results are in accordance with previous research, in which the majority of patients with c.35delG homozygosity have severe and profound HL, some c.35delG homozygotes have only moderate HL, and only in a few cases the HL is mild.
- 8. Study Group HL⁷, patients with the second most frequent genotype p.M34T homozygotes all had mild HL, which is in accordance with previous research data.

- 9. We identified the IVS2–2A>G change in one allele of the *SLC26A5* gene in four probands (2.1%) with early onset HL and in five unaffected family members from five families. We did not find any homozygosity for this splice variant. Our data support the hypothesis that heterozygosity for the mutation IVS2–2A>G in *SLC26A5* gene may not, by itself, be sufficient to cause HL.
- 10. We confirmed six syndromes with HL in seven patients, Study Group HL^S equating to 3% of the overall Study Group HL²³³. The types and frequencies of the six syndromic HL were: Waardenburg syndrome type II in two cases, and Stickler syndrome type II, Klippel-Feil syndrome, Kearns-Sayre syndrome, Usher syndrome and Goldenhar syndrome in one case each. The proportion of syndromic HL was lower in Group HL²³³ than 12–30% noted in previous research. This result may be due to two reasons. First, the main aim of the study was to investigate the genetic causes of non-syndromic HL; secondly Estonian children with early onset HL are referred to genetic consultation at an early age, before the clinical features of syndromic HL are fully developed. The latter reason is supported by two confirmed cases of LEOPARD syndrome in whom one of the main symptoms HL had not yet developed.
- 11. Among the overall Study Group HL²³³ were 24 children with an unknown etiology of HL (Group HL²⁴) all of whom, in addition to early onset HL, had subtle facial dysmorphism, and either of both a failure to thrive and developmental or behavioral problems. We conducted chromosomal microarray analysis (CMA) on the patients of Group HL²⁴ and found in each of three separate patients, three regions with the loss of one allele. These three patients were:

An 8.5 year-old girl has peculiar facial phenotype, developmental delay, mild SNHL and \sim 2.94-Mb size deletion in chromosomal region 12q13.3–q41.1. She has haplo-insufficiency of cochlear-expressed *MYO1A* gene (DFNA48).

A 10-year-old girl with subtle facial dysmorphism and mild SNHL has \sim 0.74-Mb size deletion in 3p26.2 region, which she inherited from her father. The *ATP2B2* gene was located in 3p26-p25 region. Other research has not shown this to cause human HL, but has been shown to have a modifier effect, increasing the severity of HL caused in the first instance by mutations in other genes.

A 10-year-old patient has severe SNHL, subtle facial dysmorphism and 0.54-Mb size deletion in 1p33 region. Research has yet to identify an SNHL locus in this area.

12. DNA analysis of congenital CMV infection conducted retrospectively on neonatal screening Guthrie cards of Study Group HL⁹⁶ produced a positive result in five patients Group HL^{96/5} (2% of Group HL²³³). This result is in accordance with previous research, which estimates that the most common environmental (non-genetic) cause of HL is congenital CMV infection.

7. REFERENCES

- Ahmad, S., Chen, S., Sun, J., and Lin, X. (2003). Connexins 26 and 30 are co-assembled to form gap junctions in the cochlea of mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 307, 362–368.
- Alexandrino, F., Oliveira, C.A., Reis, F.C., Maciel-Guerra, A.T., and Sartorato, E.L. (2004). Screening for mutations in the GJB3 gene in Brazilian patients with nonsyndromic deafness. J Appl Genet 45, 249–254.
- Alport, A.C. (1927). Hereditary familial congenital hemorrhagic nephritis. BMJ 1, 504–506.
- Alvarez, A., del Castillo, I., Villamar, M., Aguirre, L.A., Gonzalez-Neira, A., Lopez-Nevot, A., Moreno-Pelayo, M.A., and Moreno, F. (2005). High prevalence of the W24X mutation in the gene encoding connexin-26 (GJB2) in Spanish Romani (gypsies) with autosomal recessive non-syndromic hearing loss. Am J Med Genet A 137A, 255–258.
- Anichkina, A., Kulenich, T., Zinchenko, S., Shagina, I., Polyakov, A., Ginter, E., Evgrafov, O., Viktorova, T., and Khusnitdonova, E. (2001). On the origin and frequency of the 35delG allele in GJB2-linked deafness in Europe. Eur J Hum Genet 9, 151.
- Antoniadi, T., Rabionet, R., Kroupis, C., Aperis, G.A., Economides, J., Petmezakis, J., Economou-Petersen, E., Estivill, X., and Petersen, M.B. (1999). High prevalence in the Greek population of the 35delG mutation in the connexin 26 gene causing prelingual deafness. Clin Genet 55, 381–382.
- Apps, S.A., Rankin, W.A., and Kurmis, A.P. (2007). Connexin 26 mutations in autosomal recessive deafness disorders: a review. Int J Audiol 46, 75–81.
- Azaiez, H., Yang, T., Prasad, S., Sorensen, J.L., Nishimura, C.J., Kimberling, W.J., and Smith, R.J. (2007). Genotype-phenotype correlations for SLC26A4-related deafness. Hum Genet 122, 451–457.
- Ballana, E., Ventayol, M., Rabionet, R., Gasparini, P., and Estivill, X. (2009). Connexins and deafness Homepage. World wide web URL:
 - http://www.crg.es/deafness (Updated December 8, 2009).
- Barbi, M., Binda, S., and Caroppo, S. (2006a). Diagnosis of congenital CMV infection via dried blood spots. Rev Med Virol *16*, 385–392.
- Barbi, M., Binda, S., Caroppo, S., and Primache, V. (2006b). Neonatal screening for congenital cytomegalovirus infection and hearing loss. J Clin Virol *35*, 206–209.
- Barbi, M., Binda, S., Primache, V., Caroppo, S., Dido, P., Guidotti, P., Corbetta, C., and Melotti, D. (2000). Cytomegalovirus DNA detection in Guthrie cards: a powerful tool for diagnosing congenital infection. J Clin Virol 17, 159–165.
- Barbi, M., Binda, S., Primache, V., Luraschi, C., and Corbetta, C. (1996). Diagnosis of congenital cytomegalovirus infection by detection of viral DNA in dried blood spots. Clin Diagn Virol 6, 27–32.
- Bates, D.E. (2003). Aminoglycoside ototoxicity. Drugs Today (Barc) 39, 277-285.
- Bayazit, Y.A., and Yilmaz, M. (2006). An overview of hereditary hearing loss. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec *68*, 57–63.
- Bicego, M., Beltramello, M., Melchionda, S., Carella, M., Piazza, V., Zelante, L., Bukauskas, F.F., Arslan, E., Cama, E., Pantano, S., Bruzzone, R., D'Andrea, P., and Mammano, F. (2006). Pathogenetic role of the deafness-related M34T mutation of Cx26. Hum Mol Genet 15, 2569–2587.

- Billings, K.R., and Kenna, M.A. (1999). Causes of pediatric sensorineural hearing loss: yesterday and today. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg *125*, 517–521.
- Bitner-Glindzicz, M. (2002). Hereditary deafness and phenotyping in humans. Br Med Bull *63*, 73–94.
- Bravo, O., Ballana, E., and Estivill, X. (2006). Cochlear alterations in deaf and unaffected subjects carrying the deafness-associated A1555G mutation in the mitochondrial 12S rRNA gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *344*, 511–516.
- Brobby, G.W., Muller-Myhsok, B., and Horstmann, R.D. (1998). Connexin 26 R143W mutation associated with recessive nonsyndromic sensorineural deafness in Africa. N Engl J Med 338, 548–550.
- Brown, M.R., Tomek, M.S., Van Laer, L., Smith, S., Kenyon, J.B., Van Camp, G., and Smith, R.J. (1997). A novel locus for autosomal dominant nonsyndromic hearing loss, DFNA13, maps to chromosome 6p. Am J Hum Genet 61, 924–927.
- Brunger, J.W., Murray, G.S., O'Riordan, M., Matthews, A.L., Smith, R.J., and Robin, N.H. (2000). Parental attitudes toward genetic testing for pediatric deafness. Am J Hum Genet 67, 1621–1625.
- Campbell, C., Cucci, R.A., Prasad, S., Green, G.E., Edeal, J.B., Galer, C.E., Karniski, L.P., Sheffield, V.C., and Smith, R.J. (2001). Pendred syndrome, DFNB4, and PDS/SLC26A4 identification of eight novel mutations and possible genotypephenotype correlations. Hum Mutat 17, 403–411.
- Cheatham, M.A., Huynh, K.H., Gao, J., Zuo, J., and Dallos, P. (2004). Cochlear function in Prestin knockout mice. The Journal of physiology *560*, 821–830.
- Cheatham, M.A., Zheng, J., Huynh, K.H., Du, G.G., Gao, J., Zuo, J., Navarrete, E., and Dallos, P. (2005). Cochlear function in mice with only one copy of the prestin gene. The Journal of physiology 569, 229–241.
- Cohn, E.S., and Kelley, P.M. (1999). Clinical phenotype and mutations in connexin 26 (DFNB1/GJB2), the most common cause of childhood hearing loss. Am J Med Genet 89, 130–136.
- Cohn, E.S., Kelley, P.M., Fowler, T.W., Gorga, M.P., Lefkowitz, D.M., Kuehn, H.J., Schaefer, G.B., Gobar, L.S., Hahn, F.J., Harris, D.J., and Kimberling, W.J. (1999). Clinical studies of families with hearing loss attributable to mutations in the connexin 26 gene (GJB2/DFNB1). Pediatrics *103*, 546–550.
- Colella, S., Yau, C., Taylor, J.M., Mirza, G., Butler, H., Clouston, P., Bassett, A.S., Seller, A., Holmes, C.C., and Ragoussis, J. (2007). QuantiSNP: an Objective Bayes Hidden-Markov Model to detect and accurately map copy number variation using SNP genotyping data. Nucleic acids research 35, 2013–2025.
- Connell, S.S., Angeli, S.I., Suarez, H., Hodges, A.V., Balkany, T.J., and Liu, X.Z. (2007). Performance after cochlear implantation in DFNB1 patients. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg *137*, 596–602.
- Coyle, B., Reardon, W., Herbrick, J.A., Tsui, L.C., Gausden, E., Lee, J., Coffey, R., Grueters, A., Grossman, A., Phelps, P.D., Luxon, L., Kendall-Taylor, P., Scherer, S.W., and Trembath, R.C. (1998). Molecular analysis of the PDS gene in Pendred syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 7, 1105–1112.
- Cranefield, P.F., and Federn, W. (1970). Paulus Zacchias on mental deficiency and on deafness. Bull N Y Acad Med 46, 3–21.
- Cremers, F.P., Kimberling, W.J., Kulm, M., de Brouwer, A.P., van Wijk, E., te Brinke, H., Cremers, C.W., Hoefsloot, L.H., Banfi, S., Simonelli, F., Fleischhauer, J.C., Berger, W., Kelley, P.M., Haralambous, E., Bitner-Glindzicz, M., Webster, A.R., Saihan, Z., De Baere, E., Leroy, B.P., Silvestri, G., McKay, G.J., Koenekoop, R.K., Millan, J.M., Rosenberg, T., Joensuu, T., Sankila, E.M., Weil, D., Weston, M.D.,

Wissinger, B., and Kremer, H. (2007). Development of a genotyping microarray for Usher syndrome. J Med Genet 44, 153–160.

- Cryns, K., Orzan, E., Murgia, A., Huygen, P.L., Moreno, F., del Castillo, I., Chamberlin, G.P., Azaiez, H., Prasad, S., Cucci, R.A., Leonardi, E., Snoeckx, R.L., Govaerts, P.J., Van de Heyning, P.H., Van de Heyning, C.M., Smith, R.J., and Van Camp, G. (2004). A genotype-phenotype correlation for GJB2 (connexin 26) deafness. J Med Genet 41, 147–154.
- Cryns, K., Pfister, M., Pennings, R.J., Bom, S.J., Flothmann, K., Caethoven, G., Kremer, H., Schatteman, I., Koln, K.A., Toth, T., Kupka, S., Blin, N., Nurnberg, P., Thiele, H., van de Heyning, P.H., Reardon, W., Stephens, D., Cremers, C.W., Smith, R.J., and Van Camp, G. (2002). Mutations in the WFS1 gene that cause lowfrequency sensorineural hearing loss are small non-inactivating mutations. Hum Genet *110*, 389–394.
- Cryns, K., Sivakumaran, T.A., Van den Ouweland, J.M., Pennings, R.J., Cremers, C.W., Flothmann, K., Young, T.L., Smith, R.J., Lesperance, M.M., and Van Camp, G. (2003). Mutational spectrum of the WFS1 gene in Wolfram syndrome, nonsyndromic hearing impairment, diabetes mellitus, and psychiatric disease. Hum Mutat 22, 275–287.
- Cucci, R.A., Prasad, S., Kelley, P.M., Green, G.E., Storm, K., Willocx, S., Cohn, E.S., Van Camp, G., and Smith, R.J. (2000). The M34T allele variant of connexin 26. Genet Test 4, 335–344.
- D'Adamo, P., Pinna, M., Capobianco, S., Cesarani, A., D'Eustacchio, A., Fogu, P., Carella, M., Seri, M., and Gasparini, P. (2003). A novel autosomal dominant nonsyndromic deafness locus (DFNA48) maps to 12q13-q14 in a large Italian family. Human genetics *112*, 319–320.
- de Zwart-Storm, E.A., Hamm, H., Stoevesandt, J., Steijlen, P.M., Martin, P.E., van Geel, M., and van Steensel, M.A. (2008). A novel missense mutation in GJB2 disturbs gap junction protein transport and causes focal palmoplantar keratoderma with deafness. J Med Genet 45, 161–166.
- del Castillo, F.J., Rodriguez-Ballesteros, M., Alvarez, A., Hutchin, T., Leonardi, E., de Oliveira, C.A., Azaiez, H., Brownstein, Z., Avenarius, M.R., Marlin, S., Pandya, A., Shahin, H., Siemering, K.R., Weil, D., Wuyts, W., Aguirre, L.A., Martin, Y., Moreno-Pelayo, M.A., Villamar, M., Avraham, K.B., Dahl, H.H., Kanaan, M., Nance, W.E., Petit, C., Smith, R.J., Van Camp, G., Sartorato, E.L., Murgia, A., Moreno, F., and del Castillo, I. (2005). A novel deletion involving the connexin-30 gene, del(GJB6-d13s1854), found in trans with mutations in the GJB2 gene (connexin-26) in subjects with DFNB1 non-syndromic hearing impairment. J Med Genet *42*, 588–594.
- Del Castillo, I., Moreno-Pelayo, M.A., Del Castillo, F.J., Brownstein, Z., Marlin, S., Adina, Q., Cockburn, D.J., Pandya, A., Siemering, K.R., Chamberlin, G.P., Ballana, E., Wuyts, W., Maciel-Guerra, A.T., Alvarez, A., Villamar, M., Shohat, M., Abeliovich, D., Dahl, H.H., Estivill, X., Gasparini, P., Hutchin, T., Nance, W.E., Sartorato, E.L., Smith, R.J., Van Camp, G., Avraham, K.B., Petit, C., and Moreno, F. (2003). Prevalence and evolutionary origins of the del(GJB6-D13S1830) mutation in the DFNB1 locus in hearing-impaired subjects: a multicenter study. Am J Hum Genet *73*, 1452–1458.
- del Castillo, I., Villamar, M., Moreno-Pelayo, M.A., del Castillo, F.J., Alvarez, A., Telleria, D., Menendez, I., and Moreno, F. (2002). A deletion involving the connexin 30 gene in nonsyndromic hearing impairment. N Engl J Med 346, 243–249.

- Denoyelle, F., Marlin, S., Weil, D., Moatti, L., Chauvin, P., Garabedian, E.N., and Petit, C. (1999). Clinical features of the prevalent form of childhood deafness, DFNB1, due to a connexin-26 gene defect: implications for genetic counselling. Lancet 353, 1298–1303.
- Denoyelle, F., Weil, D., Maw, M.A., Wilcox, S.A., Lench, N.J., Allen-Powell, D.R., Osborn, A.H., Dahl, H.H., Middleton, A., Houseman, M.J., Dode, C., Marlin, S., Boulila-ElGaied, A., Grati, M., Ayadi, H., BenArab, S., Bitoun, P., Lina-Granade, G., Godet, J., Mustapha, M., Loiselet, J., El-Zir, E., Aubois, A., Joannard, A., Petit, C., and et al. (1997). Prelingual deafness: high prevalence of a 30delG mutation in the connexin 26 gene. Hum Mol Genet 6, 2173–2177.
- Dietz, A., Lopponen, T., Valtonen, H., Hyvarinen, A., and Lopponen, H. (2009). Prevalence and etiology of congenital or early acquired hearing impairment in Eastern Finland. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol.
- Digilio, M.C., Sarkozy, A., Pacileo, G., Limongelli, G., Marino, B., and Dallapiccola,
 B. (2006). PTPN11 gene mutations: linking the Gln510Glu mutation to the "LEOPARD syndrome phenotype". Eur J Pediatr 165, 803–805.
- Dijkhuizen, T., van Essen, T., van der Vlies, P., Verheij, J.B., Sikkema-Raddatz, B., van der Veen, A.Y., Gerssen-Schoorl, K.B., Buys, C.H., and Kok, K. (2006). FISH and array-CGH analysis of a complex chromosome 3 aberration suggests that loss of CNTN4 and CRBN contributes to mental retardation in 3pter deletions. American journal of medical genetics 140, 2482–2487.
- Donaudy, F., Ferrara, A., Esposito, L., Hertzano, R., Ben-David, O., Bell, R.E., Melchionda, S., Zelante, L., Avraham, K.B., and Gasparini, P. (2003). Multiple mutations of MYO1A, a cochlear-expressed gene, in sensorineural hearing loss. American journal of human genetics 72, 1571–1577.
- Estivill, X., Fortina, P., Surrey, S., Rabionet, R., Melchionda, S., D'Agruma, L., Mansfield, E., Rappaport, E., Govea, N., Mila, M., Zelante, L., and Gasparini, P. (1998). Connexin-26 mutations in sporadic and inherited sensorineural deafness. Lancet 351, 394–398.
- Feldmann, D., Denoyelle, F., Loundon, N., Weil, D., Garabedian, E.N., Couderc, R., Joannard, A., Schmerber, S., Delobel, B., Leman, J., Journel, H., Catros, H., Ferrec, C., Drouin-Garraud, V., Obstoy, M.F., Moati, L., Petit, C., and Marlin, S. (2004). Clinical evidence of the nonpathogenic nature of the M34T variant in the connexin 26 gene. Eur J Hum Genet 12, 279–284.
- Fernandez, T., Morgan, T., Davis, N., Klin, A., Morris, A., Farhi, A., Lifton, R.P., and State, M.W. (2004). Disruption of contactin 4 (CNTN4) results in developmental delay and other features of 3p deletion syndrome. American journal of human genetics 74, 1286–1293.
- Finsterer, J., and Fellinger, J. (2005). Nuclear and mitochondrial genes mutated in nonsyndromic impaired hearing. International journal of pediatric otorhinolaryngology 69, 621–647.
- Fischel-Ghodsian, N. (1999). Mitochondrial deafness mutations reviewed. Hum Mutat 13, 261–270.
- Fortnum, H., and Davis, A. (1997). Epidemiology of permanent childhood hearing impairment in Trent Region, 1985–1993. Br J Audiol *31*, 409–446.
- Foulon, I., Naessens, A., Foulon, W., Casteels, A., and Gordts, F. (2008a). A 10-year prospective study of sensorineural hearing loss in children with congenital cytomegalovirus infection. J Pediatr 153, 84–88.
- Foulon, I., Naessens, A., Foulon, W., Casteels, A., and Gordts, F. (2008b). Hearing loss in children with congenital cytomegalovirus infection in relation to the maternal

trimester in which the maternal primary infection occurred. Pediatrics *122*, e1123–1127.

- Fowler, K.B., Dahle, A.J., Boppana, S.B., and Pass, R.F. (1999). Newborn hearing screening: will children with hearing loss caused by congenital cytomegalovirus infection be missed? J Pediatr 135, 60–64.
- Fransen, E., Verstreken, M., Bom, S.J., Lemaire, F., Kemperman, M.H., De Kok, Y.J., Wuyts, F.L., Verhagen, W.I., Huygen, P.L., McGuirt, W.T., Smith, R.J., Van Maldergem, L.V., Declau, F., Cremers, C.W., Van De Heyning, P.H., Cremers, F.P., and Van Camp, G. (2001). A common ancestor for COCH related cochleovestibular (DFNA9) patients in Belgium and The Netherlands bearing the P51S mutation. J Med Genet 38, 61–65.
- Fraser, G.R. (1965). Association of Congenital Deafness with Goitre (Pendred's Syndrome) a Study of 207 Families. Ann Hum Genet 28, 201–249.
- Frei, K., Szuhai, K., Lucas, T., Weipoltshammer, K., Schofer, C., Ramsebner, R., Baumgartner, W.D., Raap, A.K., Bittner, R., Wachtler, F.J., and Kirschhofer, K. (2002). Connexin 26 mutations in cases of sensorineural deafness in eastern Austria. Eur J Hum Genet 10, 427–432.
- Friedman, T.B., and Griffith, A.J. (2003). Human nonsyndromic sensorineural deafness. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet *4*, 341–402.
- Fukuoka, H., Kanda, Y., Ohta, S., and Usami, S. (2007). Mutations in the WFS1 gene are a frequent cause of autosomal dominant nonsyndromic low-frequency hearing loss in Japanese. J Hum Genet 52, 510–515.
- Fuse, Y., Doi, K., Hasegawa, T., Sugii, A., Hibino, H., and Kubo, T. (1999). Three novel connexin26 gene mutations in autosomal recessive non-syndromic deafness. Neuroreport 10, 1853–1857.
- Gabriel, H., Kupsch, P., Sudendey, J., Winterhager, E., Jahnke, K., and Lautermann, J. (2001). Mutations in the connexin26/GJB2 gene are the most common event in nonsyndromic hearing loss among the German population. Hum Mutat 17, 521–522.
- Gardner, P., Oitmaa, E., Messner, A., Hoefsloot, L., Metspalu, A., and Schrijver, I. (2006). Simultaneous multigene mutation detection in patients with sensorineural hearing loss through a novel diagnostic microarray: a new approach for newborn screening follow-up. Pediatrics 118, 985–994.
- Gasparini, P., Rabionet, R., Barbujani, G., Melchionda, S., Petersen, M., Brondum-Nielsen, K., Metspalu, A., Oitmaa, E., Pisano, M., Fortina, P., Zelante, L., and Estivill, X. (2000). High carrier frequency of the 35delG deafness mutation in European populations. Genetic Analysis Consortium of GJB2 35delG. Eur J Hum Genet 8, 19–23.
- Gorlin, R.J., Anderson, R.C., and Blaw, M. (1969). Multiple lentigenes syndrome. Am J Dis Child 117, 652–662.
- Gorlin, R.J., Cohen, M.M.J., and Hennekam, R. (2001). Syndromes of the Head and Neck. Oxford University Press Inc.
- Grabski, R., Szul, T., Sasaki, T., Timpl, R., Mayne, R., Hicks, B., and Sztul, E. (2003). Mutations in COCH that result in non-syndromic autosomal dominant deafness (DFNA9) affect matrix deposition of cochlin. Hum Genet *113*, 406–416.
- Green, G.E., Scott, D.A., McDonald, J.M., Woodworth, G.G., Sheffield, V.C., and Smith, R.J. (1999). Carrier rates in the midwestern United States for GJB2 mutations causing inherited deafness. JAMA 281, 2211–2216.
- Griffith, A.J., Chowdhry, A.A., Kurima, K., Hood, L.J., Keats, B., Berlin, C.I., Morell, R.J., and Friedman, T.B. (2000). Autosomal recessive nonsyndromic neurosensory

deafness at DFNB1 not associated with the compound-heterozygous GJB2 (connexin 26) genotype M34T/167delT. Am J Hum Genet 67, 745–749.

- Grosse, S.D., Ross, D.S., and Dollard, S.C. (2008). Congenital cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection as a cause of permanent bilateral hearing loss: a quantitative assessment. J Clin Virol *41*, 57–62.
- Guilford, P., Ben Arab, S., Blanchard, S., Levilliers, J., Weissenbach, J., Belkahia, A., and Petit, C. (1994). A non-syndrome form of neurosensory, recessive deafness maps to the pericentromeric region of chromosome 13q. Nat Genet *6*, 24–28.
- Guo, Y.F., Liu, X.W., Guan, J., Han, M.K., Wang, D.Y., Zhao, Y.L., Rao, S.Q., and Wang, Q.J. (2008). GJB2, SLC26A4 and mitochondrial DNA A1555G mutations in prelingual deafness in Northern Chinese subjects. Acta Otolaryngol 128, 297–303.
- Hageman, M.J. (1977). Audiometric findings in 34 patients with Waardenburg's syndrome. J Laryngol Otol 91, 575–584.
- Hamelmann, C., Amedofu, G.K., Albrecht, K., Muntau, B., Gelhaus, A., Brobby, G.W., and Horstmann, R.D. (2001). Pattern of connexin 26 (GJB2) mutations causing sensorineural hearing impairment in Ghana. Hum Mutat 18, 84–85.
- Hildesheimer, M., Maayan, Z., Muchnik, C., Rubinstein, M., and Goodman, R.M. (1989). Auditory and vestibular findings in Waardenburg's type II syndrome. J Laryngol Otol 103, 1130–1133.
- Hilgert, N., Huentelman, M.J., Thorburn, A.Q., Fransen, E., Dieltjens, N., Mueller-Malesinska, M., Pollak, A., Skorka, A., Waligora, J., Ploski, R., Castorina, P., Primignani, P., Ambrosetti, U., Murgia, A., Orzan, E., Pandya, A., Arnos, K., Norris, V., Seeman, P., Janousek, P., Feldmann, D., Marlin, S., Denoyelle, F., Nishimura, C.J., Janecke, A., Nekahm-Heis, D., Martini, A., Mennucci, E., Toth, T., Sziklai, I., Del Castillo, I., Moreno, F., Petersen, M.B., Iliadou, V., Tekin, M., Incesulu, A., Nowakowska, E., Bal, J., Van de Heyning, P., Roux, A.F., Blanchet, C., Goizet, C., Lancelot, G., Fialho, G., Caria, H., Liu, X.Z., Xiaomei, O., Govaerts, P., Gronskov, K., Hostmark, K., Frei, K., Dhooge, I., Vlaeminck, S., Kunstmann, E., Van Laer, L., Smith, R.J., and Van Camp, G. (2009a). Phenotypic variability of patients homozygous for the GJB2 mutation 35delG cannot be explained by the influence of one major modifier gene. Eur J Hum Genet *17*, 517–524.
- Hilgert, N., Smith, R.J., and Van Camp, G. (2009b). Forty-six genes causing nonsyndromic hearing impairment: which ones should be analyzed in DNA diagnostics? Mutat Res 681, 189–196.
- Hochstenbach, R., van Binsbergen, E., Engelen, J., Nieuwint, A., Polstra, A., Poddighe, P., Ruivenkamp, C., Sikkema-Raddatz, B., Smeets, D., and Poot, M. (2009). Array analysis and karyotyping: workflow consequences based on a retrospective study of 36,325 patients with idiopathic developmental delay in the Netherlands. Eur J Med Genet 52, 161–169.
- Holt, J.R., and Corey, D.P. (1999). Ion channel defects in hereditary hearing loss. Neuron 22, 217–219.
- Hone, S.W., and Smith, R.J. (2001). Genetics of hearing impairment. Semin Neonatol 6, 531–541.
- Houseman, M.J., Ellis, L.A., Pagnamenta, A., Di, W.L., Rickard, S., Osborn, A.H., Dahl, H.H., Taylor, G.R., Bitner-Glindzicz, M., Reardon, W., Mueller, R.F., and Kelsell, D.P. (2001). Genetic analysis of the connexin-26 M34T variant: identification of genotype M34T/M34T segregating with mild-moderate non-syndromic sensorineural hearing loss. J Med Genet 38, 20–25.
- Hutchin, T.P., Navarro-Coy, N.C., Van Camp, G., Tiranti, V., Zeviani, M., Schuelke, M., Jaksch, M., Newton, V., and Mueller, R.F. (2001). Multiple origins of the

mtDNA 7472insC mutation associated with hearing loss and neurological dys-function. Eur J Hum Genet 9, 385–387.

- Jacobs, H.T., Hutchin, T.P., Kappi, T., Gillies, G., Minkkinen, K., Walker, J., Thompson, K., Rovio, A.T., Carella, M., Melchionda, S., Zelante, L., Gasparini, P., Pyykko, I., Shah, Z.H., Zeviani, M., and Mueller, R.F. (2005). Mitochondrial DNA mutations in patients with postlingual, nonsyndromic hearing impairment. Eur J Hum Genet 13, 26–33.
- Jakubikova, J., Kabatova, Z., Pavlovcinova, G., and Profant, M. (2009). Newborn hearing screening and strategy for early detection of hearing loss in infants. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 73, 607–612.
- Janecke, A.R., Hirst-Stadlmann, A., Gunther, B., Utermann, B., Muller, T., Loffler, J., Utermann, G., and Nekahm-Heis, D. (2002). Progressive hearing loss, and recurrent sudden sensorineural hearing loss associated with GJB2 mutations-phenotypic spectrum and frequencies of GJB2 mutations in Austria. Hum Genet 111, 145–153.
- Jervell, A., and Lange-Nielsen, F. (1957). Congenital deaf-mutism, functional heart disease with prolongation of the Q-T interval and sudden death. Am Heart J 54, 59–68.
- Johnson, J.L., White, K.R., Widen, J.E., Gravel, J.S., James, M., Kennalley, T., Maxon, A.B., Spivak, L., Sullivan-Mahoney, M., Vohr, B.R., Weirather, Y., and Holstrum, J. (2005). A multicenter evaluation of how many infants with permanent hearing loss pass a two-stage otoacoustic emissions/automated auditory brainstem response newborn hearing screening protocol. Pediatrics *116*, 663–672.
- Kalay, E., Caylan, R., Kremer, H., de Brouwer, A.P., and Karaguzel, A. (2005). GJB2 mutations in Turkish patients with ARNSHL: prevalence and two novel mutations. Hear Res 203, 88–93.
- Kamada, F., Kure, S., Kudo, T., Suzuki, Y., Oshima, T., Ichinohe, A., Kojima, K., Niihori, T., Kanno, J., Narumi, Y., Narisawa, A., Kato, K., Aoki, Y., Ikeda, K., Kobayashi, T., and Matsubara, Y. (2006). A novel KCNQ4 one-base deletion in a large pedigree with hearing loss: implication for the genotype-phenotype correlation. J Hum Genet 51, 455–460.
- Keats, B.J., and Corey, D.P. (1999). The usher syndromes. Am J Med Genet 89, 158–166.
- Kelley, P.M., Harris, D.J., Comer, B.C., Askew, J.W., Fowler, T., Smith, S.D., and Kimberling, W.J. (1998). Novel mutations in the connexin 26 gene (GJB2) that cause autosomal recessive (DFNB1) hearing loss. Am J Hum Genet 62, 792–799.
- Kelly, B., Lozano, A., Altenberg, G., and Makishima, T. (2008). Connexin 26 mutation in keratitis-ichthyosis-deafness (KID) syndrome in mother and daughter with combined conductive and sensorineural hearing loss. Int J Dermatol 47, 443–447.
- Kelsell, D.P., Dunlop, J., Stevens, H.P., Lench, N.J., Liang, J.N., Parry, G., Mueller, R.F., and Leigh, I.M. (1997). Connexin 26 mutations in hereditary non-syndromic sensorineural deafness. Nature 387, 80–83.
- Kemperman, M.H., De Leenheer, E.M., Huygen, P.L., van Duijnhoven, G., Morton, C.C., Robertson, N.G., Cremers, F.P., Kremer, H., and Cremers, C.W. (2005). Audiometric, vestibular, and genetic aspects of a DFNA9 family with a G88E COCH mutation. Otol Neurotol 26, 926–933.
- Kemperman, M.H., Hoefsloot, L.H., and Cremers, C.W. (2002). Hearing loss and connexin 26. J R Soc Med 95, 171–177.
- Kenna, M.A., Wu, B.L., Cotanche, D.A., Korf, B.R., and Rehm, H.L. (2001). Connexin 26 studies in patients with sensorineural hearing loss. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 127, 1037–1042.

- Kenneson, A., and Cannon, M.J. (2007). Review and meta-analysis of the epidemiology of congenital cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection. Rev Med Virol 17, 253–276.
- Kenneson, A., Van Naarden Braun, K., and Boyle, C. (2002). GJB2 (connexin 26) variants and nonsyndromic sensorineural hearing loss: a HuGE review. Genet Med 4, 258–274.
- Kimberling, W.J., and Moller, C. (1995). Clinical and molecular genetics of Usher syndrome. J Am Acad Audiol *6*, 63–72.
- Kokotas, H., Petersen, M.B., and Willems, P.J. (2007). Mitochondrial deafness. Clin Genet 71, 379–391.
- Kokotas, H., Van Laer, L., Grigoriadou, M., Iliadou, V., Economides, J., Pomoni, S., Pampanos, A., Eleftheriades, N., Ferekidou, E., Korres, S., Giannoulia-Karantana, A., Van Camp, G., and Petersen, M.B. (2008). Strong linkage disequilibrium for the frequent GJB2 35delG mutation in the Greek population. Am J Med Genet A 146A, 2879–2884.
- Koudova, M., Seemanova, E., and Zenker, M. (2009). Novel BRAF mutation in a patient with LEOPARD syndrome and normal intelligence. Eur J Med Genet 52, 337–340.
- Kumar, N.M., and Gilula, N.B. (1996). The gap junction communication channel. Cell *84*, 381–388.
- Kumar, S. (2009). Wolfram syndrome: important implications for pediatricians and pediatric endocrinologists. Pediatr Diabetes.
- Kunst, H., Marres, H., Huygen, P., van Duijnhoven, G., Krebsova, A., van der Velde, S., Reis, A., Cremers, F., and Cremers, C. (2000). Non-syndromic autosomal dominant progressive non-specific mid-frequency sensorineural hearing impairment with childhood to late adolescence onset (DFNA21). Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci 25, 45–54.
- Leon, P.E., Raventos, H., Lynch, E., Morrow, J., and King, M.C. (1992). The gene for an inherited form of deafness maps to chromosome 5q31. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 5181–5184.
- Lesperance, M.M., Hall, J.W., 3rd, San Agustin, T.B., and Leal, S.M. (2003). Mutations in the Wolfram syndrome type 1 gene (WFS1) define a clinical entity of dominant low-frequency sensorineural hearing loss. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 129, 411–420.
- Liberman, M.C., Gao, J., He, D.Z., Wu, X., Jia, S., and Zuo, J. (2002). Prestin is required for electromotility of the outer hair cell and for the cochlear amplifier. Nature 419, 300–304.
- Liu, X.Z., Newton, V.E., and Read, A.P. (1995). Waardenburg syndrome type II: phenotypic findings and diagnostic criteria. Am J Med Genet 55, 95–100.
- Liu, X.Z., Ouyang, X.M., Xia, X.J., Zheng, J., Pandya, A., Li, F., Du, L.L., Welch, K.O., Petit, C., Smith, R.J., Webb, B.T., Yan, D., Arnos, K.S., Corey, D., Dallos, P., Nance, W.E., and Chen, Z.Y. (2003). Prestin, a cochlear motor protein, is defective in non-syndromic hearing loss. Human molecular genetics 12, 1155–1162.
- Liu, X.Z., Xia, X.J., Ke, X.M., Ouyang, X.M., Du, L.L., Liu, Y.H., Angeli, S., Telischi, F.F., Nance, W.E., Balkany, T., and Xu, L.R. (2002). The prevalence of connexin 26 (GJB2) mutations in the Chinese population. Hum Genet 111, 394–397.
- Liu, X.Z., Yuan, Y., Yan, D., Ding, E.H., Ouyang, X.M., Fei, Y., Tang, W., Yuan, H., Chang, Q., Du, L.L., Zhang, X., Wang, G., Ahmad, S., Kang, D.Y., Lin, X., and Dai, P. (2009). Digenic inheritance of non-syndromic deafness caused by mutations at the gap junction proteins Cx26 and Cx31. Hum Genet 125, 53–62.

- Loffler, J., Nekahm, D., Hirst-Stadlmann, A., Gunther, B., Menzel, H.J., Utermann, G., and Janecke, A.R. (2001). Sensorineural hearing loss and the incidence of Cx26 mutations in Austria. Eur J Hum Genet *9*, 226–230.
- Lopponen, T., Vaisanen, M.L., Luotonen, M., Allinen, M., Uusimaa, J., Lindholm, P., Maki-Torkko, E., Vayrynen, M., Lopponen, H., and Leisti, J. (2003). Connexin 26 mutations and nonsyndromic hearing impairment in northern Finland. Laryngoscope 113, 1758–1763.
- Lucotte, G. (2007). High prevalences of carriers of the 35delG mutation of connexin 26 in the Mediterranean area. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol *71*, 741–746.
- Lucotte, G., and Pinna, A. (2003). Elevated frequencies of the 35delG allele of the connexin 26 gene in Corsica, France. Clin Genet *64*, 517–518.
- Ludwig, A., and Hengel, H. (2009). Epidemiological impact and disease burden of congenital cytomegalovirus infection in Europe. Euro Surveill 14, 26–32.
- Mahdieh, N., and Rabbani, B. (2009). Statistical study of 35delG mutation of GJB2 gene: a meta-analysis of carrier frequency. Int J Audiol *48*, 363–370.
- Maheshwari, M., Vijaya, R., Ghosh, M., Shastri, S., Kabra, M., and Menon, P.S. (2003). Screening of families with autosomal recessive non-syndromic hearing impairment (ARNSHI) for mutations in GJB2 gene: Indian scenario. Am J Med Genet A 120A, 180–184.
- Mani, R.S., Ganapathy, A., Jalvi, R., Srikumari Srisailapathy, C.R., Malhotra, V., Chadha, S., Agarwal, A., Ramesh, A., Rangasayee, R.R., and Anand, A. (2009). Functional consequences of novel connexin 26 mutations associated with hereditary hearing loss. Eur J Hum Genet 17, 502–509.
- Marazita, M.L., Ploughman, L.M., Rawlings, B., Remington, E., Arnos, K.S., and Nance, W.E. (1993). Genetic epidemiological studies of early-onset deafness in the U.S. school-age population. Am J Med Genet 46, 486–491.
- Marlin, S., Garabedian, E.N., Roger, G., Moatti, L., Matha, N., Lewin, P., Petit, C., and Denoyelle, F. (2001). Connexin 26 gene mutations in congenitally deaf children: pitfalls for genetic counseling. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 127, 927–933.
- McCullough, B.J., Adams, J.C., Shilling, D.J., Feeney, M.P., Sie, K.C., and Tempel, B.L. (2007). 3p-- syndrome defines a hearing loss locus in 3p25.3. Hear Res 224, 51–60.
- McCullough, B.J., and Tempel, B.L. (2004). Haplo-insufficiency revealed in deafwaddler mice when tested for hearing loss and ataxia. Hear Res 195, 90–102.
- McGuirt, W.T., Prasad, S.D., Griffith, A.J., Kunst, H.P., Green, G.E., Shpargel, K.B., Runge, C., Huybrechts, C., Mueller, R.F., Lynch, E., King, M.C., Brunner, H.G., Cremers, C.W., Takanosu, M., Li, S.W., Arita, M., Mayne, R., Prockop, D.J., Van Camp, G., and Smith, R.J. (1999). Mutations in COL11A2 cause non-syndromic hearing loss (DFNA13). Nat Genet 23, 413–419.
- Menten, B., Buysse, K., Zahir, F., Hellemans, J., Hamilton, S.J., Costa, T., Fagerstrom, C., Anadiotis, G., Kingsbury, D., McGillivray, B.C., Marra, M.A., Friedman, J.M., Speleman, F., and Mortier, G. (2007). Osteopoikilosis, short stature and mental retardation as key features of a new microdeletion syndrome on 12q14. J Med Genet 44, 264–268.
- Mercier, G., Bathelier, C., and Lucotte, G. (2005). Connexin 26 mutation 35delG: prevalence of carriers in various regions in France. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol *69*, 1187–1190.
- Mignon, C., Fromaget, C., Mattei, M.G., Gros, D., Yamasaki, H., and Mesnil, M. (1996). Assignment of connexin 26 (GJB2) and 46 (GJA3) genes to human

chromosome 13q11-->q12 and mouse chromosome 14D1-E1 by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet Cell Genet 72, 185–186.

- Miller, D.T., Adam, M.P., Aradhya, S., Biesecker, L.G., Brothman, A.R., Carter, N.P., Church, D.M., Crolla, J.A., Eichler, E.E., Epstein, C.J., Faucett, W.A., Feuk, L., Friedman, J.M., Hamosh, A., Jackson, L., Kaminsky, E.B., Kok, K., Krantz, I.D., Kuhn, R.M., Lee, C., Ostell, J.M., Rosenberg, C., Scherer, S.W., Spinner, N.B., Stavropoulos, D.J., Tepperberg, J.H., Thorland, E.C., Vermeesch, J.R., Waggoner, D.J., Watson, M.S., Martin, C.L., and Ledbetter, D.H. (2010). Consensus statement: chromosomal microarray is a first-tier clinical diagnostic test for individuals with developmental disabilities or congenital anomalies. American journal of human genetics *86*, 749–764.
- Minarik, G., Ferak, V., Ferakova, E., Ficek, A., Polakova, H., and Kadasi, L. (2003). High frequency of GJB2 mutation W24X among Slovak Romany (Gypsy) patients with non-syndromic hearing loss (NSHL). Gen Physiol Biophys 22, 549–556.
- Modamio-Hoybjor, S., Moreno-Pelayo, M.A., Mencia, A., del Castillo, I., Chardenoux, S., Morais, D., Lathrop, M., Petit, C., and Moreno, F. (2004). A novel locus for autosomal dominant nonsyndromic hearing loss, DFNA50, maps to chromosome 7q32 between the DFNB17 and DFNB13 deafness loci. J Med Genet 41, e14.
- Morell, R.J., Kim, H.J., Hood, L.J., Goforth, L., Friderici, K., Fisher, R., Van Camp, G., Berlin, C.I., Oddoux, C., Ostrer, H., Keats, B., and Friedman, T.B. (1998). Mutations in the connexin 26 gene (GJB2) among Ashkenazi Jews with nonsyndromic recessive deafness. N Engl J Med 339, 1500–1505.
- Morzaria, S., Westerberg, B.D., and Kozak, F.K. (2004). Systematic review of the etiology of bilateral sensorineural hearing loss in children. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 68, 1193–1198.
- Mount, D.B., and Romero, M.F. (2004). The SLC26 gene family of multifunctional anion exchangers. Pflugers Arch 447, 710–721.
- Mueller, R.F., Nehammer, A., Middleton, A., Houseman, M., Taylor, G.R., Bitner-Glindzciz, M., Van Camp, G., Parker, M., Young, I.D., Davis, A., Newton, V.E., and Lench, N.J. (1999). Congenital non-syndromal sensorineural hearing impairment due to connexin 26 gene mutations-molecular and audiological findings. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 50, 3–13.
- Murgia, A., Orzan, E., Polli, R., Martella, M., Vinanzi, C., Leonardi, E., Arslan, E., and Zacchello, F. (1999). Cx26 deafness: mutation analysis and clinical variability. J Med Genet 36, 829–832.
- Mustapha, M., Salem, N., Delague, V., Chouery, E., Ghassibeh, M., Rai, M., Loiselet, J., Petit, C., and Megarbane, A. (2001). Autosomal recessive non-syndromic hearing loss in the Lebanese population: prevalence of the 30delG mutation and report of two novel mutations in the connexin 26 (GJB2) gene. J Med Genet 38, E36.
- Nal, N., Ahmed, Z.M., Erkal, E., Alper, O.M., Luleci, G., Dinc, O., Waryah, A.M., Ain, Q., Tasneem, S., Husnain, T., Chattaraj, P., Riazuddin, S., Boger, E., Ghosh, M., Kabra, M., Morell, R.J., and Friedman, T.B. (2007). Mutational spectrum of MYO15A: the large N-terminal extension of myosin XVA is required for hearing. Hum Mutat 28, 1014–1019.
- Nance, W.E. (2003). The genetics of deafness. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 9, 109–119.
- Nance, W.E., Lim, B.G., and Dodson, K.M. (2006). Importance of congenital cytomegalovirus infections as a cause for pre-lingual hearing loss. J Clin Virol 35, 221– 225.

- Nelis, M., Esko, T., Magi, R., Zimprich, F., Zimprich, A., Toncheva, D., Karachanak, S., Piskackova, T., Balascak, I., Peltonen, L., Jakkula, E., Rehnstrom, K., Lathrop, M., Heath, S., Galan, P., Schreiber, S., Meitinger, T., Pfeufer, A., Wichmann, H.E., Melegh, B., Polgar, N., Toniolo, D., Gasparini, P., D'Adamo, P., Klovins, J., Nikitina-Zake, L., Kucinskas, V., Kasnauskiene, J., Lubinski, J., Debniak, T., Limborska, S., Khrunin, A., Estivill, X., Rabionet, R., Marsal, S., Julia, A., Antonarakis, S.E., Deutsch, S., Borel, C., Attar, H., Gagnebin, M., Macek, M., Krawczak, M., Remm, M., and Metspalu, A. (2009). Genetic structure of Europeans: a view from the North-East. PloS one 4, e5472.
- Newton, V. (1990). Hearing loss and Waardenburg's syndrome: implications for genetic counselling. J Laryngol Otol 104, 97–103.
- Neyroud, N., Tesson, F., Denjoy, I., Leibovici, M., Donger, C., Barhanin, J., Faure, S., Gary, F., Coumel, P., Petit, C., Schwartz, K., and Guicheney, P. (1997). A novel mutation in the potassium channel gene KVLQT1 causes the Jervell and Lange-Nielsen cardioauditory syndrome. Nat Genet 15, 186–189.
- Norris, V.W., Arnos, K.S., Hanks, W.D., Xia, X., Nance, W.E., and Pandya, A. (2006). Does universal newborn hearing screening identify all children with GJB2 (Connexin 26) deafness? Penetrance of GJB2 deafness. Ear Hear 27, 732–741.
- Ohtsuka, A., Yuge, I., Kimura, S., Namba, A., Abe, S., Van Laer, L., Van Camp, G., and Usami, S. (2003). GJB2 deafness gene shows a specific spectrum of mutations in Japan, including a frequent founder mutation. Hum Genet *112*, 329–333.
- Oysu, C., Baserer, N., and Tinaz, M. (2000). Audiometric manifestations of Waardenburg's syndrome. Ear Nose Throat J 79, 704–709.
- Pagarkar, W., Bitner-Glindzicz, M., Knight, J., and Sirimanna, T. (2006). Late postnatal onset of hearing loss due to GJB2 mutations. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 70, 1119–1124.
- Pampanos, A., Economides, J., Iliadou, V., Neou, P., Leotsakos, P., Voyiatzis, N., Eleftheriades, N., Tsakanikos, M., Antoniadi, T., Hatzaki, A., Konstantopoulou, I., Yannoukakos, D., Gronskov, K., Brondum-Nielsen, K., Grigoriadou, M., Gyftodimou, J., Iliades, T., Skevas, A., and Petersen, M.B. (2002). Prevalence of GJB2 mutations in prelingual deafness in the Greek population. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 65, 101–108.
- Pandit, B., Sarkozy, A., Pennacchio, L.A., Carta, C., Oishi, K., Martinelli, S., Pogna, E.A., Schackwitz, W., Ustaszewska, A., Landstrom, A., Bos, J.M., Ommen, S.R., Esposito, G., Lepri, F., Faul, C., Mundel, P., Lopez Siguero, J.P., Tenconi, R., Selicorni, A., Rossi, C., Mazzanti, L., Torrente, I., Marino, B., Digilio, M.C., Zampino, G., Ackerman, M.J., Dallapiccola, B., Tartaglia, M., and Gelb, B.D. (2007). Gain-of-function RAF1 mutations cause Noonan and LEOPARD syndromes with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Nat Genet 39, 1007–1012.
- Pandya, A. (2007). Nonsyndromic Hearing Loss and Deafness, Mitochondrial In: GeneReviews at GeneTests: Medical Genetics Information Resource (database online). Copyright, University of Washington, Seattle. 1993–2009. Available at http://www.genetests.org. (Updated July 24, 2007).
- Pandya, A., Arnos, K.S., Xia, X.J., Welch, K.O., Blanton, S.H., Friedman, T.B., Garcia Sanchez, G., Liu, M.X., Morell, R., and Nance, W.E. (2003). Frequency and distribution of GJB2 (connexin 26) and GJB6 (connexin 30) mutations in a large North American repository of deaf probands. Genet Med 5, 295–303.
- Pantke, O.A., and Cohen, M.M., Jr. (1971). The Waardenburg syndrome. Birth Defects Orig Artic Ser 7, 147–152.

- Park, H.J., Hahn, S.H., Chun, Y.M., Park, K., and Kim, H.N. (2000). Connexin26 mutations associated with nonsyndromic hearing loss. Laryngoscope 110, 1535– 1538.
- Park, H.J., Shaukat, S., Liu, X.Z., Hahn, S.H., Naz, S., Ghosh, M., Kim, H.N., Moon, S.K., Abe, S., Tukamoto, K., Riazuddin, S., Kabra, M., Erdenetungalag, R., Radnaabazar, J., Khan, S., Pandya, A., Usami, S.I., Nance, W.E., Wilcox, E.R., and Griffith, A.J. (2003). Origins and frequencies of SLC26A4 (PDS) mutations in east and south Asians: global implications for the epidemiology of deafness. J Med Genet 40, 242–248.
- Parker, M.J., Fortnum, H.M., Young, I.D., Davis, A.C., and Mueller, R.F. (2000). Population-based genetic study of childhood hearing impairment in the Trent Region of the United Kingdom. Audiology 39, 226–231.
- Parving, A. (2007). Early detection and assessment of genetic childhood hearing impairment. Martini, A., Stephens, D., Read, A.P., Eds. In: Genes, Hearing, and Deafness. Informa UK Ltd, 205–206.
- Pastinen, T., Perola, M., Ignatius, J., Sabatti, C., Tainola, P., Levander, M., Syvanen, A.C., and Peltonen, L. (2001). Dissecting a population genome for targeted screening of disease mutations. Hum Mol Genet 10, 2961–2972.
- Petersen, M.B. (2002). Non-syndromic autosomal-dominant deafness. Clin Genet 62, 1– 13.
- Petersen, M.B., and Willems, P.J. (2006). Non-syndromic, autosomal-recessive deafness. Clin Genet 69, 371–392.
- Pfaffl, M.W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 29, e45.
- Pfister, M., Thiele, H., Van Camp, G., Fransen, E., Apaydin, F., Aydin, O., Leistenschneider, P., Devoto, M., Zenner, H.P., Blin, N., Nurnberg, P., Ozkarakas, H., and Kupka, S. (2004). A genotype-phenotype correlation with gender-effect for hearing impairment caused by TECTA mutations. Cell Physiol Biochem 14, 369– 376.
- Piatto, V.B., Oliveira, C.A., Alexandrino, F., Pimpinati, C.J., and Sartorato, E.L. (2005). Prospects for genetic hearing loss screening: 35delG mutation tracking in a newborn population. J Pediatr (Rio J) 81, 139–142.
- Picciotti, P.M., Pietrobono, R., Neri, G., Paludetti, G., Fetoni, A.R., Cianfrone, F., and Pomponi, M.G. (2009). Correlation between GJB2 mutations and audiological deficits: personal experience. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 266, 489–494.
- Pinkel, D., Segraves, R., Sudar, D., Clark, S., Poole, I., Kowbel, D., Collins, C., Kuo, W.L., Chen, C., Zhai, Y., Dairkee, S.H., Ljung, B.M., Gray, J.W., and Albertson, D.G. (1998). High resolution analysis of DNA copy number variation using comparative genomic hybridization to microarrays. Nat Genet 20, 207–211.
- Pohjola, P., de Leeuw, N., Penttinen, M., and Kaariainen, H. (2010). Terminal 3p deletions in two families--correlation between molecular karyotype and phenotype. American journal of medical genetics 152A, 441–446.
- Prasad, S., Cucci, R.A., Green, G.E., and Smith, R.J. (2000). Genetic testing for hereditary hearing loss: connexin 26 (GJB2) allele variants and two novel deafnesscausing mutations (R32C and 645–648delTAGA). Hum Mutat 16, 502–508.
- Printzlau, A., and Andersen, M. (2004). Pierre Robin sequence in Denmark: a retrospective population-based epidemiological study. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 41, 47– 52.

- Puusepp, H. (2009). The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia: fragile X syndrome and creatine transporter defect. Medical dissertation of University of Tartu. Tartu University Press: Tartu 2009.
- Rabionet, R., Gasparini, P., and Estivill, X. (2000a). Molecular genetics of hearing impairment due to mutations in gap junction genes encoding beta connexins. Hum Mutat 16, 190–202.
- Rabionet, R., Zelante, L., Lopez-Bigas, N., D'Agruma, L., Melchionda, S., Restagno, G., Arbones, M.L., Gasparini, P., and Estivill, X. (2000b). Molecular basis of childhood deafness resulting from mutations in the GJB2 (connexin 26) gene. Hum Genet 106, 40–44.
- Richard, G., Rouan, F., Willoughby, C.E., Brown, N., Chung, P., Ryynanen, M., Jabs, E.W., Bale, S.J., DiGiovanna, J.J., Uitto, J., and Russell, L. (2002). Missense mutations in GJB2 encoding connexin-26 cause the ectodermal dysplasia keratitisichthyosis-deafness syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 70, 1341–1348.
- Robin M. Winter, M.B. (2007). London Dysmorphology Database: London Medical Databases.
- Robin, N.H., Moran, R.T., Warman, M., and Ala-Kokko, L. (2009). Stickler syndrome. In: GeneReviews at GeneTests: Medical Genetics Information Resource (database online). Copyright, University of Washington, Seattle. 1993–2009. Available at http://www.genetests.org. (Updated August 20, 2009).
- Rodriguez-Ballesteros, M., Reynoso, R., Olarte, M., Villamar, M., Morera, C., Santarelli, R., Arslan, E., Meda, C., Curet, C., Volter, C., Sainz-Quevedo, M., Castorina, P., Ambrosetti, U., Berrettini, S., Frei, K., Tedin, S., Smith, J., Cruz Tapia, M., Cavalle, L., Gelvez, N., Primignani, P., Gomez-Rosas, E., Martin, M., Moreno-Pelayo, M.A., Tamayo, M., Moreno-Barral, J., Moreno, F., and del Castillo, I. (2008). A multicenter study on the prevalence and spectrum of mutations in the otoferlin gene (OTOF) in subjects with nonsyndromic hearing impairment and auditory neuropathy. Hum Mutat 29, 823–831.
- Rodriguez-Paris, J., and Schrijver, I. (2009). The digenic hypothesis unraveled: the GJB6 del(GJB6-D13S1830) mutation causes allele-specific loss of GJB2 expression in cis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *389*, 354–359.
- Roohi, J., Montagna, C., Tegay, D.H., Palmer, L.E., DeVincent, C., Pomeroy, J.C., Christian, S.L., Nowak, N., and Hatchwell, E. (2009). Disruption of contactin 4 in three subjects with autism spectrum disorder. J Med Genet 46, 176–182.
- Roux, A.F., Pallares-Ruiz, N., Vielle, A., Faugere, V., Templin, C., Leprevost, D., Artieres, F., Lina, G., Molinari, N., Blanchet, P., Mondain, M., and Claustres, M. (2004). Molecular epidemiology of DFNB1 deafness in France. BMC Med Genet 5, 5.
- Ruben, R.J. (1991). The history of the genetics of hearing impairment. Ann N Y Acad Sci 630, 6–15.
- Ruf, R.G., Xu, P.X., Silvius, D., Otto, E.A., Beekmann, F., Muerb, U.T., Kumar, S., Neuhaus, T.J., Kemper, M.J., Raymond, R.M., Jr., Brophy, P.D., Berkman, J., Gattas, M., Hyland, V., Ruf, E.M., Schwartz, C., Chang, E.H., Smith, R.J., Stratakis, C.A., Weil, D., Petit, C., and Hildebrandt, F. (2004). SIX1 mutations cause branchio-oto-renal syndrome by disruption of EYA1-SIX1-DNA complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 8090–8095.
- Sakagami, M., Fukazawa, K., Matsunaga, T., Fujita, H., Mori, N., Takumi, T., Ohkubo, H., and Nakanishi, S. (1991). Cellular localization of rat Isk protein in the stria vascularis by immunohistochemical observation. Hear Res 56, 168–172.

- Sansovic, I., Knezevic, J., Matijevic, T., Balen, S., Barisic, I., and Pavelic, J. (2005). Prevalence of the 35delG mutation in the GJB2 gene of patients with nonsyndromic hearing loss from Croatia. Genet Test 9, 297–300.
- Sarkozy, A., Carta, C., Moretti, S., Zampino, G., Digilio, M.C., Pantaleoni, F., Scioletti, A.P., Esposito, G., Cordeddu, V., Lepri, F., Petrangeli, V., Dentici, M.L., Mancini, G.M., Selicorni, A., Rossi, C., Mazzanti, L., Marino, B., Ferrero, G.B., Silengo, M.C., Memo, L., Stanzial, F., Faravelli, F., Stuppia, L., Puxeddu, E., Gelb, B.D., Dallapiccola, B., and Tartaglia, M. (2009). Germline BRAF mutations in Noonan, LEOPARD, and cardiofaciocutaneous syndromes: molecular diversity and associated phenotypic spectrum. Human mutation 30, 695–702.
- Sarkozy, A., Digilio, M.C., and Dallapiccola, B. (2008). Leopard syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis *3*, 13.
- Sas Institute, I. (1999). SAS Online Doc, Version 8.2. Cary, NC, SAS Institute, Inc.
- Schinzel, A. (2001). Catalogue of Unbalanced Chromosome Aberrations in Man. Walter de Gruyter: Berlin.
- Schultz, J.M., Yang, Y., Caride, A.J., Filoteo, A.G., Penheiter, A.R., Lagziel, A., Morell, R.J., Mohiddin, S.A., Fananapazir, L., Madeo, A.C., Penniston, J.T., and Griffith, A.J. (2005). Modification of human hearing loss by plasma-membrane calcium pump PMCA2. New Engl J Med 352, 1557–1564.
- Scott, D.A., Wang, R., Kreman, T.M., Andrews, M., McDonald, J.M., Bishop, J.R., Smith, R.J., Karniski, L.P., and Sheffield, V.C. (2000). Functional differences of the PDS gene product are associated with phenotypic variation in patients with Pendred syndrome and non-syndromic hearing loss (DFNB4). Hum Mol Genet 9, 1709– 1715.
- Scott, D.A., Wang, R., Kreman, T.M., Sheffield, V.C., and Karniski, L.P. (1999). The Pendred syndrome gene encodes a chloride-iodide transport protein. Nat Genet 21, 440–443.
- Shuib, S., McMullan, D., Rattenberry, E., Barber, R.M., Rahman, F., Zatyka, M., Chapman, C., Macdonald, F., Latif, F., Davison, V., and Maher, E.R. (2009). Microarray based analysis of 3p25-p26 deletions (3p- syndrome). Am J Med Genet 149A, 2099–2105.
- Simsek, M., Al-Wardy, N., Al-Khayat, A., Shanmugakonar, M., Al-Bulushi, T., Al-Khabory, M., Al-Mujeni, S., and Al-Harthi, S. (2001). Absence of deafness-associated connexin-26 (GJB2) gene mutations in the Omani population. Hum Mutat 18, 545–546.
- Skerrett, I.M., Di, W.L., Kasperek, E.M., Kelsell, D.P., and Nicholson, B.J. (2004). Aberrant gating, but a normal expression pattern, underlies the recessive phenotype of the deafness mutant Connexin26M34T. FASEB J 18, 860–862.
- Smith, R.J., Berlin, C.I., Hejtmancik, J.F., Keats, B.J., Kimberling, W.J., Lewis, R.A., Moller, C.G., Pelias, M.Z., and Tranebjaerg, L. (1994). Clinical diagnosis of the Usher syndromes. Usher Syndrome Consortium. Am J Med Genet 50, 32–38.
- Smith, R.J., and Hone, S. (2003). Genetic screening for deafness. Pediatr Clin North Am 50, 315–329.
- Smith, R.J., and Robin, N.H. (2002). Genetic testing for deafness--GJB2 and SLC26A4 as causes of deafness. J Commun Disord *35*, 367–377.
- Smith, R.J.H., and Van Camp, G. (2007). Deafness and Hereditary Hearing Loss Overview. In: GeneReviews at GeneTests: Medical Genetics Information Resource (database online). Copyright, University of Washington, Seattle. 1993–2009. Available at http://www.genetests.org. (Updated January 30, 2007).

- Smith, R.J.H., and Van Camp, G. (2008). Nonsyndromic Hearing Loss and Deafness, DFNB1. In: GeneReviews at GeneTests: Medical Genetics Information Resource (database online). Copyright, University of Washington, Seattle. 1993–2009. Available at http://www.genetests.org. (Updated July 11, 2008).
- Snead, M.P., and Yates, J.R. (1999). Clinical and Molecular genetics of Stickler syndrome. J Med Genet *36*, 353–359.
- Snoeckx, R.L., Huygen, P.L., Feldmann, D., Marlin, S., Denoyelle, F., Waligora, J., Mueller-Malesinska, M., Pollak, A., Ploski, R., Murgia, A., Orzan, E., Castorina, P., Ambrosetti, U., Nowakowska-Szyrwinska, E., Bal, J., Wiszniewski, W., Janecke, A.R., Nekahm-Heis, D., Seeman, P., Bendova, O., Kenna, M.A., Frangulov, A., Rehm, H.L., Tekin, M., Incesulu, A., Dahl, H.H., du Sart, D., Jenkins, L., Lucas, D., Bitner-Glindzicz, M., Avraham, K.B., Brownstein, Z., del Castillo, I., Moreno, F., Blin, N., Pfister, M., Sziklai, I., Toth, T., Kelley, P.M., Cohn, E.S., Van Maldergem, L., Hilbert, P., Roux, A.F., Mondain, M., Hoefsloot, L.H., Cremers, C.W., Lopponen, T., Lopponen, H., Parving, A., Gronskov, K., Schrijver, I., Roberson, J., Gualandi, F., Martini, A., Lina-Granade, G., Pallares-Ruiz, N., Correia, C., Fialho, G., Cryns, K., Hilgert, N., Van de Heyning, P., Nishimura, C.J., Smith, R.J., and Van Camp, G. (2005). GJB2 mutations and degree of hearing loss: a multicenter study. American journal of human genetics 77, 945–957.
- Snoeckx, R.L., Kremer, H., Ensink, R.J., Flothmann, K., de Brouwer, A., Smith, R.J., Cremers, C.W., and Van Camp, G. (2004). A novel locus for autosomal dominant non-syndromic hearing loss, DFNA31, maps to chromosome 6p21.3. J Med Genet 41, 11–13.
- Sobe, T., Vreugde, S., Shahin, H., Berlin, M., Davis, N., Kanaan, M., Yaron, Y., Orr-Urtreger, A., Frydman, M., Shohat, M., and Avraham, K.B. (2000). The prevalence and expression of inherited connexin 26 mutations associated with nonsyndromic hearing loss in the Israeli population. Hum Genet 106, 50–57.
- Steel, K.P., and Bussoli, T.J. (1999). Deafness genes: expressions of surprise. Trends Genet 15, 207–211.
- Storm, K., Willocx, S., Flothmann, K., and Van Camp, G. (1999). Determination of the carrier frequency of the common GJB2 (connexin-26) 35delG mutation in the Belgian population using an easy and reliable screening method. Hum Mutat 14, 263–266.
- Street, V.A., Kallman, J.C., Robertson, N.G., Kuo, S.F., Morton, C.C., and Phillips, J.O. (2005). A novel DFNA9 mutation in the vWFA2 domain of COCH alters a conserved cysteine residue and intrachain disulfide bond formation resulting in progressive hearing loss and site-specific vestibular and central oculomotor dysfunction. Am J Med Genet A 139A, 86–95.
- Streppel, M., Richling, F., Walger, M., von Wedel, H., and Eckel, H.E. (2000). Epidemiology of hereditary hearing disorders in childhood: a retrospective study in Germany with special regard to ethnic factors. Scand Audiol 29, 3–9.
- Zelante, L., Gasparini, P., Estivill, X., Melchionda, S., D'Agruma, L., Govea, N., Mila, M., Monica, M.D., Lutfi, J., Shohat, M., Mansfield, E., Delgrosso, K., Rappaport, E., Surrey, S., and Fortina, P. (1997). Connexin26 mutations associated with the most common form of non-syndromic neurosensory autosomal recessive deafness (DFNB1) in Mediterraneans. Hum Mol Genet 6, 1605–1609.
- Zhao, H.B., Kikuchi, T., Ngezahayo, A., and White, T.W. (2006). Gap junctions and cochlear homeostasis. J Membr Biol 209, 177–186.
- Zheng, J., Shen, W., He, D.Z., Long, K.B., Madison, L.D., and Dallos, P. (2000). Prestin is the motor protein of cochlear outer hair cells. Nature 405, 149–155.

- Tang, H.Y., Xia, A., Oghalai, J.S., Pereira, F.A., and Alford, R.L. (2005). High frequency of the IVS2–2A>G DNA sequence variation in SLC26A5, encoding the cochlear motor protein prestin, precludes its involvement in hereditary hearing loss. BMC medical genetics 6, 30.
- Tartaglia, M., Mehler, E.L., Goldberg, R., Zampino, G., Brunner, H.G., Kremer, H., van der Burgt, I., Crosby, A.H., Ion, A., Jeffery, S., Kalidas, K., Patton, M.A., Kucherlapati, R.S., and Gelb, B.D. (2001). Mutations in PTPN11, encoding the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2, cause Noonan syndrome. Nat Genet 29, 465– 468.
- Tazawa, S., Yamato, T., Fujikura, H., Hiratochi, M., Itoh, F., Tomae, M., Takemura, Y., Maruyama, H., Sugiyama, T., Wakamatsu, A., Isogai, T., and Isaji, M. (2005). SLC5A9/SGLT4, a new Na+-dependent glucose transporter, is an essential transporter for mannose, 1,5-anhydro-D-glucitol, and fructose. Life Sci 76, 1039– 1050.
- Teek, R., Raukas, E., Oitmaa, E., Kruustük, K., Zordania, R., Joost, K., Kull, M., and Õunap, K. (2007). Pärilik ehk geneetiline kuulmislangus. Eesti Arst *86(4)*, 254–261.
- Tekin, M., Akar, N., Cin, S., Blanton, S.H., Xia, X.J., Liu, X.Z., Nance, W.E., and Pandya, A. (2001a). Connexin 26 (GJB2) mutations in the Turkish population: implications for the origin and high frequency of the 35delG mutation in Caucasians. Hum Genet 108, 385–389.
- Tekin, M., Arnos, K.S., and Pandya, A. (2001b). Advances in hereditary deafness. Lancet 358, 1082–1090.
- Topsakal, V., Pennings, R.J., te Brinke, H., Hamel, B., Huygen, P.L., Kremer, H., and Cremers, C.W. (2005). Phenotype determination guides swift genotyping of a DFNA2/KCNQ4 family with a hot spot mutation (W276S). Otol Neurotol *26*, 52–58.
- Toriello, H.V., Reardon, W., and Gorlin, R.J. (2004). Hereditary hearing loss and its syndromes. Oxford University Press Inc.
- Toth, T., Deak, L., Fazakas, F., Zheng, J., Muszbek, L., and Sziklai, I. (2007). A new mutation in the human pres gene and its effect on prestin function. Int J Mol Medicine 20, 545–550.
- Tsukamoto, K., Suzuki, H., Harada, D., Namba, A., Abe, S., and Usami, S. (2003). Distribution and frequencies of PDS (SLC26A4) mutations in Pendred syndrome and nonsyndromic hearing loss associated with enlarged vestibular aqueduct: a unique spectrum of mutations in Japanese. Eur J Hum Genet *11*, 916–922.
- Uus, K., and Davis, A.C. (2000). Epidemiology of permanent childhood hearing impairment in Estonia, 1985–1990. Audiology 39, 192–197.
- Waardenburg, P.J. (1951). A new syndrome combining developmental anomalies of the eyelids, eyebrows and nose root with pigmentary defects of the iris and head hair and with congenital deafness. Am J Hum Genet *3*, 195–253.
- Van Camp, G., and Smith, R.J.H. (2008). Hereditary Hearing Loss Homepage. http://webho1.ua.ac.be/hhh/ (Updated May 28, 2008).
- Van Camp, G., and Smith, R.J.H. (2010). Hereditary Hearing Loss Homepage. http://hereditaryhearingloss.org/ Updated May 20, 2010.
- Van Camp, G., Willems, P.J., and Smith, R.J. (1997). Nonsyndromic hearing impairment: unparalleled heterogeneity. Am J Hum Genet 60, 758–764.
- van der Knaap, M.S., Vermeulen, G., Barkhof, F., Hart, A.A., Loeber, J.G., and Weel, J.F. (2004). Pattern of white matter abnormalities at MR imaging: use of polymerase chain reaction testing of Guthrie cards to link pattern with congenital cytomegalo-virus infection. Radiology 230, 529–536.

- Vauloup-Fellous, C., Ducroux, A., Couloigner, V., Marlin, S., Picone, O., Galimand, J., Loundon, N., Denoyelle, F., Grangeot-Keros, L., and Leruez-Ville, M. (2007). Evaluation of cytomegalovirus (CMV) DNA quantification in dried blood spots: retrospective study of CMV congenital infection. J Clin Microbiol 45, 3804–3806.
- White, T.W., Deans, M.R., Kelsell, D.P., and Paul, D.L. (1998). Connexin mutations in deafness. Nature 394, 630–631.
- Wilcox, S.A., Osborn, A.H., and Dahl, H.H. (2000a). A simple PCR test to detect the common 35delG mutation in the connexin 26 gene. Mol Diagn 5, 75–78.
- Wilcox, S.A., Saunders, K., Osborn, A.H., Arnold, A., Wunderlich, J., Kelly, T., Collins, V., Wilcox, L.J., McKinlay Gardner, R.J., Kamarinos, M., Cone-Wesson, B., Williamson, R., and Dahl, H.H. (2000b). High frequency hearing loss correlated with mutations in the GJB2 gene. Hum Genet *106*, 399–405.
- Winter, R.M., and Baraitser, M. (2007). London Dysmorphology Database: London Medical Databases.
- Winter, R.M., and Baraitser, M. (2010). London Dysmorphology Database: London Medical Databases.
- Xia, J.H., Liu, C.Y., Tang, B.S., Pan, Q., Huang, L., Dai, H.P., Zhang, B.R., Xie, W., Hu, D.X., Zheng, D., Shi, X.L., Wang, D.A., Xia, K., Yu, K.P., Liao, X.D., Feng, Y., Yang, Y.F., Xiao, J.Y., Xie, D.H., and Huang, J.Z. (1998). Mutations in the gene encoding gap junction protein beta-3 associated with autosomal dominant hearing impairment. Nat Genet 20, 370–373.
- Xing, G., Chen, Z., and Cao, X. (2007). Mitochondrial rRNA and tRNA and hearing function. Cell Res 17, 227–239.
- Yaeger, D., McCallum, J., Lewis, K., Soslow, L., Shah, U., Potsic, W., Stolle, C., and Krantz, I.D. (2006). Outcomes of clinical examination and genetic testing of 500 individuals with hearing loss evaluated through a genetics of hearing loss clinic. Am J Med Genet A 140, 827–836.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Varajase algusega kuulmislanguse geneetilised põhjused Eesti lastel

Pärilik ehk geneetiline kuulmislangus

Kuulmislangus (KL) on kõige sagedasem pärilik sensoorne haigus. Ligikaudu 70 miljonit inimest kogu maailmas kannatab KL all, mis häirib oluliselt nende suhtlusvõimet ja vähendab tunduvalt toimetulekut iseseisvas elus. Varajase ehk kõne-eelse KL esinemissagedus arvatakse olevat ligikaudu 1–2 juhtu 1000 lapse kohta (Marazita *et al.*, 1993; Cryns *et al.*, 2004; Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005; Hilgert *et al.*, 2009b). Kuni 60%-1 juhtudest on tegemist päriliku ehk geneetilise KL-ga (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005).

Geneetiline KL jagatakse sündroomseks ja mittesündroomseks vormiks. (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). Sündroomse vormi korral esineb patsiendil lisaks KL-le väliskõrva nähtav anomaalia või teiste elundisüsteemide patoloogia, kus elundite haaratus põhjustab erinevaid meditsiinilisi probleeme. Mittesündroomse ehk isoleeritud vormi korral ei esine KL-ga patsiendil väliselt nähtavaid arenguanomaaliaid ega teiste elundisüsteemide patoloogiat (Smith and Van Camp, 2007).

Päriliku KL-ga seotud geenide kaardistamise ja identifitseerimisega alustati XX. sajandi 90-ndate aastate esimesel poolel. Autosoom-dominantseid (AD) lookuseid tähistatakse DFNA, kus DFN on lühend inglisekeelsest sõnast *deafness* ja A tähistab autosoom-dominantset KL-st. Autosoom-retsessiivseid (AR) lookuseid tähistatakse DFNB, kus DFN pärineb sõnast *deafness* ja B tähistab autosoom-retsessiivset KL-st. Esimene DFNA1 lookus kaardistati 1992. aastal ja esimesed AR KL-ga seotud geenid isoleeriti 1997. aastal (Petersen and Willems, 2006). Tänapäeval arvatakse, et normaalse kuulmisprotsessiga on seotud umbes 1% inimese geenidest, s.o. 300–500 geeni, KL põhjustajana on hetkel kirjeldatud kõigest 120 geeni (Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005). Kuigi kahekümnenda sajandi viimasel dekaadil identifitseeriti kiiresti suur hulk KL-ga seotud geene, tuleb sellesse siiski suhtuda kui senini pooleliolevasse töösse, kus on teada vaid umbes 1/3 kõikidest KL-ga seotud geenidest (Nance, 2003; Finsterer and Fellinger, 2005; Teek *et al.*, 2007).

Mutatsioon c.35delG GJB2 geenis

Vaatamata suurele AR- tüüpi pärilikku KL-st põhjustavate geenide arvule on kindlaks tehtud, et enamus AR mittesündroomse KL juhtudest (58–88%) on seotud 13. kromosoomi regioonis q11–q12 asuva DFNB1 lookusega ning on tingitud mutatsioonist *GJB2* geenis (MIM 121011). *GJB2* geen kodeerib nn tühimikku ühendavat valku (*gap junction protein*) – konneksiin 26 (Guilford *et*

al., 1994). *GJB2* geenis esinev c.35delG lugemisraami nihet põhjustav mutatsioon on Euroopas populatsioonides kõige sagedamini esinev pärilikku KL põhjustav mutatsioon (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000). c.35delG kandluse esinemissagedust erinevatel Euroopa rahvastel on põhjalikult uuritud ning arvatakse, et c.35delG on kõige sagedamini esinev haigusseoseline mutatsioon (Denoyelle *et al.*, 1997; Estivill *et al.*, 1998; Petersen and Willems, 2006). Kirjanduse andmetel esineb kõige kõrgem c.35delG kandlus Vahemere maades ja Lõuna-Euroopas (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000; Petersen and Willems, 2006). Samas leiti 2000. aastal Gasparini ja kaasautorite poolt tehtud erinevaid Euroopa riike hõlmavas c.35delG kandluse uuringus, et Eestis on c.35delG kandlus 1:22,5-le, mis on kõrgeim Euroopas (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000; Petersen and Willems, 2006).

DNA diagnostikas KL testimisel kasutatakse kõige enam *GJB2* geenis asuva mutatsiooni c.35delG analüüsi, mida leitakse umbes 30%-l KL-ga patsientidel (Gasparini *et al.*, 2000; Snoeckx *et al.*, 2005).

Mutatsioon p.M34T GJB2 geenis

Esimeste isoleeritud GJB2 geeni mutatsioonide seas oli ka aminohappe asendusmutatsioon p.M34T. Kirjanduses vaieldakse jätkuvalt p.M34T patogeensuse üle. Sageli käsitletakse p.M34T mutatsiooni kui AR patogeenset mutatsiooni, mille toime avaldub siis kas koos teiste GJB2 geeni koosesinemisega või homosügootsena (Cohn and Kelley, 1999; Cucci et al., 2000; Houseman et al., 2001; Janecke et al., 2002; Lopponen et al., 2003; Snoeckx et al., 2005; Azaiez et al., 2007), teiste autorite arvates ei ole p.M34T patogeenne mutatsioon (Green et al., 1999; Griffith et al., 2000; Marlin et al., 2001; Feldmann et al., 2004; Snoeckx et al., 2005). Mutatsiooni p.M34T esinemissagedust nii üldpopulatsioonis kui ka KL-ga patsientide hulgas on tunduvalt vähem uuritud kui c.35delG esinemist. Mitmete tööde juures on ära märgitud, et mutatsiooni p.M34T kandlus on üldpopulatsioonis kõrge, teinekord isegi kõrgem võrreldes mutatsiooni c.35delG kandlusega (Cucci et al., 2000; Marlin et al., 2001; Lopponen et al., 2003; Roux et al., 2004). Samas KL-ga isikute hulgas on p.M34T homosügootsus või liitheterosügootsus harvaesinev (Green et al., 1999; Roux et al., 2004). Antud probleemi olemuse selgitamiseks ei ole praeguseni ühtset seisukohta.

Töö eesmärgid

- 1. Määrata *GJB2* geeni mutatsioonide c.35delG ja p.M34T esinemissagedus Eesti vastsündinute populatsioonis.
- 2. Teha kindlaks *GJB2*, *GJB3*, *GJB6*, *SLC26A4* geenide ja kahe mitokondriaalse geeni (*12S rRNA* and *tRNA-Ser*) mutatsioonide esinemissagedus Eesti KL-ga laste hulgas.

- 3. Kirjeldada *GJB2* geeni mutatsioonidega patsientide genotüübi ja fenotüübi vahelisi seoseid.
- 4. Uurida *SLC26A5* (prestiini) geenis mutatsiooni IVS2–2A>G esinemist Eesti KL-ga isikute ja nende pereliikmete hulgas.
- 5. Iseloomustada harvaesinevaid KL-ga seotud sündroome.
- 6. Kirjeldada väikeste submikroskoopiliste kromosomaalsete ümberkorralduste esinemist lastel, kelle peamiseks kaebuseks/probleemiks on KL.
- 7. Määrata molekulaarse analüüsiga kaasasündinud tsütomegaloviirusinfektsiooni (CMV) esinemine Eesti KL-ga lastel.

Uurimisgrupid ja uurimismeetodid

Mutatsioonide c.35delG ja p.M34T esinemissagedus Eesti vastsündinute populatsioonis

Uuringugrupis oli 998 anonüümset vastsündinut, kes olid järjestikku sündinud Eesti erinevates piirkondades ühe kuu jooksul (jaanuar 2005). Uuringuks kasutasime kuivatatud vereplekke Guthrie kaartidelt (vastsündinute skriiningprogramm fenüülketonuuria ja kaasasündinud hüpotüreoosi suhtes). Uurisime kuivatatud vereplekkidest eraldatud vastsündinute DNA-d kahe Eestis sagedamini esineva KL-st põhjustava *GJB2* geenis asuvate c.35delG and p.M34T mutatsioonide suhtes. Geograafilise gradiendi määramiseks jagasime Eesti kolmeks piirkonnaks: Põhja, Lääne ja Kagu Eestiks.

Varajase algusega KL-ga laste uuringugrupp

Selles uuringugrupis oli 233 last vanuses 0–18 aastat üle Eesti, kellel oli diagnoositud lapseea-algusega KL. Patsiendid olid esmalt pöördunud nina-kõrvakurguarsti konsultatsioonile kas vastsündinute KL skriininguuringu mitteläbimise tõttu või hiljem tekkinud kahtlusega KL esinemisele. Uuringugruppi kuulusid lapsed, kellel KL diagnoos kinnitus ja nad suunati edasi geneetiku konsultatsioonile ajavahemikus 1. jaanuar 2000 kuni 31.märts 2009. Põhja-Eesti piirkonnas toimus geneetiku konsultatsioon Tallinna Lastehaiglas ja Lõuna-Eestis Tartu Ülikooli Kliinikumis. Kõikidel juhtudel täpsustati perekonna anamnees ja sugupuu koostamisel pöörati tähelepanu just KL esinemisele mitme põlvkonna jooksul. Sündroomse KL diagnostikaks märgiti kliinilisel läbivaatusel üles kasvu parameetrid ja fenotüübis esinevad tunnused elundkondade kaupa.

Molekulaarsed ja tsütogeneetilised uuringud

Kõigile uuringugrupi patsientidele tehti:

- a) DNA analüüs seitsmes erinevas geenis (*GJB2*, *GJB3*, *GJB6*, *GJA1*, *SLC26A4*, *SLC26A5*, *12S-rRNA* ja *tRNA-Ser* geen) paikneva 199 mutatsiooni suhtes APEX (*arrayed primer extension* praimerekstensioon oligo-nukleotiidmaatriksil) meetodil (Asper Biotech, Tartu) Tartu Ülikooli Ühend-labori geneetikakeskuses (Gardner *et al.*, 2006). Kakskümmend kolm patsienti olid uuritud enne 2005. aastat *GJB2* mutatsiooni c.35delG suhtes PCR analüüsiga ja neil oli leitud mutatsiooni c.35delG homosügootsus. Seetõttu nendele patsientidele APEX analüüsi ei tehtud. Teistel enne 2005. aastat uuritud patsientidel, kaasa arvatud mutatsiooni c.35delG heterosügoodid, tehti hiljem juurde APEX analüüs.
- b) Kliinilise näidustuse alusel tehti kromosomaalne analüüs perifeerse vere lümfotsüütide kultuurist 55 patsiendile.
- c) Patsientide hulgast, kelle KL etioloogia jäi ikkagi ebaselgeks, valiti välja 96 last kaasasündinud tsütomegaloviirusinfektsiooni (CMV) DNA analüüsi teostamiseks vastsündinute skriiningkaartidelt (kuivatatud vereplekid Guthrie kaartidel). Kuna Eesti vastsündinute skriiningprogramm fenüülketonuuria suhtes algas 1993. aastast, siis testkaardid olid kättesaadavad 96-st väljavalitud patsiendist 85-1.
- d) Allesjäänud ebaselge etioloogiaga KL-ga laste hulgast valisime välja 24 patsienti, kellel esines lisaks KL-le näo düsmorfism, arengus mahajäämus või käitumishäired ning kellel me ei diagnoosinud KL-ga seotud sündroomi. Antud 24-l patsiendil tegime kogu genoomi genotüpiseerimise analüüsi, kasutades selleks HumanCytoSNP-12 versiooni 1.0 või Human370CNV-Duo (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA; www.illumina.com). Sündroomse KL diferentsiaaldiagnostikas kasutasime Londoni Düsmorfoloogia andmebaasi (Winter and Baraitser, 2010).

Uuringu peamised tulemused

- 1. Mutatsiooni c.35delG kandluse esinemissagedus Eesti vastsündinute populatsioonis oli 1:22 (4,5%). See tulemus vastab eelnevalt 113-l Eesti isikul läbiviidud uuringu tulemustele. Mutatsiooni p.M34T kandlus Eestis oli 1:17 (5,9%), mis on kõrgem kui mutatsiooni c.35delG kandlus. Mutatsioonide c.35delG ja p.M34T kandluse esinemissagedus Eestis on kõrgeim võrreldes teiste Euroopa rahvastega.
- Varajase KL-ga patsientide hulgast (233 patsienti) leidsime vähemalt ühes GJB2 geeni alleelis mutatsiooni 115-l (49%), kellest 73 patsienti (31%) olid homosügootsed c.35delG mutatsiooni ja seitse (3%) homosügootsed p.M34T mutatsiooni suhtes ning viiel patsiendil (2%) esines mutatsioonide c.35delG /p.M34T liitheterosügootsus.

- 3. Kõige sagedamini esinesid Eesti KL-ga laste hulgas *GJB2* geeni mutatsioonidest c.35delG ja p.M34T. Mutatsioon c.35delG esines 75% ja mutatsioon p.M34T 12% *GJB2* alleelidest. Ülejäänud kuus *GJB2* geeni mutatsiooni esinesid harvem (0,5–2%).
- 4. Me ei leidnud oma uuringugrupis ühtegi last *GJB3* või *GJB6* mutatsioonidega. Seega nagu ka mitmetes teistes riikides, ei kuulu *GJB3* ja *GJB6* geeni mutatsioonid Eestis sagedaste varajase algusega KL geneetiliste põhjuste hulka.
- 5. Me leidsime viis patsienti, kellel esines heterosügootne mutatsioon *SLC26A4* geenis. Kuna nendel oli mutatsioon vaid *SLC26A4* geeni ühes alleelis, ei saa me antud leidu lastel esineva KL-ga seostada.
- 6. Mitokondriaalsetest mutatsioonidest põhjustatud KL on Eestis madala esinemissagedusega, samad andmed on ka teiste Euroopa riikide kohta. Me leidsime oma uuringugrupist vaid kaks last, kellel esines mitokondriaalne mutatsioon (0,9%). Ühel lapsel oli mutatsioon m.1555A>G mitokondriaalses *12S r-RNA* geenis ja teisel lapsel mutatsioon 7472insC mitokondriaalses *tRNA-Ser* geenis.
- 7. Kõige enam levinud genotüübiga c.35delG/c.35delG patsientidel esinesid sagedamini väga raske (50,7%) ja raske (27,4%) KL ning kolmandal kohal oli keskmine KL (20,6%). Mutatsiooni c.35delG homosügootide hulgas ei olnud meil ühtegi kerge KL-ga last. Meie uuringutulemused on vastavuses kirjanduse andmetega, kus enamusel c.35delG homosügootsusega patsientidel kirjeldatakse väga rasket ja rasket KL (Cryns *et al.*, 2004). Mõnedel patsientidel on keskmine KL ja üksikjuhtudel on varasemalt leitud ka kerget KL-st
- Sageduselt teine genotüüp oli p.M34T/p.M34T ja kõikidel antud genotüübiga uuritud lastel esines kerge KL nii nagu ka leitud kirjanduse andmetel.
- 9. Neljal KLga probandil (2,1%) ja nende viiel tervel pereliikmel kokku viiest perekonnast leidsime SLC26A5 geeni ühes alleelis mutatsiooni IVS2– 2A>G. Me ei leidnud ühtegi antud mutatsiooni homosügooti. Meie töö tulemused toetasid ka varem kirjanduses esitatud arvamust, mille kohaselt IVS2–2A>G heterosügootne mutatsioon SLC26A5 geenis ei ole üksinda piisav KL väljakujunemiseks.
- 10. Kliiniliste uuringute põhjal diagnoosisime seitsmel patsiendil (3%) sündroomset KL-st. Kahel patsiendil kinnitus Waardenburgi sündroomi II tüübi diagnoos ja ühel patsiendil vastavalt Stickleri sündroomi II tüübi, Klippel-Feili sündroomi, Kearns-Sayre sündroomi, Usheri sündroomi või Goldenhari sündroomi diagnoos. Meie uuringugrupis oli sündroomse KL osakaal madalam kui kirjanduse andmetel (12–30%). See võib olla tingitud meie eesmärgist uurida peamiselt mittesündroomse KL geneetilisi põhjuseid. Samuti pöörduvad varajase algusega KL-ga lapsed geneetiku konsultatsioonile esimestel eluaastatel, kuid selles eas ei ole sündroomse KL kliinilised tunnused veel välja kujunenud. Seda toetavad ka kaks LEOPARD sündroomi molekulaardiagnostiliselt kinnitatud juhtu, kus KL kui antud

sündroomi üks peamistest sümptomitest, ei olnud veel patsientidel välja kujunenud.

- 11. Valisime KL-ga laste grupist 24 patsienti, kelle KL-se etioloogia oli eelnevate uuringute järgselt endiselt ebaselgeks jäänud, kellel esines lisaks KLle düsmorfne välimus, arengus mahajäämus ja/või käitumishäired ning kellel ei saanud diagnoosida sündroomset KL-st. Uurisime antud patsiente kasutades ülegenoomset genotüpiseerimist Illumina geenikiipidega. Kolmel patsiendil (12%) leidsime 3 erinevat deleteerunud kromosoomipiirkonda, mis võivad olla seotud antud patsientidel esinevate kliiniliste sümptomitega. Ühel 8,5 aasta vanusel tüdrukul esinesid omapärane näo fenotüüp, arengus mahajäämus, kerge sensorineuraalne KL (SNKL) ja ~2.94-Mb suurune deletsioon 12q13.3-q41.1 kromosomaalses piirkonnas. Arvestades leidu oli patsiendil kohleas ekspresseeruva MYO1A geeni (DFNA48) haploinsuffitsentsus. 10-aastasel tüdrukul esinesid vähene näo düsmorfism ja kerge SNKL ning ~0,74-Mb suurune deletsioon 3p26.2 kromosomaalses piirkonnas, mille ta oli pärinud oma isalt. 3p26-p25 kromosomaalsesse piirkonda lokaliseerub ATP2B2 geen, mida ei teata küll otseselt KL põhjustajana, küll aga seostatakse antud geeni modifitseeriva efektiga, kus see mõjub teiste geenide poolt põhjustatud KL raskema fenotüübi väljakujunemisele. Kolmas patsient oli 10-aastane poiss, kellel esines raske SNKL, vähene näo düsmorfism ja 1p33 piirkonnas ~0,54-MB suurune deletsioon. Teadaolevalt ei ole antud piirkonda lokaliseeritud ühtegi SNKL tekkega seotud olevat lookust.
- 12. DNA analüüsi kaasasündinud CMV infektsiooni esinemise suhtes leidsime viiel patsiendil (2%) positiivse tulemuse. Antud tulemus on kooskõlas kirjanduse andmetega, kus kõige sagedasemaks omandatud (ehk mitte-geneetilise) KL põhjustajaks peetakse just kaasasündinud CMV-infekt-siooni. Kaasasündinud CMV infektsiooni on kerge retrospektiivselt testida, kasutades selleks vastsündinute Guthrie kaarte.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The present study was carried out in the Department of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology, University of Tartu, and since 2009 in the Department of the Pediatrics,University of Tartu.

Firstly, I would like to thank all my patients and their parents for their patience and cooperation, which made this study possible.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and respect foremost to my supervisors: Professor Katrin Õunap, for her support and assistance in starting and completing this study and most of all for her patience and believing in me; Professor Mart Kull, my second supervisor, for his enthusiasm, contribution and help in planning this work.

I am also deeply grateful to Assistant Professor Gunnar Tasa and Assistant Professor Oivi Uibo for their valuable suggestions in reviewing the thesis; Professor Vallo Tillman for his support during the study period.

In particular I would like to aknowledge the following persons:

- Tiia Reimand and Kai Muru for their friendship and helpfulness.
- All my colleagues at the Department of Genetics of Tartu University Hospital and from Tallinn Children's hospital Riina Zordania, Kairit Joost, Elviira Kurvinen, Tiiu Ilus, Pille Tammur, Kati Kuuse, Piret Ilisson, Mare Jürgenson, Kadi Varb, Riin Klade and Sirje Saarna for their interest, advice and help; colleagues in the field of molecular diagnostics Tiina Kahre, Neeme Tõnisson and Elve Raukas for their useful support and sharing their knowledge with me.
- Eneli Oitmaa from Asper Biotech for performing APEX analysis.
- Mari Nelis and Olga Zilina from the Institute of Molecular and cell Biology, University of Tartu, for perfoming and interpretation of chromosomal microarray analysis.
- Katrin Kruustük and Reet Tikk from the Ear Clinic of Tartu University Hospital, for their cooperation, help with patients and support.
- Kai Uus from the University of Manchester for her support.
- My colleagues at the Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital for their cooperation and contribution.
- Tiina Vinni and Tuuli Ruus for support and help me with documentations.
- Märt Möls for his valuable work in the statistical analyses and Marcus Denton for revising the English text of the thesis.

Finally, my greatest gratitude goes to my family – husband Gunnar, our daughters Marleen and Viivika for their understanding and patience, and to my parents Niina and Anton, my brother Aavo for their support and belief in me.

This work was supported by grants GARLA 6808 and 8175 from Estonian Science Foundation.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Rita Teek

Date and place of birth:	October 24, 1968, Tallinn, Estonia
Citizenship:	Estonia
Family status:	common-law marriage, 2 children
Aadress:	Department of Pediatrics
	University of Tartu
	Lunini Street 6
	Tartu 51014
Telefon:	+372 525 8803
	+372 731 9499
e-mail:	Rita.Teek@Kliinikum.ee
Praegune töökoht, amet:	Tartu University Hospital, United Laboratories,
-	Department of Genetics, Clinical Geneticist

Education

1987	graduated Tallinn Secondary School No 20.
1989–1995	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine
1995–1998	Tallinn Mustamäe Hospital, Internship in General Medicine
1999–2005	University of Tartu, Residency in Medical Genetics
2005–…	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, PhD studies

Professional employement

- 1987–1989 ESSR Ministery of Healthcare IVth Government Republican Hospital, Department of the Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Assistant nurse
- 1991–1992 Tartu Clinical Hospital, Department of the Emergency Cardiology, Ward assistant
- 1992–1995 Tartu Clinical Hospital, Department of the Emergency Cardiology, Medical nurse
- 2004–2005 Tartu University Clinics, United Laboratories, Medical Genetics Center, Medical Doctor
- 2005–... Tartu University Hospital, United Laboratories, Department of Genetics, Clinical Geneticist

Special courses

10.–27.04.2007 The training in syndrome diagnostics and genetic counselling in The Medical Genetics Clinic at the Family Federation; Helsinki, Finland.

Scientific work

A total of 7 publications and 8 presentations at international scientific conferences.

The scientific work has been focused on the following areas: the genetic causes of hearing loss, clinical genetics and dysmorphic syndromes.

Member of Junior Doctors' Association, Estonian Society of Human Genetics.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Rita Teek

us
.1

Haridus

1987	lõpetasin Tallinna 20.Keskkooli
1989–1995	TÜ arstiteaduskond ravi erialal
1995–1998	Tallinna Mustamäe Haiglas internatuur
1999–2005	TÜ, arstiteaduskond, meditsiinigeneetika residentuur
2005–…	TÜ, arstiteaduskond, doktorantuur

Teenistuskäik

1987–1989	ENSV TM IV Valitsuse Vabariiklik Haigla, anestesioloogia-
	reanimatoloogia osakond, hooldusõde
1991–1992	Tartu Kliiniline Haigla, infarktiravi osakond, sanitar
1992–1995	Tartu Kliiniline Haigla, infarktiravi osakond, med. õde
2004–2005	SA TÜK Ühendlabori Meditsiinigeneetika Keskus, üldarst
2005–…	SA TÜK Ühendlabori Meditsiinigeneetika Keskus,
	meditsiinigeneetik

Erialane täiendus

1027.04.2007	Meditsiinigeneetilise konsultatsiooni alane koolitus Soome
	Perekeskuse Meditsiinigeneetika osakond, Helsingi, Soome

Teadustegevus

Kokku on ilmunud 7 publikatsiooni ja 8 ettekannet rahvusvahelistel konverentsidel.

Teadustöö on olnud seotud järgmiste valdkondadega: kuulmislanguse geneetiliste põhjuste väljaselgitamine, kliiniline geneetika ja düsmorfoloogilised sündroomid.

Eesti Nooremarstide Ühenduse ja Eesti Inimesegeneetika Ühingu liige.

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Heidi-Ingrid Maaroos. The natural course of gastric ulcer in connection with chronic gastritis and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1991.
- 2. **Mihkel Zilmer.** Na-pump in normal and tumorous brain tissues: Structural, functional and tumorigenesis aspects. Tartu, 1991.
- 3. **Eero Vasar.** Role of cholecystokinin receptors in the regulation of behaviour and in the action of haloperidol and diazepam. Tartu, 1992.
- 4. **Tiina Talvik.** Hypoxic-ischaemic brain damage in neonates (clinical, biochemical and brain computed tomographical investigation). Tartu, 1992.
- 5. Ants Peetsalu. Vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: A study of gastric acidity, serum pepsinogen I, gastric mucosal histology and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1992.
- 6. **Marika Mikelsaar.** Evaluation of the gastrointestinal microbial ecosystem in health and disease. Tartu, 1992.
- 7. Hele Everaus. Immuno-hormonal interactions in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and multiple myeloma. Tartu, 1993.
- 8. **Ruth Mikelsaar.** Etiological factors of diseases in genetically consulted children and newborn screening: dissertation for the commencement of the degree of doctor of medical sciences. Tartu, 1993.
- 9. Agu Tamm. On metabolic action of intestinal microflora: clinical aspects. Tartu, 1993.
- 10. Katrin Gross. Multiple sclerosis in South-Estonia (epidemiological and computed tomographical investigations). Tartu, 1993.
- 11. **Oivi Uibo.** Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia: occurrence, screening, diagnosis and clinical characterization. Tartu, 1994.
- 12. Viiu Tuulik. The functional disorders of central nervous system of chemistry workers. Tartu, 1994.
- 13. **Margus Viigimaa.** Primary haemostasis, antiaggregative and anticoagulant treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Tartu, 1994.
- 14. **Rein Kolk.** Atrial versus ventricular pacing in patients with sick sinus syndrome. Tartu, 1994.
- 15. **Toomas Podar.** Incidence of childhood onset type 1 diabetes mellitus in Estonia. Tartu, 1994.
- 16. **Kiira Subi.** The laboratory surveillance of the acute respiratory viral infections in Estonia. Tartu, 1995.
- 17. **Irja Lutsar.** Infections of the central nervous system in children (epidemiologic, diagnostic and therapeutic aspects, long term outcome). Tartu, 1995.
- 18. **Aavo Lang.** The role of dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine, sigma and NMDA receptors in the action of antipsychotic drugs. Tartu, 1995.
- 19. Andrus Arak. Factors influencing the survival of patients after radical surgery for gastric cancer. Tartu, 1996.
- 20. **Tõnis Karki.** Quantitative composition of the human lactoflora and method for its examination. Tartu, 1996.

- 21. **Reet Mändar.** Vaginal microflora during pregnancy and its transmission to newborn. Tartu, 1996.
- 22. **Triin Remmel.** Primary biliary cirrhosis in Estonia: epidemiology, clinical characterization and prognostication of the course of the disease. Tartu, 1996.
- 23. **Toomas Kivastik.** Mechanisms of drug addiction: focus on positive reinforcing properties of morphine. Tartu, 1996.
- 24. **Paavo Pokk.** Stress due to sleep deprivation: focus on GABA_A receptorchloride ionophore complex. Tartu, 1996.
- 25. **Kristina Allikmets.** Renin system activity in essential hypertension. Associations with atherothrombogenic cardiovascular risk factors and with the efficacy of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 26. **Triin Parik.** Oxidative stress in essential hypertension: Associations with metabolic disturbances and the effects of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 27. Svetlana Päi. Factors promoting heterogeneity of the course of rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 1997.
- 28. **Maarike Sallo.** Studies on habitual physical activity and aerobic fitness in 4 to 10 years old children. Tartu, 1997.
- 29. Paul Naaber. *Clostridium difficile* infection and intestinal microbial ecology. Tartu, 1997.
- 30. Rein Pähkla. Studies in pinoline pharmacology. Tartu, 1997.
- 31. Andrus Juhan Voitk. Outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Tartu, 1997.
- 32. Joel Starkopf. Oxidative stress and ischaemia-reperfusion of the heart. Tartu, 1997.
- 33. Janika Kõrv. Incidence, case-fatality and outcome of stroke. Tartu, 1998.
- 34. Ülla Linnamägi. Changes in local cerebral blood flow and lipid peroxidation following lead exposure in experiment. Tartu, 1998.
- 35. Ave Minajeva. Sarcoplasmic reticulum function: comparison of atrial and ventricular myocardium. Tartu, 1998.
- 36. **Oleg Milenin.** Reconstruction of cervical part of esophagus by revascularised ileal autografts in dogs. A new complex multistage method. Tartu, 1998.
- 37. Sergei Pakriev. Prevalence of depression, harmful use of alcohol and alcohol dependence among rural population in Udmurtia. Tartu, 1998.
- 38. Allen Kaasik. Thyroid hormone control over β -adrenergic signalling system in rat atria. Tartu, 1998.
- 39. Vallo Matto. Pharmacological studies on anxiogenic and antiaggressive properties of antidepressants. Tartu, 1998.
- 40. **Maire Vasar.** Allergic diseases and bronchial hyperreactivity in Estonian children in relation to environmental influences. Tartu, 1998.
- 41. **Kaja Julge.** Humoral immune responses to allergens in early childhood. Tartu, 1998.
- 42. **Heli Grünberg.** The cardiovascular risk of Estonian schoolchildren. A cross-sectional study of 9-, 12- and 15-year-old children. Tartu, 1998.

- 43. **Epp Sepp.** Formation of intestinal microbial ecosystem in children. Tartu, 1998.
- 44. **Mai Ots.** Characteristics of the progression of human and experimental glomerulopathies. Tartu, 1998.
- 45. Tiina Ristimäe. Heart rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease. Tartu, 1998.
- 46. Leho Kõiv. Reaction of the sympatho-adrenal and hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical system in the acute stage of head injury. Tartu, 1998.
- 47. Bela Adojaan. Immune and genetic factors of childhood onset IDDM in Estonia. An epidemiological study. Tartu, 1999.
- 48. Jakov Shlik. Psychophysiological effects of cholecystokinin in humans. Tartu, 1999.
- 49. **Kai Kisand.** Autoantibodies against dehydrogenases of α -ketoacids. Tartu, 1999.
- 50. Toomas Marandi. Drug treatment of depression in Estonia. Tartu, 1999.
- 51. Ants Kask. Behavioural studies on neuropeptide Y. Tartu, 1999.
- 52. Ello-Rahel Karelson. Modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in the rat hippocampus by neuropeptide galanin and its chimeric analogs. Tartu, 1999.
- 53. **Tanel Laisaar.** Treatment of pleural empyema special reference to intrapleural therapy with streptokinase and surgical treatment modalities. Tartu, 1999.
- 54. Eve Pihl. Cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged former athletes. Tartu, 1999.
- 55. **Katrin Õunap.** Phenylketonuria in Estonia: incidence, newborn screening, diagnosis, clinical characterization and genotype/phenotype correlation. Tartu, 1999.
- 56. Siiri Kõljalg. Acinetobacter an important nosocomial pathogen. Tartu, 1999.
- 57. Helle Karro. Reproductive health and pregnancy outcome in Estonia: association with different factors. Tartu, 1999.
- 58. **Heili Varendi.** Behavioral effects observed in human newborns during exposure to naturally occurring odors. Tartu, 1999.
- 59. Anneli Beilmann. Epidemiology of epilepsy in children and adolescents in Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, and clinical characteristics. Tartu, 1999.
- 60. Vallo Volke. Pharmacological and biochemical studies on nitric oxide in the regulation of behaviour. Tartu, 1999.
- 61. **Pilvi Ilves.** Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy in asphyxiated term infants. A prospective clinical, biochemical, ultrasonographical study. Tartu, 1999.
- 62. Anti Kalda. Oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced neuronal death and its pharmacological prevention in cerebellar granule cells. Tartu, 1999.
- 63. Eve-Irene Lepist. Oral peptide prodrugs studies on stability and absorption. Tartu, 2000.
- 64. **Jana Kivastik.** Lung function in Estonian schoolchildren: relationship with anthropometric indices and respiratory symptomas, reference values for dynamic spirometry. Tartu, 2000.
- 65. **Karin Kull.** Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunogenetic study. Tartu, 2000.
- 66. Kaire Innos. Epidemiological resources in Estonia: data sources, their quality and feasibility of cohort studies. Tartu, 2000.
- 67. **Tamara Vorobjova.** Immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* and its association with dynamics of chronic gastritis and epithelial cell turnover in antrum and corpus. Tartu, 2001.
- 68. **Ruth Kalda.** Structure and outcome of family practice quality in the changing health care system of Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 69. Annika Krüüner. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* spread and drug resistance in Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 70. **Marlit Veldi.** Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Computerized Endopharyngeal Myotonometry of the Soft Palate and Lingual Musculature. Tartu, 2001.
- 71. Anneli Uusküla. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases in Estonia in 1990–2000. Tartu, 2001.
- 72. Ade Kallas. Characterization of antibodies to coagulation factor VIII. Tartu, 2002.
- 73. **Heidi Annuk.** Selection of medicinal plants and intestinal lactobacilli as antimicrobil components for functional foods. Tartu, 2002.
- 74. Aet Lukmann. Early rehabilitation of patients with ischaemic heart disease after surgical revascularization of the myocardium: assessment of health-related quality of life, cardiopulmonary reserve and oxidative stress. A clinical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 75. **Maigi Eisen.** Pathogenesis of Contact Dermatitis: participation of Oxidative Stress. A clinical – biochemical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 76. **Piret Hussar.** Histology of the post-traumatic bone repair in rats. Elaboration and use of a new standardized experimental model bicortical perforation of tibia compared to internal fracture and resection osteotomy. Tartu, 2002.
- 77. **Tõnu Rätsep.** Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral haemodynamics. Tartu, 2002.
- 78. **Marju Herodes.** Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 79. Katre Maasalu. Changes in bone quality due to age and genetic disorders and their clinical expressions in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 80. **Toomas Sillakivi.** Perforated peptic ulcer in Estonia: epidemiology, risk factors and relations with *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 2003.
- 81. Leena Puksa. Late responses in motor nerve conduction studies. F and A waves in normal subjects and patients with neuropathies. Tartu, 2003.
- 82. Krista Lõivukene. *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric microbial ecology and its antimicrobial susceptibility pattern. Tartu, 2003.
- 83. **Helgi Kolk.** Dyspepsia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the diagnostic value of symptoms, treatment and follow-up of patients referred for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy by family physicians. Tartu, 2003.

- 84. **Helena Soomer.** Validation of identification and age estimation methods in forensic odontology. Tartu, 2003.
- 85. **Kersti Oselin.** Studies on the human MDR1, MRP1, and MRP2 ABC transporters: functional relevance of the genetic polymorphisms in the *MDR1* and *MRP1* gene. Tartu, 2003.
- 86. Jaan Soplepmann. Peptic ulcer haemorrhage in Estonia: epidemiology, prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. Tartu, 2003.
- 87. **Margot Peetsalu.** Long-term follow-up after vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: recurrent ulcer, changes in the function, morphology and *Helicobacter pylori* colonisation of the gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2003.
- 88. Kersti Klaamas. Humoral immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* a study of host-dependent and microbial factors. Tartu, 2003.
- 89. **Pille Taba.** Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease in Tartu, Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, clinical characteristics, and pharmacoepidemiology. Tartu, 2003.
- 90. Alar Veraksitš. Characterization of behavioural and biochemical phenotype of cholecystokinin-2 receptor deficient mice: changes in the function of the dopamine and endopioidergic system. Tartu, 2003.
- 91. **Ingrid Kalev.** CC-chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene polymorphism in Estonians and in patients with Type I and Type II diabetes mellitus. Tartu, 2003.
- 92. Lumme Kadaja. Molecular approach to the regulation of mitochondrial function in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2003.
- 93. Aive Liigant. Epidemiology of primary central nervous system tumours in Estonia from 1986 to 1996. Clinical characteristics, incidence, survival and prognostic factors. Tartu, 2004.
- 94. Andres, Kulla. Molecular characteristics of mesenchymal stroma in human astrocytic gliomas. Tartu, 2004.
- 95. Mari Järvelaid. Health damaging risk behaviours in adolescence. Tartu, 2004.
- 96. Ülle Pechter. Progression prevention strategies in chronic renal failure and hypertension. An experimental and clinical study. Tartu, 2004.
- 97. **Gunnar Tasa.** Polymorphic glutathione S-transferases biology and role in modifying genetic susceptibility to senile cataract and primary open angle glaucoma. Tartu, 2004.
- 98. **Tuuli Käämbre.** Intracellular energetic unit: structural and functional aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 99. Vitali Vassiljev. Influence of nitric oxide syntase inhibitors on the effects of ethanol after acute and chronic ethanol administration and withdrawal. Tartu, 2004.
- 100. Aune Rehema. Assessment of nonhaem ferrous iron and glutathione redox ratio as markers of pathogeneticity of oxidative stress in different clinical groups. Tartu, 2004.
- 101. Evelin Seppet. Interaction of mitochondria and ATPases in oxidative muscle cells in normal and pathological conditions. Tartu, 2004.

- 102. Eduard Maron. Serotonin function in panic disorder: from clinical experiments to brain imaging and genetics. Tartu, 2004.
- 103. Marje Oona. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children: epidemiological and therapeutic aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 104. **Kersti Kokk.** Regulation of active and passive molecular transport in the testis. Tartu, 2005.
- 105. **Vladimir Järv.** Cross-sectional imaging for pretreatment evaluation and follow-up of pelvic malignant tumours. Tartu, 2005.
- 106. Andre Õun. Epidemiology of adult epilepsy in Tartu, Estonia. Incidence, prevalence and medical treatment. Tartu, 2005.
- 107. **Piibe Muda.** Homocysteine and hypertension: associations between homocysteine and essential hypertension in treated and untreated hypertensive patients with and without coronary artery disease. Tartu, 2005.
- 108. **Külli Kingo.** The interleukin-10 family cytokines gene polymorphisms in plaque psoriasis. Tartu, 2005.
- 109. **Mati Merila.** Anatomy and clinical relevance of the glenohumeral joint capsule and ligaments. Tartu, 2005.
- 110. **Epp Songisepp**. Evaluation of technological and functional properties of the new probiotic *Lactobacillus fermentum* ME-3. Tartu, 2005.
- 111. **Tiia Ainla.** Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia: clinical characteristics, management and outcome. Tartu, 2005.
- 112. Andres Sell. Determining the minimum local anaesthetic requirements for hip replacement surgery under spinal anaesthesia a study employing a spinal catheter. Tartu, 2005.
- 113. **Tiia Tamme.** Epidemiology of odontogenic tumours in Estonia. Pathogenesis and clinical behaviour of ameloblastoma. Tartu, 2005.
- 114. **Triine Annus**. Allergy in Estonian schoolchildren: time trends and characteristics. Tartu, 2005.
- 115. **Tiia Voor.** Microorganisms in infancy and development of allergy: comparison of Estonian and Swedish children. Tartu, 2005.
- 116. **Priit Kasenõmm.** Indicators for tonsillectomy in adults with recurrent tonsillitis clinical, microbiological and pathomorphological investigations. Tartu, 2005.
- 117. Eva Zusinaite. Hepatitis C virus: genotype identification and interactions between viral proteases. Tartu, 2005.
- 118. **Piret Kõll.** Oral lactoflora in chronic periodontitis and periodontal health. Tartu, 2006.
- 119. **Tiina Stelmach.** Epidemiology of cerebral palsy and unfavourable neurodevelopmental outcome in child population of Tartu city and county, Estonia Prevalence, clinical features and risk factors. Tartu, 2006.
- 120. **Katrin Pudersell.** Tropane alkaloid production and riboflavine excretion in the field and tissue cultures of henbane (*Hyoscyamus niger* L.). Tartu, 2006.
- 121. **Külli Jaako.** Studies on the role of neurogenesis in brain plasticity. Tartu, 2006.

- 122. Aare Märtson. Lower limb lengthening: experimental studies of bone regeneration and long-term clinical results. Tartu, 2006.
- 123. Heli Tähepõld. Patient consultation in family medicine. Tartu, 2006.
- 124. **Stanislav Liskmann.** Peri-implant disease: pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment in view of both inflammation and oxidative stress profiling. Tartu, 2006.
- 125. **Ruth Rudissaar.** Neuropharmacology of atypical antipsychotics and an animal model of psychosis. Tartu, 2006.
- 126. **Helena Andreson.** Diversity of *Helicobacter pylori* genotypes in Estonian patients with chronic inflammatory gastric diseases. Tartu, 2006.
- 127. Katrin Pruus. Mechanism of action of antidepressants: aspects of serotoninergic system and its interaction with glutamate. Tartu, 2006.
- 128. **Priit Põder.** Clinical and experimental investigation: relationship of ischaemia/reperfusion injury with oxidative stress in abdominal aortic aneurysm repair and in extracranial brain artery endarterectomy and possibilities of protection against ischaemia using a glutathione analogue in a rat model of global brain ischaemia. Tartu, 2006.
- 129. Marika Tammaru. Patient-reported outcome measurement in rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2006.
- 130. Tiia Reimand. Down syndrome in Estonia. Tartu, 2006.
- 131. **Diva Eensoo.** Risk-taking in traffic and Markers of Risk-Taking Behaviour in Schoolchildren and Car Drivers. Tartu, 2007.
- 132. **Riina Vibo.** The third stroke registry in Tartu, Estonia from 2001 to 2003: incidence, case-fatality, risk factors and long-term outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 133. Chris Pruunsild. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 134. Eve Õiglane-Šlik. Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 135. **Kadri Haller.** Antibodies to follicle stimulating hormone. Significance in female infertility. Tartu, 2007.
- 136. Pille Ööpik. Management of depression in family medicine. Tartu, 2007.
- 137. Jaak Kals. Endothelial function and arterial stiffness in patients with atherosclerosis and in healthy subjects. Tartu, 2007.
- 138. **Priit Kampus.** Impact of inflammation, oxidative stress and age on arterial stiffness and carotid artery intima-media thickness. Tartu, 2007.
- 139. Margus Punab. Male fertility and its risk factors in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 140. Alar Toom. Heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty: clinical and pathogenetic investigation. Tartu, 2007.
- 141. Lea Pehme. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in Estonia 1991–2003 with special regard to extrapulmonary tuberculosis and delay in diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Tartu, 2007.
- 142. Juri Karjagin. The pharmacokinetics of metronidazole and meropenem in septic shock. Tartu, 2007.
- 143. **Inga Talvik.** Inflicted traumatic brain injury shaken baby syndrome in Estonia epidemiology and outcome. Tartu, 2007.

- 144. **Tarvo Rajasalu.** Autoimmune diabetes: an immunological study of type 1 diabetes in humans and in a model of experimental diabetes (in RIP-B7.1 mice). Tartu, 2007.
- 145. **Inga Karu.** Ischaemia-reperfusion injury of the heart during coronary surgery: a clinical study investigating the effect of hyperoxia. Tartu, 2007.
- 146. **Peeter Padrik.** Renal cell carcinoma: Changes in natural history and treatment of metastatic disease. Tartu, 2007.
- 147. Neve Vendt. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in infants aged 9 to 12 months in Estonia. Tartu, 2008.
- 148. Lenne-Triin Heidmets. The effects of neurotoxins on brain plasticity: focus on neural Cell Adhesion Molecule. Tartu, 2008.
- 149. **Paul Korrovits.** Asymptomatic inflammatory prostatitis: prevalence, etiological factors, diagnostic tools. Tartu, 2008.
- 150. Annika Reintam. Gastrointestinal failure in intensive care patients. Tartu, 2008.
- 151. Kristiina Roots. Cationic regulation of Na-pump in the normal, Alzheimer's and CCK₂ receptor-deficient brain. Tartu, 2008.
- 152. **Helen Puusepp.** The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia: fragile X syndrome and creatine transporter defect. Tartu, 2009.
- 153. Kristiina Rull. Human chorionic gonadotropin beta genes and recurrent miscarriage: expression and variation study. Tartu, 2009.
- 154. **Margus Eimre.** Organization of energy transfer and feedback regulation in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2009.
- 155. Maire Link. Transcription factors FoxP3 and AIRE: autoantibody associations. Tartu, 2009.
- 156. Kai Haldre. Sexual health and behaviour of young women in Estonia. Tartu, 2009.
- 157. **Kaur Liivak.** Classical form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency in Estonia: incidence, genotype and phenotype with special attention to short-term growth and 24-hour blood pressure. Tartu, 2009.
- 158. **Kersti Ehrlich.** Antioxidative glutathione analogues (UPF peptides) molecular design, structure-activity relationships and testing the protective properties. Tartu, 2009.
- 159. Anneli Rätsep. Type 2 diabetes care in family medicine. Tartu, 2009.
- 160. **Silver Türk.** Etiopathogenetic aspects of chronic prostatitis: role of mycoplasmas, coryneform bacteria and oxidative stress. Tartu, 2009.
- 161. Kaire Heilman. Risk markers for cardiovascular disease and low bone mineral density in children with type 1 diabetes. Tartu, 2009.
- 162. Kristi Rüütel. HIV-epidemic in Estonia: injecting drug use and quality of life of people living with HIV. Tartu, 2009.
- 163. **Triin Eller.** Immune markers in major depression and in antidepressive treatment. Tartu, 2009.

- 164. Siim Suutre. The role of TGF- β isoforms and osteoprogenitor cells in the pathogenesis of heterotopic ossification. An experimental and clinical study of hip arthroplasty. Tartu, 2010.
- 165. Kai Kliiman. Highly drug-resistant tuberculosis in Estonia: Risk factors and predictors of poor treatment outcome. Tartu, 2010.
- 166. **Inga Villa.** Cardiovascular health-related nutrition, physical activity and fitness in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 167. **Tõnis Org.** Molecular function of the first PHD finger domain of Autoimmune Regulator protein. Tartu, 2010.
- 168. **Tuuli Metsvaht.** Optimal antibacterial therapy of neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2010.
- 169. Jaanus Kahu. Kidney transplantation: Studies on donor risk factors and mycophenolate mofetil. Tartu, 2010.
- 170. Koit Reimand. Autoimmunity in reproductive failure: A study on associated autoantibodies and autoantigens. Tartu, 2010.
- 171. **Mart Kull.** Impact of vitamin D and hypolactasia on bone mineral density: a population based study in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 172. **Rael Laugesaar.** Stroke in children epidemiology and risk factors. Tartu, 2010.
- 173. **Mark Braschinsky.** Epidemiology and quality of life issues of hereditary spastic paraplegia in Estonia and implemention of genetic analysis in everyday neurologic practice. Tartu, 2010.
- 174. **Kadri Suija.** Major depression in family medicine: associated factors, recurrence and possible intervention. Tartu, 2010.
- 175. Jarno Habicht. Health care utilisation in Estonia: socioeconomic determinants and financial burden of out-of-pocket payments. Tartu, 2010.
- 176. **Kristi Abram.** The prevalence and risk factors of rosacea. Subjective disease perception of rosacea patients. Tartu, 2010.
- 177. **Malle Kuum.** Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum cation fluxes: Novel roles in cellular physiology. Tartu, 2010.